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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

The Directors present their Strategic report forrggm Stanley & Co. International plc (the “Company”
and all of its subsidiary undertakings (togethée“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Group is the provisiof financial services to corporations, governreeard
financial institutions.

The Company operates branches in the Dubai InienatFinancial Centre, France, the Netherlands,
Poland, the Qatar Financial Centre, South KoreaSamitzerland.

There have not been any changes in the Group’sipahactivity during the year and no significahtaage

in the Group’s principal activity is expected. Dhgithe year the Institutional Securities busindddargan
Stanley Securities Limited (“MSSL"), a Morgan StylGroup undertaking incorporated in the United
Kingdom (“UK"), was transferred to the Group, wittompletion on 31 May 2015. This transferred
business has had a positive impact on the Grouptsprofit after tax for the year. Further detaite a
provided within the business review section below.

In addition, on 1 November 2015, Morgan Stanley pleted the sale of the global oil merchanting it
its commodities division to Castleton Commoditiesetnational LLC. As part of this transaction the o
merchanting unit operated within the Group was ,smdulting in the Group recognising a $42 million
charge relating to the cost to sell the business (®te 15).

The Group’s ultimate parent undertaking and colit@lentity is Morgan Stanley, which, together wikte
Group and Morgan Stanley’s other subsidiary un#terts, form the “Morgan Stanley Group”.

The Morgan Stanley Group is a global financial smw firm that maintains significant market posisan
each of its business segments: Institutional StesriWealth Management and Investment Management.
The Morgan Stanley Group provides a wide varietypafducts and services to a large and diversified
group of clients and customers, including corporaj governments, financial institutions and indiials.

As a key contributor to the execution of the Mordatanley Group’s Institutional Securities strategy
Europe, the Middle East and Africa ("EMEA”"), the @bip provides capital raising; financial advisory
services, including advice on mergers and acqoissti restructurings, real estate and project fieanc
corporate lending; sales, trading, financing andketamaking activities in equity and fixed income
securities and related products, including foreggohange and commodities; and investment activities

REGULATION

The Company is authorised by the Prudential Reiguiaiuthority (“PRA”) and regulated by the Finarnicia
Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and the PRA. In additiothe Company is a registered swap dealer and is
regulated by the US Commaodity Futures Trading Cossian.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Global market and economic conditions

During the first half of 2015, global growth wagported by a rebound in the US and firmer growtthin
eurozone and the UK economies, partially offsetslwggishness in major emerging market economies.
During the second half of 2015, global growth sldves a result of the continued sluggishness of gimgr
market economies, declines in energy prices, aadltwdown of China’s economic growth. Global real
gross domestic product growth decelerated in 20&& f2014. Growth in emerging market economies
slowed for a fourth straight year, while growthdaveloped market economies was steady but sluggish.
Notable trends during the year included fallinganild other commaodity prices, an appreciating U$adol
weighing on global trade flows and increasing polihallenges in a number of major emerging market
economies, most notably China. The US Federal Resannounced a rate increase in December 2015
based on cumulative labour market progress andgrisonfidence in achieving its inflation target.
However, with Europe and Japan still struggling a@kina decelerating, the European Central Bank
(“ECB"), the Bank of Japan and the People’s BankCbina acted to continue their targeted monetary
policy easing measures.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Global market and economic conditions (continued)

Subsequent to 31 December 2015, the Bank of Japauaced a program of Quantitative and Qualitative
Monetary Easing (“QE”) with a negative interesterahat introduced a three tier policy rate system f
bank reserves with a low rate of negative 0.1%.i#althlly, in March 2016 the ECB announced a furthe
QE program and reduced interest rates with the siefazility rate falling from negative 0.3% to rediye
0.4% and the benchmark interest rate falling fro@b® to zero%.

Overview of 2015 Financial Results

The consolidated income statement for the yeagti®st on page 21. The Group reported a profitr ddte
for the year of $401 million, compared to a lossemftax of $713 million for the year ended
31 December 2014 as a result of increased revemeegeduced expenses.

The Group’s revenues are best reviewed across gbgee@ate of ‘Net gains on financial instruments
classified as held for trading’, ‘Net gains on ficél instruments designated at fair value thropgifit or
loss’, ‘Net gains on available-for-sale financiasats’, ‘Interest income’, ‘Interest expense’ aiher
income’ (“aggregate revenues”). Aggregate reverfoeshe year increased by 15% to $4,451 million
compared to $3,881 million in 2014.

The increase in aggregate revenues was primaiirgrby increased sales and trading revenues nthet
equities and fixed income and commaodities divisions

Equity sales and trading revenues increased dinmgyear compared to 2014 partially due to thesfiean

of the MSSL business to the Group during the fiedf of the year resulting in increased cash eegitind
prime brokerage revenues. Prime brokerage reveimt®er strengthened as a result of increased tclien
activity.

Fixed income and commodities sales and tradingnee® increased during the year compared to 2014 wit
key drivers of the increase being a charge of $8ill&n in 2014 related to the implementation ofriling
Valuation Adjustments (“FVA”) and increased oil aldd commodities revenues. Interest rate product
revenues also increased during the year due tedsed client activity and volatility, resulting fmoQE
measures announced by the ECB in January 2015hwhiproved the operating environment. These
increases were partially offset by reduced crattit securitised products revenues.

Aggregate revenues for the year exclude net day gaies of $43 million (2014: $26 million) not
recognised upon initial recognition of financialsiruments measured at fair value where valuation
techniques include unobservable market data (see32o(e)).

Other expense decreased by 18% from $4,558 miltioR014 to $3,741 million in 2015 split between
decreases in staff related costs of 27% from $2pillbn in 2014 to $1,774 million in 2015 and iom
staff related expenses of 8% from $2,144 millio2@14 to $1,967 million in 2015.

The decrease in both staff costs borne directl{hbyGroup and through management recharges froen oth
Group undertakings was driven by the impact in 2014 decrease in the average deferral rate for
discretionary incentive compensation awards andatteeleration of vesting for certain outstandinghca
based incentive compensation awards (see note 7).

The decrease in non-staff related expenses is yndint to reduced ‘management charges from other
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings related to odewices’ as a result of certain UK incorporated
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings implementing tieev UK accounting framework and due to

adjustments relating to prior periods made in 2@hith resulted in higher recharged expenses in 2014

Partially offsetting these drivers of reduced exgmein 2015 was the impact of transferring MSSL's
business to the Group in the first half of the yedrich increased the expense base of the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Overview of 2015 Financial Results (continued)

The Group incurred a tax expense of $309 millio®lé $36 million). This represents an effective itate
of 43.5%, which is higher than the average standatelof UK corporation tax of 20.25%. A key drivar
the higher effective tax rate is the impact of attjuents in respect of prior years, as shown in 8ofhese
prior year adjustments include a provision agaiestain withholding tax reclaim balances.

The Group’s total assets and liabilities decredse$54,442 million and $54,781 million respectivety
decrease of 12% and 13% respectively as at 31 OmreP015 when compared to the total assets and tota
liabilities as at 31 December 2014. The decreasetah assets and total liabilities is driven byidases in
financial assets classified as held for tradin§48,125 million and in financial liabilities clafisd as held

for trading of $41,322 million and a decrease icusities sold under agreements to repurchase &0$7,
million. The decreases in financial assets classifis held for trading and financial liabilitieassified as
held for trading were mainly due to decreases iivdtive assets and liabilities. Fixed income dative
assets and liabilities fell by $41,174 million a$d2,778 million respectively with the biggest dese
being with respect to interest rate contracts, Wwhiell mainly due to interest rate movements and
efficiencies in the management of intercompanyizda (see note 12).

The consolidated statement of cash flows presestiiguhge 25 shows a net increase in cash of $9®mill
during the year (2014: net decrease of $491 mijlliblet cash inflows from operating activities w&246
million (2014: $1,578 million net cash outflow),feét by net cash outflows from financing activitiefs
$149 million (2014: $1,074 million net cash inflaw)

Key performance indicators

The Board of directors monitors the results of @reup by reference to a range of performance asid ri
based metrics, including, but not limited to, thidwing:

Profitability metrics

Operating margin:The Group’s operating margin (defined as net prédids before tax as a percentage of
aggregate revenues) was 16.0% (2014: negative }7.4%

Return on equityThe Group’s return on equity (profit/ loss for thear as a percentage of total equity at
the beginning of the year) was 2.5% (2014: negati@&b)

Return on asset§he Group’s return on assets (profit/ loss forybar as a percentage of total assets at the
beginning of the year) was 0.1% (2014: negativéd).2

Balance sheet assets

Total assetsTotal assets of the Group continue to be closelyitoced. The Group’s total assets, as
disclosed on page 24, decreased by 12% to $3%drbilt 31 December 2015.

Capital

The Group monitors its, and the Company’s capitaifpn against a range of key metrics including th
following:

Tier 1 regulatory capitalThe Company’s Tier 1 capital as calculated inoadance with PRA rules which
are based on the fourth European Union (“EU”) GapRequirements Directive and EU Capital
Requirements Regulation (“CRR"), collectively knoas “CRD IV”, was $15,255 million (2014: $14,795
million) and its Tier 1 capital ratio was 15.5% {20 11.3%), which is in excess of the required mimin
regulatory ratio. Tier 1 capital ratio is definasl Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted ass&RNAS").



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Key performance indicators (continued)
Capital (continued)

Leverage ratio CRD IV, as amended by the European Commissiored2ééd Act, introduced a new
minimum leverage ratio, which compares Tier 1 @pib a measure of leverage exposure. Leverage
exposure is defined as the sum of adjusted asss$sTier 1 capital deductions plus off-balance tshee
exposures. The minimum leverage ratio becomestaféefor the Company on 1 January 2018, although
public disclosure requirements are effective faorting periods from 1 January 2015. As at 31 Dy
2015, the Company had a leverage ratio of 4.35%¢hwik above the proposed required regulatory maitio
3%.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is an inherent part of the Group’s busineswiac The Group seeks to identify, assess, maratad
manage each of the various types of risk involvedts business activities, in accordance with dafin
policies and procedures. The Group has develogedvin risk management policy framework, which
leverages the risk management policies and proesdafrthe Morgan Stanley Group, and which include
escalation to the Group’s Board of directors andgpropriate senior management personnel of thepsro
as well as oversight through the Group’s Board iodaors and through a dedicated Risk Committee of
non-executive directors that reports to the Bodrd/organ Stanley International Limited (“MSI”), the
Company’s ultimate UK parent undertaking.

Note 28 to the consolidated financial statementvides more detailed qualitative and quantitative
disclosures about the Group’s management of andsexp to financial risks.

Set out below is an overview of the Group’s pokcier the management of financial risk and other
significant business risks.

Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of losses for a fiosior portfolio due to changes in rates, foregchange,
equities, implied volatilities, correlations or ettmarket factors.

The Group manages the market risk associated tsittnaiding activities at both a trading divisiordaam
individual product level, and includes considenatid market risk at the legal entity level.

The average VaR for the Primary Risk Categorie2fift5 was $22 million compared to $17 million for
2014, with the increase being mainly due to incedasxposure to interest rates along with equitgepri
risk. The average Credit Portfolio VaR for 2015 \&smillion, unchanged compared to 2014. The awerag
total Management VaR for 2015 was $23 million, caneg to $19 million for 2014.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising wharborrower, counterparty or issuer does not niset i
financial obligations to the Group. Credit riskclides country risk, which is further describedolel The
Group primarily incurs credit risk exposure to ingtons and sophisticated investors.

The Group leverages the credit risk managementipsliand procedures of the Morgan Stanley Group to
establish the framework for ensuring transparentynaterial credit risks, ensuring compliance with
established limits and escalation of risk concéiutng to appropriate senior management.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued)
Country risk exposure

Country risk exposure is the risk that events maifecting, a foreign country might adversely afféhe
Group. “Foreign country” means any country otheant the UK. Sovereign Risk, by contrast, is th& ris
that a government will be unwilling or unable to ehéts debt obligations, or renege on the debt it
guarantees. Sovereign risk is single-name riskaf@overeign government, its agencies and guaranteed
entities.

Country risk exposure is measured in accordande twé& Group’s internal risk management standards an
includes obligations from sovereign governmentsparations, clearing houses and financial instiusi
The Group actively manages country risk exposurautih a comprehensive risk management framework
that combines credit and market fundamentals alodvelthe Group to effectively identify, monitor and
limit country risk. Country risk exposure beforedaafter hedges is monitored and managed.

The Group’s obligor credit evaluation process miag éentify indirect exposures whereby an obligas

vulnerability or exposure to another country oiigdiction. Examples of indirect exposures includgunal

funds that invest in a single country, offshore pamies whose assets reside in another countryatoofth
the offshore jurisdiction and finance company sdiasies of corporations. Indirect exposures ideri

through the credit evaluation process may resuatrieclassification of country risk.

The Group conducts periodic stress testing thakssée measure the impact of the Group’s credit and
market exposures of shocks stemming from negato@namic or political scenarios. When deemed
appropriate by the Group’s risk managers, the sttest scenarios include possible contagion effects
Second order risks such as the impact for core faao banks of their exposures in the Peripheral
European countries (Greece, Ireland, Italy, Poitagd Spain) may also be considered. The Group als
conducts legal and documentation analysis of ip@sdres to obligors in Peripheral jurisdictionsdentify

the risk that such exposures could be redenominatechew currencies or subject to capital contiolthe
case of a country exit from the Eurozone. Thidysmis and the results of the stress tests, maytriesthe
amendment of limits or exposure mitigation.

The Group’s sovereign exposures consist of findringtruments entered into with sovereign and local
governments. Its non-sovereign exposures consisixposures to primarily corporations and financial
institutions. The table below shows the Groupi® flargest non-UK country net exposures. Exposure
other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings has beelu@sed from this table.

Each reference entity within an index is allocatethat reference entity’s country of risk. Indesgposures
are allocated to the underlying reference entitiegroportion to the notional weighting of eachereince
entity in the index, adjusted for any fair valueaiwable/payable for that reference entity. Whenedit

risk crosses multiple jurisdictions, for examplegradit default swap (“CDS”) purchased from an é&sin

a specific country that references bonds issueanbgntity in a different country, the fair valuethé CDS
is reflected in the Net counterparty exposure colirased on the country of the CDS issuer. Further,
notional amount of the CDS, adjusted for the failue of the receivable/ payable, is reflected m et

inventory column, based on the country of the ulyitey reference entity.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued)

Country risk exposure (continued)

Five largest non-UK country risk net exposures:

Net Exposure Net
Net counterparty  Funded Unfunded before exposure
inventory®  exposuré? lending commitments  hedges Hedge$® @
Country $millions $millions  $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions
Italy
Sovereigns 1,937 (29) - - 1,918 (87) 1,831
Non-sovereigns 42 638 - 434 1,114 (113) 1,001
Total Italy 1,979 619 - 434 3,032 (200) 2,832
United States
Sovereigns (551) 134 - - (417) - (417)
Non-sovereigns 935 1,562 25 - 2,522 (11) 2,511
Total United States 384 1,696 25 - 2,105 (11) 2,094
The People's Republic of
China
Sovereigns 480 133 - - 613 - 613
Non-sovereigns 554 261 - - 815 - 815
Total The People's
Republic of China 1,034 394 - - 1,428 - 1,428
France
Sovereigns (655) - - - (655) - (655)
Non-sovereigns (217) 1,514 - 1,215 2,512 (908) 1,604
Total France (872) 1,514 - 1,215 1,857 (908) 949
United Arab Emirates
Sovereigns 8 664 - - 672 (5) 667
Non-sovereigns (56) 149 - - 93 (10) 83
Total United Arab
Emirates (48) 813 - - 765 (15) 750

(1) Net inventory represents exposure to both longsimmit single-name and index positions (i.e. bomdkeguities at fair value
and CDS based on notional amount assuming zerovepcadjusted for any fair value receivable or figp As a market
maker, the Group transacts in these CDS positmfectlitate client trading.

(2) Net counterparty exposure (i.e. repurchase traiosactsecurities lending and over-the-counter (“OT@erivatives) taking
into consideration legally enforceable master ngttigreements and collateral.

(3) Represents CDS hedges (purchased and sold) orouetegparty exposure and funded lending executetrasiing desks
responsible for hedging counterparty and lendirglicrisk exposures for the Group. Amounts are dasethe CDS notional
amount assuming zero recovery adjusted for anyé&ire receivable or payable.

(4) In addition, as at 31 December 2015, the Group éwgubsure to these countries for overnight depasite banks of
approximately $302 million.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity and funding risk refers to the risk titae Group will be unable to finance its operatidng to a
loss of access to the capital markets or difficiftyiquidating its assets. Liquidity and fundinigk also
encompasses the Group’s ability to meet its firmabligations without experiencing significant mess
disruption or reputational damage that may threageviability as a going concern.

The primary goal of the Group’s liquidity and fundirisk management framework is to ensure that the
Group has access to adequate funding across aavide of market conditions. The framework is design

to enable the Group, to fulfil its financial obligans and support the execution of its businessegiies.
The Group’s key components of liquidity and fundirgk management include its Required Liquidity
Framework, Liquidity Stress Testing and Liquiditg$erve, which are further described in note 28.

The Group continues to actively manage its capital liquidity position to ensure adequate resouaces
available to support its activities, to enableoitwithstand market stresses, and to meet regulatoegs
testing requirements proposed by its regulatorailp. The Group’s capital and liquidity is deemed
sufficient to exceed regulatory minimums under btiormal and in a stressed market environmerthéor
foreseeable future. Additionally, the Group haseascto further Morgan Stanley Group capital and
liquidity as required.

Secured funding

A substantial portion of the Group’s total assatasists of liquid marketable securities and shennt
receivables arising principally from its sales amading activities. The liquid nature of these &sse
provides the Group with flexibility in funding thesssets with secured financing. The Group’s go& i
achieve an optimal mix of durable secured and wmsec financing. Secured financing investors
principally focus on the quality of the eligiblelateral posted. Accordingly, the Group activelymages
its secured financing book based on the qualityhefassets being funded.

The Group utilises shorter-term secured financinly dor highly liquid assets and has establishetyér
tenor limits for less liquid asset classes, for abhfunding may be at risk in the event of a market
disruption. The Group defines highly liquid assets government-issued or government-guaranteed
securities with a high degree of fundability anskléiquid assets as those that do not meet thi#ésaarAt

31 December 2015, the weighted average maturitgeofCompany’s secured financing of less liquid &sse
was greater than 120 days. To further minimiseréfmancing risk of secured financing for less ldju
assets, the Group has established concentratidts liondiversify its investor base and reduce thant

of monthly maturities for secured financing of ld&piid assets. Furthermore, the Group obtains term
secured funding liabilities in excess of less lifjumventory or “spare capacity”, as an additionakr
mitigant to replace maturing trades in the eveat fecured financing markets or its ability to asctem
become limited. As a component of the LiquiditglRManagement Framework, the Group holds a portion
of its Liquidity Reserve against the potential digion to its secured financing capabilities.

The table below presents the Group’s secured fgndpiit between short term secured funding (with a
maturity of less than one year remaining from 3lcédeber) and long term secured funding (with a
maturity of more than one year remaining from 31lc@&mber) consisting of securities sold under
agreements to repurchase and cash collateral ontges loaned.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity and funding risk (continued)
Secured funding (continued)

2015 2014
$millions  $millions
Short term secured funding:

Cash collateral on securities loaned 14,875 17,499
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 584,5 42,844
Total short term secured funding 49,433 60,343
Long term secured funding:

Cash collateral on securities loaned 1,393 -
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 33,45 3,067
Total long term secured funding 4,846 3,067
Total secured funding 54,279 63,410

Credit ratings

The Company relies on external sources to finansigificant portion of its day-to-day operationghe
cost and availability of financing generally arepimated by, among other variables, the Companygitcre
ratings. In addition, the Company’s credit ratinggn have an impact on certain trading revenues,
particularly in those businesses where longer-smmterparty performance is a key consideratioch s$
OTC derivative transactions, including credit datives and interest rate swaps. Ratings agenciesder
company-specific factors; other industry factorschsuas regulatory or legislative changes; the
macroeconomic environment; and perceived levetpuérnment support, among other things.

Some rating agencies have stated that they cwriextbrporate various degrees of credit ratingftfiom
non-governmental third party sources of potentigiport.

At 31 December 2015, the Company’s senior unseaatétys were as follows:

Short- Term  Long- Term Rating

Debt Debt Outlook

Moody's Investors Service, Inc ("Moody'§") P-1 Al Stable
Standard & Poor's Rating Service ("S&P") A-1 A Credit Watch Positive

(1) On 28 May 2015, Moody's upgraded the Idagn rating of the Company by two notches to AhfrA3 and revised the ratii
outlook to Stable.

(2) On 2 November 2015 S&P revised the Companyiegautlook to Credit Watch Positive from Positive

Collateral impact of a downgrade

In connection with certain OTC trading agreememtd eertain other agreements where the Company is a
liquidity provider to certain financing vehicleshet Company may be required to provide additional
collateral or immediately settle any outstandirapility balances with certain counterparties ordgke
additional collateral to certain exchanges andritigaorganisations in the event of a future credttng
downgrade irrespective of whether the Company &iiret asset or net liability position.

The additional collateral or termination paymeriattmay be called in the event of a future creatiing
downgrade vary by contract and can be based amggahiy either or both of Moody's and S&P. As at 31
December 2015, the future potential collateral am®@nd termination payments that could be called o
required by counterparties or exchanges and clgarganisations, in the event of one-notch or twitzh
downgrade scenarios, from the lowest of Moody'sS&P ratings, based on the relevant contractual
downgrade triggers, were $507 million and an inaetal $647 million, respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity and funding risk (continued)
Collateral impact of a downgrade (continued)

While certain aspects of a credit rating downgracke quantifiable pursuant to contractual provisiadhe
impact it would have on the Company’s business raisdlts of operations in future periods is inhdgent
uncertain and would depend on a number of intedeéléactors, including, among others, the magnitfde
the downgrade, the rating relative to peers, thimgaassigned by the relevant agency pre-downgrade,
individual client behaviour and future mitigatingti@ans the Company might take. The liquidity impatt
additional collateral requirements is includedhia Group’s Liquidity Stress Tests.

Operational risk

Operational risk refers to the risk of loss, odamage to the Group’s reputation, resulting froedeguate

or failed processes, people and systems or froermaedtevents (e.g. fraud, theft, legal and compkarisks

or damage to physical assets). Operational riskeelto the following risk event categories asreefiby
Basel Capital Standards: internal fraud; exterreald; employment practices and workplace safeigyntd,
products and business practices; business disrupiiol system failure; damage to physical asset; an
execution, delivery and process management. Thagaray incur operational risk across the full scope
its business activities, including revenue-genagatactivities (e.g. sales and trading) and suppord
control groups (e.g., information technology aratl&r processing). Legal and compliance risk is disedi
below under “Legal, regulatory and compliance risk”

The Group has established an operational risk fweorie to identify measure, monitor and control risk
across the Group. This framework is consistent i framework established by the Morgan Stanley
Group and includes escalation to the Group’s Baardlirectors and appropriate senior management
personnel. Effective operational risk managemergsisential to reducing the impact of operationsk ri
incidents and mitigating legal and reputationatsisThe framework is continually evolving to accofor
changes in the Group and to respond to the chamgingatory and business environment. The Group has
implemented operational risk data and assessmetemyg to monitor and analyse internal and external
operational risk events, to assess business em@oinand internal control factors and to perforenseio
analysis. The collected data elements are incorparin the operational risk capital model. The niode
encompasses both quantitative and qualitative elessniternal loss data and scenario analysisteaud
direct inputs to the capital model, while exteropkrational incidents, business environment aretriat
control factors are evaluated as part of the séemaalysis process.

In addition, the Group employs a variety of risloggsses and mitigants to manage its operatioral ris
exposures. These include a strong governance frarkew comprehensive risk management program and
insurance. Operational risks and associated riggo®xes are assessed relative to the risk tolerance
established by the Board and are prioritised adgoeglyl The breadth and range of operational rigksarch

that the types of mitigating activities are wideigang. Examples of activities include enhancingedeés
against cyberattacks; use of legal agreements amdracts to transfer and/or limit operational risk
exposures; due diligence; implementation of enhdrmualicies and procedures; exception management
processing controls; and segregation of duties.

Primary responsibility for the management of ogeratl risk is with the business segments, the cbntr
groups and the business managers therein. Thedsssinanagers maintain processes and controls ddsign
to identify, assess, manage, mitigate and repoetatpnal risk. Each of the business segments has a
designated operational risk coordinator. The oparat risk coordinator regularly reviews operatibriak
issues and reports to the Group’s senior managewitlnin each business. Each control group alsoahas
designated operational risk coordinator and a fofem discussing operational risk matters with the
Group’s senior management. Oversight of operatiosélis provided by the Operational Risk Oversight
Committee, regional risk committees and senior rganeent. In the event of a merger; joint venture;
divestiture; reorganisation; or creation of a neagal entity, a new product or a business activity,
operational risks are considered, and any necesbarnges in processes or controls are implemented.

The Operational Risk Department is independenhefliusiness divisions and reports to the Chief Risk
Officer. The Operational Risk Department providegersight of operational risk management and
independently assesses, measures and monitorgiopakaisk. The Operational Risk Department works

9
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Operational risk (continued)

with the business divisions and control groupsetptensure a transparent, consistent and compiighens

framework for managing operational risk within eafea and across the Group. The Operational Risk
Department scope includes oversight of technologg data risks (e.g. cybersecurity) and a supplier
management (vendor risk oversight and assessmenfrgm. Furthermore, the Operational Risk

Department supports the collection and reportingopérational risk incidents and the execution of

operational risk assessments; provides the infretstre needed for risk measurement and risk
management; and ensures ongoing validation andioaion of the Group’s advanced measurement
approach for operational risk capital.

Business Continuity Management is responsible flamiifying key risks and threats to the Group’s
resiliency and planning to ensure that a recovérgtegy and required resources are in place for the
resumption of critical business functions followirg disaster or other business interruption. Disaste
recovery plans are in place for critical facilitisd resources on a Group-wide basis, and reduiedaaie
built into the systems as deemed appropriate. Hyedomponents of the Group’s Business Continuity
Management Program include: crisis managementnbssirecovery plans; applications/data recovery;
work area recovery; and other elements addressampgement, analysis, training and testing.

The Group maintains an information security progrdnat coordinates the management of information
security risks and is designed to address regylagmuirements. Information security policies aesigned

to protect the Group’s information assets agaimstuthorised disclosure, modification or misuse. sehe
policies cover a broad range of areas, includingplieation entitlements, data protection, incident
response, internet and electronic communicati@mpte access and portable devices. The Group $@as al
established policies, procedures and technologiesprotect its computers and other assets from
unauthorised access.

In connection with its ongoing operations, the Gradilises the services of external vendors, wtiich
anticipates will continue and may increase in theire. These services include, for example, outsslr
processing and support functions and consulting @hdr professional services. The Group manages its
exposures to these services through a variety adinmesuch as the performance of due diligence,
consideration of operational risk, implementatidnservice level and other contractual agreememtd, a
ongoing monitoring of the vendors’ performance. TBeoup maintains a supplier risk management
program with policies, procedures, organisationyegpance and supporting technology that satisfies
regulatory requirements. The program is designeentsure that adequate risk management controls over
the services exist, including, but not limited tdormation security, operational failure, financghbility,
disaster recoverability, reputational risk, safegesagainst corruption and termination.

Conduct risk

Conduct risk refers to the risk that the Group’saas or behaviours do not adequately consideimtipact

on its clients, expected market users or the mark&induct risk is managed within the frameworkosgt
by the MSI Group and is managed and owned acrosgédss and control functions through policies,
processes and controls within a designed framework.

Legal, regulatory and compliance risk

Legal, regulatory and compliance risk includesrisk of legal or regulatory sanctions, materiabficial
loss; including fines, penalties, judgements, damagnd/ or settlements or loss to reputation the
Group may suffer as a result of a failure to compith laws, regulations, rules, related self-regoiy
organisation standards and codes of conduct apfgida our business activities. This risk alsdudes
contractual and commercial risk, such as the iigit & counterparty’s performance obligations wél b
unenforceable. It also includes compliance withiMoney Laundering and terrorist financing rulesla
regulations. The Group is generally subject teersive regulation in the different jurisdictionsvihich it
conducts its business.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Legal, regulatory and compliance risk (continued)

The Group, principally through the Morgan Stanleyo@’'s Legal and Compliance Division, has
established procedures based on legal and regulaquirements on a worldwide basis that are design
to facilitate compliance with applicable statutcapd regulatory requirements and to require that the
Group’s policies relating to business conduct,astlaind practices are followed globally.

In addition, the Group has established procedwesitigate the risk that a counterparty’s perforg®n
obligations will be unenforceable, including comsition of counterparty legal authority and capacit
adequacy of legal documentation, the permissibiitya transaction under applicable law and whether
applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws limit dtea contractual remedies. The heightened legdl an
regulatory focus on the financial services indugimsents a continuing business challenge for tioei

Culture, values and conduct of employees

All employees of the Morgan Stanley Group are antahie for conducting themselves in accordance with
the Morgan Stanley Group’s core valuBstting Clients First, Doing the Right Thing, Leadiwith
Exceptional Ideas, and Giving BacK.he Morgan Stanley Group is committed to esthbig a strong
culture anchored in these core values, and in dgegance framework, which includes management
oversight, effective risk management and contrdigining and development programs, policies,
procedures, and defined roles and responsibilitielse Morgan Stanley Group’s Code of Conduct (the
“Code”) establishes standards for employee conthat further reinforce the Morgan Stanley Group’s
commitment to integrity and ethical conduct. Evaew hire and every employee annually must attest t
their understanding of and adherence to the Cdde annual employee performance appraisal process
includes an evaluation of adherence to the Coddla#lorgan Stanley Group’s core values. The Globa
Incentive Compensation Discretion Policy sets fetdmndards that specifically provide that managaust
consider whether their employees effectively madaged/or supervised risk control practices durimg t
performance year. The Morgan Stanley Group alsoske&eral mutually reinforcing processes to idgntif
employee conduct that may have an impact on empayistatus, current year compensation and/or prior
year compensation. The Morgan Stanley Group’s la¢ek and cancellation provisions permit recovery of
deferred incentive compensation where an employaetsor omission (including with respect to direct
supervisory responsibilities) causes a restateroktite Morgan Stanley Group’s consolidated finahcia
results, constitutes a violation of the Morgan &wrGroup’s global risk management principles, gieb

and standards, or causes a loss of revenues dsslogi¢h a position on which the employee was fzaid

the employee operated outside of internal contotities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group views capital as an important sourcenaiicial strength. It actively manages and monitsrs
capital in line with established policies and pahees and in compliance with local regulatory
requirements.

The Group, in line with Morgan Stanley Group’s ¢apmanagement policies, manages its capital jpositi
based upon among other things, business oppodsiniisk appetite, capital availability and ratésedurn
together with internal capital policies, regulatoeguirements and rating agency guidelines andefiies,

in the future may expand or contract its capitalebto address the changing needs of its busineBises.
appropriate level of capital is determined at alemtity level to safeguard that entity’s abilitycontinue
as a going concern and ensure that it meets allatgy capital requirements. The key componenthef
capital management framework used by the Groupsateout in the Capital Management Policy and
include a point in time capital assessment, forvaoting capital projections and stress testing.

MSI and all of its subsidiary undertakings (togetlithe MSI Group”) prepare an Internal Capital
Adequacy Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) documentridento meet obligations under CRD IV and the
requirements of the PRA. The Group forms part efMSI Group.

The ICAAP is one of the key tools used to inforra MSI Group’s capital adequacy assessment, planning
and management. The MSI Group ICAAP:

11



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

* Ensures the risks the MSI Group is exposed to ppeopriately capitalised and risk managed,
including those risks that are either not captucedot fully captured under Pillar 1;

e Uses stress testing to size a capital buffer aiatednsuring the MSI Group will continue to
operate above regulatory requirements under a raingevere but plausible stress scenarios; and

e Assesses capital adequacy under normal and stregsadting environments over the 3 year
capital planning horizon to ensure the MSI Groupntaéns a capital position in line with internal
operating targets and above post stress minimueatdev

The key elements of the ICAAP are embedded in ti& @roup’s day-to-day management processes and
decision making culture.

The PRA reviews the ICAAP document through its Suisery Review Process and issues an Individual
Capital Guidance which sets the minimum level gutatory capital for the MSI Group and the Company.
In addition, the PRA sets a capital planning buffdrich is available to support the MSI Group in a
stressed market environment.

The capital managed by the Group broadly includeses capital, Additional Tier 1 capital instruments
subordinated debt and reserves (see note 34)rdér tb maintain or adjust its capital structures Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid, returritahp its shareholder, issue new shares, issuepay
subordinated debt or sell assets to reduce delet.Gdmpany’s capital as measured in accordance with
CRD IV rules is shown below.

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Capital resources

The Group continues to actively manage its capital liquidity position to ensure adequate resouaces
available to support its activities, to enableoitwithstand market stresses, and to meet regulatoegs
testing requirements proposed by its regulatorbailp.

The Company is regulated by the FCA and the PRA asdsuch is subject to minimum capital
requirements. The Company’s capital is monitoredanrongoing basis to ensure compliance with these
requirements. At a minimum, the Company must enghae Capital Resources described in accordance
with CRR as Own Funds, are greater than the CaRiaburce Requirement covering credit, market and
operational risk.

The Company complied with all of its regulatory itabrequirements during the year.

The table below sets out the Company’s Capital Ress as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014:

2015 2014
$millions  $millions

Capital instruments and the related share premzgoumnts eligible as Common

Equity Tier 1 capital (“CET 1") 11,978 11,977
Retained earnings 1,871 1,518
Accumulated other comprehensive income and otlsarves 1,286 1,322
CET 1 capital before regulatory adjustméhts 15,135 14,817
Total regulatory adjustments to CET 1 (1,180) (1,322)
CET1 capital 13,955 13,495
Additional Tier 1 capitaf’ 1,300 1,300
Tier 1 capital 15,255 14,795
Tier 2 capital instruments (long-term subordindtehs) 7,906 7,906
Own Funds 23,161 22,701
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS (CONTINUED)
Capital resources (continued)

Movement in Own Funds of the Company was as follows

2015

$millions

Own Funds at 1 January 2015 22,701
Change in Tier 1 capital:

CET 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 318

Regulatory adjustments to CET 1 142

Own Funds at 31 December 2015 23,161

(1) The sum of CET 1 capital before regulatory atipents, Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 cab#grees to the Company's
managed capital as shown in note 28 of the Compdimancial statements, with the exception of $4Bian of retained earnings
which were not eligible as CET 1 capital as at &&nber 2015.

Basel Liquidity Framework

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (thes@®aCommittee”) has developed two standards
intended for use in liquidity risk supervision: thejuidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR”) and the Net Stabl
Funding Ratio (“NSFR").

Liquidity Coverage Ratio:The LCR was developed to ensure banking orgaoisahave sufficient high
quality liquid assets to cover net cash outflowsimag from significant stress over 30 calendar dayse
standard’s objective is to promote the short-teesilience of the liquidity risk profile of banking
organisations. The Group was required to comply WiCR minimum standards from 1 October 2015.
The Group is compliant with the minimum requiredR.Gased on current interpretation. These minimum
standards are increasing each year until 2018.Groep continues to evaluate the impact on its tgyi
and funding requirements.

Net Stable Funding RatioThe objective of the NSFR is to reduce funding oskr a one year horizon by
requiring banking organisations to fund their aitig with sufficiently stable sources of fundingarder

to mitigate the risk of future funding stress. utober 2014, the Basel Committee finalised rewmsito
the NSFR, which is expected to become effectivd danuary 2018. The Group continues to evaluate th
NSFR and its potential impact on the Group’s curhguidity and funding requirements.

Recovery and resolution planning

Both the Morgan Stanley Group and the MSI Groupylith the Company is a part, prepare, on an annual
basis, a recovery plan which identifies mitigationls available to both groups in times of sevéness.

The Morgan Stanley Group has developed a resolplamin accordance with the requirements of Sactio
165(d) of Title | of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Bah and Consumer Protection Act and its implementin
regulations adopted by the Federal Reserve Boaddttzen Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The
resolution plan presents the Firm’s strategy faohation of the Firm upon material financial distseor
failure in a severely adverse macroeconomic enwiiemt. The Company is a Material Operating Entity of
the Morgan Stanley Group and is within the scopéhefsingle point of entry resolution strategy addp

by the Morgan Stanley Group.

The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (“BRRhas established a recovery and resolution
framework for EU credit institutions and investménins. The MSI Group produces information reqgdire
by the UK Resolution Authority in the form of a odgtion pack and ad hoc regulatory submissions, as
necessary under BRRD and UK regulatory requirements
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

STRATEGIC REPORT

GOING CONCERN

Business risks associated with the uncertain makdteconomic conditions are being actively moeitor
and managed by the Group. Retaining sufficientidify and capital to withstand these market pressu
remains central to the Group’s strategy. In paldic the Group’s capital and liquidity is deemedfisient

to exceed regulatory minimums under both a nornmal @ a stressed market environment for the
foreseeable future. Additionally, the Group hasesscto further Morgan Stanley Group capital and
liquidity as required.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, Bieectors believe it is reasonable to assumetti@Group
will have access to adequate resources to confimwgperational existence for the foreseeable future
Accordingly they continue to adopt the going concbkasis in preparing the annual reports and firgnci
statements.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

/, A

[
C Castello
Director
21 April 2016

14



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report and consoliddiedncial statements of Morgan Stanley & Co.
International plc (the “Company”) and all of itsbsidiary undertakings (together “the Group”), which
comprise the consolidated income statement, cafegeli statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, catetedd statement of financial position, consolidate
statement of cash flows and the related notes B7otogether with the Company’s statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes inyeat#tement of financial position and related adte
to 31 and the appendix to the financial statemfamtthe year ended 31 December 2015.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year, after tax, was $40illion (2014: $713 million loss after tax).

On 22 January 2015, the Directors approved a coppgment on the Additional tier 1 capital instrursen
of $15 million (see note 24). No other dividendgevproposed or paid during the year ended 31 Deeemb
2015.

During 2014, a dividend of $88 million was paid the Class D1 preference shares although this didide
was declared, and therefore accrued, as at 31 Dere?13.

REGULATION, RISK MANAGEMENT, BRANCHES AND FUTURE DE VELOPMENTS

Information regarding regulation, risk managembranches and future developments has been incinded
the Strategic report.

PILLAR 3 DISCLOSURES AND COUNTRY-BY-COUNTRY REPORTI NG

The Company is included in the MSI Group Pillari8ctbsures which allow investors and other market
participants to understand capital adequacy, pdaticrisk exposures and risk management processes o
individual firms required by the EU implementatiohBasel capital standards.

The Company is also included in the MSI consolidatisclosure in order to comply with the provisiaris
Statutory Instrument 2013 No0.3118 Capital RequimeigCountry-by-Country Reporting) Regulations
2013, which implements in the UK the requiremerds aut in Article 89 of the Capital Requirements
Directive (Directive 2013/36/EU).

The Pillar 3 disclosures and the Country-by-CoutRgporting for the MSI Group for the year ended 31

December 2015 will be made available on the MorgaStanley website at
www.morganstanley.com/investorrelations.
DIRECTORS

The following Directors held office throughout tiiear and to the date of approval of this reportégx
where otherwise shown):

D O Cannon

C Castello (appointed 21 January 2015)
T Duhon (appointed 14 April 2016)
Sir E J W Gieve (resigned 31 October 2015)
L Guy

T C Kelleher (resigned 5 February 2016)
M C Phibbs

| Plenderleith (Chairman)

R P Rooney

D A Russell

C E Woodman (resigned 5 February 2016)

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance is @k out by Morgan Stanley, for the benefit of theebiors
and Officers of the Group.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions (as oefd in section 234 of the Companies Act 2006) viere
force during the year and up to and including tla¢edof the Directors’ report for the benefit of the
Directors of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

MSI, the Company’s ultimate UK parent undertakihgs an Audit Committee which assists the Boards of
MSI, the Company, other MSI regulated subsidiargiartekings and certain other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings in meeting their responsibilities ims@ing an effective system of internal control and

compliance, and in meeting their external financigborting obligations. The Audit Committee meets

regularly and reports to the MSI Board on at |@agtiarterly basis.

EMPLOYEES

Both the Group and the Morgan Stanley Group plagesiderable value on the investment in their
employees and have continued their practice of ikgepmployees informed on matters affecting them.
Employees are encouraged to present their suggestitd views on Morgan Stanley Group’s performance
to management and employees participate directthaensuccess of the business through Morgan Stanley
Group’s various compensation incentive plans.

Every effort is also made to ensure that disabfgalieants, or those existing employees who arebibsh

or may have become disabled, are treated fairlfeoms comparable with those of other employees.
Appropriate training is arranged for disabled passoincluding retraining for alternative work for
employees who become disabled, to promote thedrecatevelopment within the organisation.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION

The Group employs staff directly, in addition tdlising staff employed by other Morgan Stanley Qyou
undertakings. The Group’s policies are comparabteansistent with those of the Morgan Stanley @rou
which include the deferral of significant portioo§ certain key employees’ discretionary compensatio
Notes 7 and 35 to the consolidated financial statémprovides additional information and disclosure
regarding the Group’s compensation policies.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year the Group made donations to varahasities totalling $3.6 million (2014: $2.1 mih),
of which $1.8 million was donated to the Morganrfig International Foundation (2014: $1.5 million).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

AUDITOR

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness tatowie in office as auditor of the Group and a hetson
to re-appoint them will be proposed at the forthamrannual general meeting.

Statement as to disclosure of information to the alitor

Each of the persons who are Directors of the Comparhe date when this report is approved confirms
that:

(a) so far as each of the Directors is aware, themoiselevant audit information (being information
needed by the Group’s auditor in connection witkparring their report) of which the Group's auditor
is unaware; and

(b) each of the Directors has taken all the stepstib&the ought to have taken as a Director to make
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit infotiora and to establish that the Group’s auditor is
aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpdateaccordance with the provisions of section dfi.the
Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

22
C Castello
Director

21 April 2016
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing theuahneport and the financial statements in accarelan
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare fir@rstatements for each financial year. Under kat
the Directors have prepared the financial statesnenticcordance with International Financial Repgrt
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU and Articlef the International Accounting Standards (“IAS”
Regulation and have elected to prepare the pacenpany financial statements in accordance with edhit
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (gaiKingdom Accounting Standards and applicable
law), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framévq“FRS 101"). Under Company law the
Directors must not approve the accounts unless @hesatisfied that they give a true and fair vadvthe
state of affairs of the Group and of the profitass of the Group for that period.

In preparing the Group financial statements, the®ors are required by IAS Presentation of financial
statementg“IAS 1”) to:

(a) properly select and apply accounting policies;

(b) present information, including accounting policiés, a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

(c) provide additional disclosures when compliance ligh specific requirements in IFRSs is insufficient
to enable users to understand the impact of péatictansactions, other events and conditions en th
entity’s financial position and financial perforntan and

(d) make an assessment of the Group’s ability to caatas a going concern.

In preparing these financial statements, the Dirscare required to:

select suitable accounting policies and thenyafiidm consistently;

make judgements and accounting estimates thaeasenable and prudent;

state whether applicable UK accounting standaed® been followed; and

prepare the financial statements on the going@anbasis unless it is inappropriate to presurat th
the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adegaat®unting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group’s transactions and disclose vattsonable accuracy at any time the financial jposdf

the Group and enable them to ensure that the fiabsimtements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are also responsible for safeguarding thess$¢he Group and hence for taking reasonabjes St

the prevention and detection of fraud and othegitarities.

The Directors, the names of whom are set out or d&gof the Directors’ report, confirm to the beét
their knowledge:

* in accordance with rule 4.1.12(3)(a) of the FCAisdlbsure and Transparency Rules, the consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with IFRSs as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and as endorsgdhe EU, have been prepared in accordance
with the applicable set of accounting standards gine a true and fair view of the assets, liatafiti
financial position and profit or loss of the Groapd the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole; and

¢ the management report represented by the Strategart has been prepared in accordance with rule
4.1.12(3)(b) of the FCA's Disclosure and TranspayeRules, and includes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business angdbk#ion of the Group and the undertakings
included in the consolidation taken as a wholeetogr with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that the Group faces.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

C Castello

Director

21 April 2016
18



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MORG AN
STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

We have audited the Group and Company financié¢stants of Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc
for the year ended 31 December 2015 which comptige Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive IncomeCtiresolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, @ensolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the
Company’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statenf Changes in Equity, Statement of Financial
position and the related notes 1 to 37 for the clitisted financial statements and the related nbties31

for the Company financial statements and the apgpdodhe financial statements. The financial nejpg
framework that has been applied in the preparaifdhe Group financial statements is applicable #and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFR&s)adopted by the European Union. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in tipegparation of the Company financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standa (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including FRS 101.

This report is made solely to the Group’s membassa body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Paxtf16
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has beetertaken so that we might state to the Group’s
members those matters we are required to stateeto in an auditor’s report and for no other purpoge

the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not g@tcer assume responsibility to anyone other than th
Group and the Group’s members as a body, for odit aork, for this report, or for the opinions wave
formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and audito

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Respoiilgiies Statement, the Directors are responsibtettie
preparation of the financial statements and fongesatisfied that they give a true and fair vie@ur
responsibility is to audit and express an opiniarthe financial statements in accordance with apple
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK aredland). Those standards require us to compli wit
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical StandardsAuoditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amteuand disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that thenfiial statements are free from material misstatem
whether caused by fraud or error. This includesassessment of: whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s and the Company’s cistamces and have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of signifaccounting estimates made by the Directocstlze
overall presentation of the financial statementsadidition, we read all the financial and non-ficiah
information in the annual report to identify magéérinconsistencies with the audited financial staets

and to identify any information that is apparemntiaterially incorrect based on, or materially inastent
with, the knowledge acquired by us in the courseefforming the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistengiegonsider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

» the financial statements give a true and faiswid the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of the Groupt the Company’s profit for the year then
ended;

« the Group financial statements have been progedpared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union;

« the Company financial statements have been pisopegpared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

« the financial statements have been prepareddardance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006; and, as regards the Group financial states, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF MORG AN
STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companieg\ct 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the StigiteReport and the Directors’ Report for the finahgear
for which the financial statements are preparamissistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by excefion

We have nothing to report in respect of the follogvmatters where the Companies Act 2006 requirés us
report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kepgtums adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

« the financial statements are not in agreement thidhaccounting records and returns; or

. certain disclosures of Directors’ remunerationcHierd by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and exat®ns we require for our audit.

2 T T

Robert Topley (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London

21 April 2016
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2015

Restated
Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions
Net gains on financial instruments classified dd fer trading 3,508 2,775
Net gains on financial instruments designatediatdue
through profit or loss 161 80
Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 4 - 1
Interest income 5 130 368
Interest expense 5 (690) (598)
Other income 6 1,342 1,255
Other expense 7 (3,741) (4,558)
PROFIT/ (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 710 (677)
Income tax expense 8 (309) (36)
PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 401 (713)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 400 (714)
Non-controlling interests 1 1
PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 401 (713)

All operations were continuing in the current amibpyear.
The notes on pages 26 to 117 form an integralgidhte consolidated financial statements.

Details of the restatement are provided in note 2.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions
PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 401 (713)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently tgrofit or loss:
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 8 (2) 2
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to prifor loss:
Currency translation reserve:
Foreign currency translation differences agsin foreign
operations 8 (46) (60)
Available-for-sale reserve:
Net change in fair value of the available-folesinancial assets 8 €)) 2
Unwinding of deferred tax on net day one gainsraobgnised
upon initial recognition of financial instrument 8 - (2)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER INCOME TAX (51) (58)
FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR 350 (771)
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 356 (763)
Non-controlling interest (6) (8)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR 350 (771)

The notes on pages 26 to 117 form an integralgddhte consolidated financial statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2015

Share Currency Available- Capital Capital Attributable to Non-
Equity premium translation for-sale contribution redemption  Pension Retained owners of the controlling Total
Note instruments  account reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserve  earnings parent  interests equity
$millions  $millions  $millions ~ $millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions $millions ~ $millions  $millions

Balance at
1 January 2014 11,464 513 78 4 3 1,400 - 2,118 15,580 79 15,659
Income/ (loss) for the
year - - - - - - - (714) (714) 1 (713)
Other comprehensive
income - - (51) 2 - - 2 (2) (49) (9) (58)
Total comprehensive
income/ (loss) - - (51) 2 - - 2 (716) (763) (8) (771)
Transactions with
owners:
Issue of Additional
Tier 1 capital 23 1,300 - - - - - - - 1,300 - 1,300
Balance at
31 December 2014 12,764 513 27 6 3 1,400 2 1,402 16,117 71 16,188
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 400 400 1 401
Other comprehensive
income - - (39) 3) - - (2) - (44) ) (51)
Total comprehensive
income/ (loss) - - (39) 3 - - (2) 400 356 (6) 350
Transactions with
owners:
Issue of ordinary share
capital 23 1 - - - - - - - 1 - 1
Dividends 24 - - - - - - - (12) (12) - 12)
Balance at
31 December 2015 12,765 513 (12) 3 3 1,400 - 1,790 16,462 65 16,527

The notes on pages 26 to 117 form an integralgiahte consolidated financial statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

Registered number: 2068222

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2015

ASSETS

Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits
Cash collateral on securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets classified as held for tradingMaith $39,718
million (2014: $43,572 million) were pledged to iars parties)
Financial assets designated at fair value througfit r loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and accrued income

Property, plant and equipment

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts
Cash collateral on securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Trade payables
Subordinated loans
Other payables

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin

Financial liabilities designated at fair value thgb profit or loss
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Accruals and deferred income

Post employment benefit obligations

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Equity instruments

Share premium account
Currency translation reserve
Available-for-sale reserve
Capital contribution reserve
Capital redemption reserve
Pension reserve

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

These consolidated financial statements were apprby the Board and authorised for issue on 211 2p16.

Signed on behalf of the Board
(=B85

C Castello

Director

Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions

25 11,882 11,671
22,433 20,691
,6448 58,724

50,940 54,944

10 1,891 3,317
145,790 149,347

11 246,273 295,398
13 1,636 3,360
14 39 42
185 217

21 120 86
38 72

17 3 4
394,084 448,526

25 - 15
16,268 17,499
0188, 45,911

82,065 83,561

18 7,906 7,906
19 11,588 14,134
155,838 169,026

11 216,506 257,828
13 4,865 5,131
20 21 43
101 105

21 23 1
197 199

35 6 5
377,557 432,338

23 12,765 12,764
23 513 513
23 (12) 27
23 3 6
23 3 3
23 1,400 1,400
23 - 2
1,790 1,402

16,462 16,117

65 71

16,527 16,188
394,084 448,526

The notes on pages 26 to 117 form an integralgdahte consolidated financial statements.



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/ (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 25b 246 (1,578)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 17 (1) (2)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets 14 (1) -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale finarnassets 14 1 15
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/ FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES 1) 13
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of equity instruments 23 1 1,300
Dividends paid 24 (12) (88)
Interest on subordinated loan liabilities (138) (138)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/ FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (149) 1,074
NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 96 (491)
Currency translation differences on foreign curgecash balances 130 (81)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE YEAR 25a 11,656 12,228
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE
YEAR 25a 11,882 11,656

The notes on pages 26 to 117 form an integralgddhte consolidated financial statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Englaand Wales, at the following address:
25 Cabot Square, Canary Wharf, London, E14 4QA.

The Group’s immediate parent undertaking is Mor@anley Investments (UK) which is registered in
England and Wales. Copies of its financial stateémean be obtained from the Registrar of Compdioies
England and Wales, Companies House, Crown Way,if€aidl4 3UZ.

The Group’s ultimate parent undertaking and colit@lentity is Morgan Stanley which, together witte
Group and Morgan Stanley's other subsidiary und#terts, form the Morgan Stanley Group.
Morgan Stanley is incorporated in the state of ale, the United States of America.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

The Group has prepared its annual consolidateshdinhstatements in accordance with IFRSs issued by
the IASB as adopted by the EU, Interpretationsadsily the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC")
and the Companies Act 2006.

New standards and interpretations adopted during tle year

The following amendments to standards and intemficets relevant to the Group’s operations were
adopted during the year. Except where otherwesedt these amendments to standards and inteipnstat
did not have a material impact on the Group’s ctdated financial statements.

An amendment to IAS 19Employee benefits on defined benefit planas issued by the IASB in
November 2013, for retrospective application in wairnperiods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. The
amendment was endorsed by the EU in December 2@fidring application on or after 1 February 2015,
with early application permitted. The Group adoptied IAS 19 amendment with effect from 1 January
2015.

As part of the 2010 — 2012 Annual Improvements E€ymliblished in December 2013, the IASB made
amendments to the following standards that arevaeketo the Group’s operations: IFRSShare-based
payment IFRS 3 Business combinations’lFRS 8 Operating segments’IFRS 13 Fair value
measurement IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and equipmeénand IAS 24 Related party disclosuresfor
application in accounting periods beginning on fteral July 2014. The improvements were endorsed by
the EU in December 2014 requiring application onafter 1 February 2015 with early application
permitted. The Group adopted the 2010 — 2012 Anmpiovements with effect from 1 January 2015.

As part of the 2011 — 2013 Annual Improvements E€ymliblished in December 2013, the IASB made
amendments to the following standards that arevaeleto the Group’s operations: IFRS‘Business
combinations’and IFRS 13Fair value measuremenfor application in accounting periods beginning on
or after 1 July 2014. The improvements were endbbsethe EU in December 2014 requiring application
on or after 1 January 2015 with early applicati@nnpitted. The Group adopted the 2011 — 2013 Annual
Improvements with effect from 1 January 2015.

There were no other standards or interpretatiolevaat to the Group’s operations which were adopted
during the year.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of these consolidafethncial statements, the following standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations rdléeahe Group’s operations were issued by the IASB
but not yet mandatory. Except where otherwiseediaghe Group does not expect that the adoptigheof
following standards, amendments to standards atetpiretations will have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
New standards and interpretations not yet adopteddpontinued)

An amendment to IAS Presentation of financial statements' relation to théDisclosure initiative’ was
issued by the IASB in December 2014, for appligaiio annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016. The amendment was endorsed by the EU in Dexed015.

An amendment to IAS 7Statement of Cash Flowsvas issued by the IASB in February 2016. The
amendment is applicable for annual periods begmin or after 1 January 2017. Early application is
permitted.

An amendment to IAS 12ncome Taxeswas issued by the IASB in January 2016, for apgibo in
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2Ba&vly application is permitted.

Amendments to IAS 18°roperty, plant and equipmen#nd IAS 38Intangible assetsivere issued by the
IASB in May 2014, for prospective application innaal periods beginning on or after 1 January 20hé.
amendments were endorsed by the EU in December. 2015

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’(“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB in November 20@®nended in
November 2013, and revised and reissued by the liaSBIly 2014. IFRS 9 is applicable retrospectivel
except where otherwise prescribed by transitiomalipions of the standard, and is effective for wain
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. yEadloption, either in full or relating to own credh
isolation, is permitted. The Group is currentlyessing the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidatedrfaial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 1Consolidation of financial statementdFRS 12'Disclosure of interests in other
entities’ and 1AS 28‘Investments in associatesh relation to ‘Investment entities: Applying the
consolidation exemption’ were issued by the IASBDOacember 2014 for retrospective application in
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customdft#=RS 15”) was issued by the IASB in May 2014 for
retrospective application in annual periods begigron or after 1 January 2018. The Group is cusrent
assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on its consolidedcial statements.

IFRS 16'Leases’'was issued by the IASB in January 2016, for rgiective application in annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Groupuisently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 on its
consolidated financial statements.

As part of the 2012 — 2014 Annual Improvements €ymliblished in September 2014, the IASB made
amendments to the following standards that arevaeketo the Group’s operations: IFRSFinancial
instruments: Disclosures’lAS 19 ‘Employee benefitsand IAS 34'‘Interim financial reporting’ (for
application in accounting periods beginning on fteral January 2016). The Improvements were
endorsed by the EU in December 2015.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements of the Grangpprepared under the historical cost basis, @xoep
certain financial instruments that have been meakat fair value as explained in the accountingcyes
below.

Restatement of comparative amounts

The consolidated income statement includes a gear adjustment in order to reduce both interesirime

and interest expense by $340 million. This reldtesnterest income and expense that was incorrectly
presented gross. This error had no impact on tlei@s profit for the year. Notes 25(b) and 37 hbeen
revised as a result of this restatement.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Use of estimates and sources of uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated finahcitatements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions regardingathation of certain financial instruments, impagnt

of assets, deferred tax balances, pension obliggtithe outcome of litigation, and other mattbet affect

the consolidated financial statements and relatedasures. The Group believes that the estimatised

in preparing the consolidated financial statememts reasonable, relevant and reliable. Actuallt®esu
could differ from these estimates.

For further details on the judgements used in ddténg fair value of certain assets and liabilifisse
accounting policy note 3(d) and note 32.

For further details on the judgements used in d@téng whether the Group should consolidate a
structured entity see note 16.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Groupprise the financial statements of the Comparmy an
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015. Subsdiarie all entities over which the Group has canffbe
Group controls an entity when the Group is expot®dor has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the abilityaffect those returns through its power over thityenThe
financial statements for the subsidiaries are pegpdor the same reporting year as the Group, using
consistent accounting policies. The financial estadnts of subsidiaries which have a non-US dollar
reporting currency are translated into US dollagsdascribed in note 3(b). Subsidiaries are coustad
from the date that the Group gains control un#gl dlate that control ceases.

In certain cases, the Group may exercise contret amother entity on behalf of investors or othetips.

In such cases it is necessary, as part of the siases of whether it should consolidate the enfiy,the
Group to determine whether it exercises such cbmtrionarily as an agent for the other investors or
whether it does so primarily as principal on itsavehalf. In making such a determination, the @naill
consider all relevant factors, including in partasu

. the scope of the Group’s decision-making autharitgr the investee;

. the rights, including removal rights, held by otparties;

. the remuneration to which the Group is entitledj an

. the significance of the Group’s exposure to valighof returns from its interests in the entity.

Intra-group balances, transactions, income andresgseand profits and losses resulting from intcaxgr
transactions are eliminated in preparing the codiatgdd financial statements.

Non-controlling interests represent the portionpodfit or loss and total equity not owned, directy
indirectly, by the Group and are presented sepgratethe consolidated income statement, consadidat
statement of comprehensive income and within equitthe consolidated statement of financial positio
separately from parent shareholders’ equity. Thewarhof non-controlling interest is measured atribe-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of tteritifiable net assets.

Details of the Group’s interests in other entities given in note 16 to these financial statements.
The going concern assumption

The Group’s business activities, together with flaetors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position, are reflected in thet&gia report on pages 1 to 14. In addition, theesabd the
consolidated financial statements include the Gsopjectives, policies and processes for managsg
capital; its financial risk management objectivdstails of its financial instruments; and its expes to
credit risk and liquidity risk.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

The going concern assumption (continued)

As set out in the Strategic report, retaining sigfit liquidity and capital to withstand market gsares
remains central to the Morgan Stanley Group’s &ed@roup’s strategy.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, Erieectors believe it is reasonable to assumetti@tGroup
will have access to adequate resources to coniimumperational existence for the foreseeable future
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concdasis in preparing the annual reports and
consolidated financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a. Functional currency

Items included in the consolidated financial staate are measured and presented in US dollars, the
currency of the primary economic environment inathihe Group operates.

All currency amounts in the consolidated finanagtdtements, Strategic report and Directors’ repogt
rounded to the nearest million US dollars (unlebgiwise stated).

b. Foreign currencies

All monetary assets and liabilities denominatedunrencies other than US dollars are translateul W
dollars at the rates ruling at the reporting d&tmansactions and non-monetary assets and liabilitie
denominated in currencies other than US dollarsracerded at the rates prevailing at the dateshef t
transactions. Foreign exchange differences onlablaifor-sale financial assets are recorded in the
‘Available-for-sale reserve’ in equity, with theaeption of translation differences on the amortisesk of
monetary available-for-sale assets, which are m@sed through the consolidated income statement.
Assets and liabilities of operations which haveoa-b/S dollar reporting currency are translated id®
dollars using the closing rate method. Translatidferences arising from net investments in nondd8ar
reported operations are taken to the ‘currencystaedion reserve’. All other translation differescare
taken through the consolidated income statementch&nhge differences recognised in the consolidated
income statement are presented in ‘Other incom&trer expense’, except where noted in 3(c) below.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the related wWative gain or loss in the ‘currency translati@serve’
attributable to the owners of the parent is rediassto the consolidated income statement and rokemb
within ‘Net currency translation gain / (loss) oispgbsal of subsidiary’.

C. Financial instruments

The Group classifies its financial assets intoftilewing categories on initial recognition: finaatassets
classified as held for trading; financial assetsigitated at fair value through profit or loss; éatalie-for-
sale financial assets; and loans and receivables.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities intbe following categories on initial recognitionndncial
liabilities classified as held for trading; finaatiiabilities designated at fair value through figror loss;
and financial liabilities at amortised cost.

More information regarding these classificationsi@uded below:
i) Financial instruments classified as held for tradimy

Purchases and sales of non-derivative financiaftungents classified as held for trading are irifial
recognised on settlement date at fair value, inolydegular way securities transactions. For puseha
of non-derivative financial instruments classifigsl held for trading, from the date that the termes a
agreed (trade date) until the settlement date Gtemup recognises any unrealised fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position asdficial instruments classified as held for trading’
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT INUED)
C. Financial instruments (continued)
i) Financial instruments classified as held for tradig (continued)

with corresponding profit or loss recognised witkine consolidated income statement in ‘Net gains/
(losses) on financial instruments classified asl Hef trading’. For sales of non-derivative finaaici
instruments unrealised fair value changes are mgelo recognised in the consolidated income
statement from trade date. Upon settlement dateethdting financial instrument is recognised of de
recognised from the consolidated statement of Gizduposition.

Derivatives are initially recognised on trade dattéair value. All subsequent changes in fair ecduwe
reflected in the consolidated income statement Niet‘gains/ (losses) on financial instruments
classified as held for trading’.

All changes in fair value, foreign exchange diffages, interest and dividends are reflected in the
consolidated income statement in ‘Net gains/ (Ies®a financial instruments classified as held for
trading’. When interest is included as a compor@the instruments’ fair value, interest is also
reflected in the income statement in ‘Net gainssges) on financial instruments classified as faid
trading’, otherwise, it is included within ‘Intetescome’.

For all financial instruments classified as held fiading, transaction costs are excluded from the
initial fair value measurement of the financial tmsnent. These costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in ‘Other expense’.

i) Financial instruments designated at fair valuethrough profit or loss
The Group has designated certain financial instnimat fair value through profit or loss when:
» the financial instruments are managed, evaluatddeported internally on a fair value basis;

» the designation at fair value eliminates or siguaifitly reduces an accounting mismatch which
would otherwise arise; or

» the financial instrument contains an embedded dgvie that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required under thetict.

From the date the transaction in a financial imagnt designated at fair value through profit osls
entered into (trade date) until settlement date,Ghoup recognises any unrealised fair value clange
in the contract as financial instruments designatiethir value through profit or loss. On settletnen
date, the fair value of consideration given or e is recognised as a financial instrument desiggh

at fair value through profit or loss (see note 3{djow). All subsequent changes in fair value, ifpre
exchange differences, interest and dividends dlected in the consolidated income statement irt ‘Ne
gains/ (losses) on financial instruments designatddir value through profit or loss’.

Transaction costs are excluded from the initiai failue measurement of the financial instrument.
These costs are recognised in the consolidatednactatement in ‘Other expense’.

iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Financial assets classified as available-for-sake mon-derivative financial assets that are either
designated in this category or not classified iy ahthe other categories of financial instruments.
Financial assets classified as available-for-sederacorded on trade date and are initially recsegphi
and subsequently measured at fair value (see fdd8low).

Transaction costs that are directly attributabléhwacquisition of an available-for-sale finan@abet
are added to the fair value on initial recognition.

For equity instruments, dividend income and impaininlosses are recognised in the consolidated
income statement in ‘Net gains/ (losses) on avktidr-sale financial assets’. All other gains and
losses on equity instruments classified as avaitédnt-sale are recognised in the ‘Available-foresal
reserve’ within equity.

30



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.

C.

d.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CON TINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
iii) Available-for-sale financial assets (continueyl

On disposal or impairment of an available-for-ditb@ncial asset, the cumulative gain or loss in the
‘Available-for-sale reserve’ is reclassified to tbensolidated income statement and reported in ‘Net
gains/ (losses) on available-for-sale financiabtss

iv) Loans and receivables and financial liabilites at amortised cost

Financial assets classified as loans and receivaske recognised when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Tleg initially measured at fair value (see note 3(d)
below) and subsequently measured at amortised lesst allowance for impairment. Interest is
recognised in the consolidated income statemefihierest income’, using the effective interesterat
method as described below. Transaction costsatteatlirectly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset are added to or deducted from dhrevilue on initial recognition. Impairment losses
and reversals of impairment losses on financiatasdassified as loans and receivables are resegjni

in the consolidated income statement in ‘Other agpé

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are recegdiwhen the Group becomes a party to the conalactu
provisions of the instrument. They are initially asered at fair value (see note 3(d) below) and
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Intisrestognised in the consolidated income statement
in ‘Interest expense’ using the effective interasé method as described below. Transaction tosts
are directly attributable to the issue of the ficiah liability are added to or deducted from thé& fa
value on initial recognition.

The effective interest rate method is a method @twating the amortised cost of a financial
instrument (or a group of financial instrumentsdanf allocating the interest income or interest
expense over the expected life of the financiairimeent. The effective interest rate is the rat t
exactly discounts the estimated future cash paysnantl receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument (or, where appropriate a sfropteriod) to the carrying amount of the financial
instrument. The effective interest rate is estdigd on initial recognition of the financial instrant.
The calculation of the effective interest rate udgs all fees and commissions paid or received,
transaction costs, and discounts or premiums treataa integral part of the effective interest rate.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that aeetti attributable to the acquisition, issue apaisal

of a financial instrument.

In the course of financing its business and as p#its trading activities, the Group enters into
arrangements which involve the sale of securitiéth \@greements to repurchase, the purchase of
securities with resale agreements, the lendingeofisties with collateral received and the borrayvin
of securities with collateral given. Cash collatebalances repayable and accrued interest arising
under repurchase agreements and securities leadiaggements are classified as ‘Financial liab#iti

at amortised cost’ and the related securities, levned by the Group, are included in ‘Financial
assets classified as held for trading’. Cash amitdtbalances receivable and accrued interesngrisi
under resale agreements and securities borrowingngements are classified as ‘Loans and
receivables’. Securities received by the Groupeungsale arrangements and securities borrowing
arrangements are generally not recognised on thsotidated statement of financial position.

Fair value

Fair value measurement

Fair value is defined as the price that would lxeireed to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliiglfi.e. the
“exit price”) in an orderly transaction between kerparticipants at the measurement date.

Where the Group manages a group of financial assedsfinancial liabilities on the basis of its net
exposure to either market or credit risk, the Groogasures the fair value of that group of financial
instruments consistently with how market particiggamould price the net risk exposure at the measen
date.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
d. Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The fair value of a financial instrument on initi@cognition is the transaction price (i.e. the falue of
the consideration given or received).

In determining fair value, the Group uses varioatuation approaches and establishes a hierarchy for
inputs used in measuring fair value that maximteesuse of relevant observable inputs and minintises
use of unobservable inputs by requiring that thestmobservable inputs be used when available.
Observable inputs are inputs that market partidgparould use in pricing the asset or liability dieysd
based on market data obtained from sources indepéndlthe Group. Unobservable inputs are inguds t
reflect the Group’s assumptions about the assumptidher market participants would use in pricing t
asset or liability, that are developed based orb#st information available in the circumstances.

The hierarchy is broken down into three levels Hamethe observability of inputs as follows:
* Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in an actieeket for identical assets or liabilities

Valuations based on quoted prices in active mairfiketglentical assets or liabilities that the Grchgs
the ability to access. Valuation adjustments amackb discounts are not applied to Level 1
instruments. Since valuations are based on quwieds that are readily and regularly availablarn
active market, valuation of these products doe®ntail a significant degree of judgement.

e Level 2 - Valuation techniques using observableaiigp

Valuations based on one or more quoted prices irketsm that are not active or for which all
significant inputs are observable, either direotiyndirectly.

* Level 3 - Valuation techniques with significant txservable inputs
Valuations based on inputs that are unobservallesigmificant to the overall fair value measurement

The availability of observable inputs can vary frpnoduct to product and is affected by a wide \grgd
factors, including, for example, the type of progwehether the product is new and not yet estabtish

the marketplace, the liquidity of markets and ottlesiracteristics particular to the product. To éhleent
that valuation is based on models or inputs thatlass observable or unobservable in the market, th
determination of fair value requires more judgeméwcordingly, the degree of judgement exercised by
the Group in determining fair value is greatest iftstruments categorised in Level 3 of the fairueal
hierarchy.

The Group considers prices and inputs that arenties of the measurement date, including durinigge
of market dislocation. In periods of market dislthon, the observability of prices and inputs may b
reduced for many instruments. This condition caiddse an instrument to be reclassified from Lévial
Level 2 or from Level 2 to Level 3 of the fair valhierarchy. In addition, a downturn in marketditions
could lead to declines in the valuation of manyrimaents.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure &uevmay fall into different levels of the fair uval
hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purpdbkesievel in the fair value hierarchy within whittie fair
value measurement falls in its entirety is deteadibased on the lowest level input that is sigaiftdo the
fair value measurement in its entirety.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINU ED)
d. Fair value (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group incorporates FVA into the fair value meaments of OTC uncollateralised or partially
collateralised derivatives, and in collateralisedivhtives where the terms of the agreement dgaohit
the re-use of the collateral received. In gendfsli reflects a market funding risk premium inherem
the noted derivative instruments. The methodology rheasuring FVA leverages the Group’s existing
credit-related valuation adjustment calculationhméblogies, which apply to both assets and liabdit

Valuation techniques

Many cash instruments and OTC derivative contrhatse bid and ask prices that can be observed in the
marketplace. Bid prices reflect the highest ptitat a party is willing to pay for an asset. Agices
represent the lowest price that a party is willingaccept for an asset. For financial instrumeviisse
inputs are based on bid-ask prices, the Group doesequire that the fair value estimate alwaysabe
predetermined point in the bid-ask range. The @mopolicy is to allow for mid-market pricing and t
adjust to the point within the bid-ask range thatets the Group’s best estimate of fair value. For
offsetting positions in the same financial instrumpehe same price within the bid-ask spread isl use
measure both the long and short positions.

Fair value for many cash instruments and OTC dgeveacontracts is derived using pricing models.
Pricing models take into account the contract te(msluding maturity), as well as multiple inputs
including, where applicable, commodity prices, &gurices, interest rate yield curves, credit csrve
correlation, creditworthiness of the counterparyeditworthiness of the Group, option volatility dan

currency rates. Where appropriate, valuation adijests are made to account for various factors sgch
liquidity risk (bid-ask adjustments), credit quglimodel uncertainty and concentration risk.

Adjustments for liquidity risk adjust model-derivexid-market levels of Level 2 and Level 3 financial
instruments for the bid-mid or mid-ask spread regplito properly reflect the exit price of a risksfimn.
Bid-mid and mid-ask spreads are marked to levekended in trade activity, broker quotes or other
external third-party data. Where these spreadsuaobservable for the particular position in quasti
spreads are derived from observable levels of aimpibsitions.

Credit valuation adjustments are applied to botlrtsterm instruments and long-term borrowings
(primarily structured notes) which are designateédfair value through profit or loss and to OTC
derivatives. The impact of changes in own cregieads based upon observations of secondary bond
market spreads is considered when measuring thedhie for short-term and long-term borrowingsor F
OTC derivatives, the impact of changes in both @reup’s and the counterparty’s credit standing is
considered when measuring fair value. In detemgirthe expected exposure the Group simulates the
distribution of the future exposure to a countetyahen applies market-based default probabilitiethe
future exposure, leveraging external third-partgddr default swap (“CDS”) spread data. Where CDS
spread data are unavailable for a specific couatgrpbond market spreads, credit CDS spread detadc

on the counterparty’s credit rating or CDS spreathdhat reference a comparable counterparty may be
utilised. The Group also considers collateral heetd legally enforceable master netting agreentbiats
mitigate the Group’s exposure to each counterparty.

Adjustments for model uncertainty are taken for ifimss whose underlying models are reliant on
significant inputs that are neither directly nodinectly observable, hence requiring reliance datdished
theoretical concepts in their derivation. Thesgustthents are derived by making assessments of the
possible degree of variability using statisticapagaches and market-based information where pessibl
The Group generally subjects all valuations andet®otb a review process initially and on a periduhsis
thereafter.
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d. Fair value (continued)
Valuation techniques (continued)

The Group may apply a concentration adjustmenettai of its OTC derivatives portfolios to refleébe
additional cost of closing out a particularly largek exposure. Where possible, these adjustmeasts a
based on observable market information but in mastances significant judgement is required tonessti
the costs of closing out concentrated risk expasdue to the lack of liquidity in the marketplace.

Fair value is a market-based measure consideradtfie perspective of a market participant rathantan
entity-specific measure. Therefore, even when ptaalksumptions are not readily available, the Gsoup
own assumptions are set to reflect those that tleiisbelieves market participants would use inipgic
the asset or liability at the measurement date.

Valuation process

The Valuation Review Group (“VRG") within the Fingial Control Group (“FCG”) is responsible for the
Group'’s fair value valuation policies, processed procedures. VRG is independent of the busine#s un
and reports to the Chief Financial Officer of therfgan Stanley Group (“CFO”), who has final authporit
over the valuation of the Group’s financial instemts. VRG implements valuation control processes t
validate the fair value of the Group’s financiastiuments measured at fair value including thoseveid
from pricing models. These control processes asggded to ensure that the values used for financial
reporting are based on observable inputs wherewssilple. In the event that observable inputs ate no
available, the control processes are designed garerthat the valuation approach utilised is apatgp
and consistently applied and that the assumptitsmseasonable.

The Group’s control processes apply to all finahaiatruments, unless otherwise noted. These cbntro
processes include:

* Model ReviewVRG, in conjunction with the Market Risk Departrheand, where appropriate, the
Credit Risk Management Department, both of whighoreto the Chief Risk Officer of the Morgan
Stanley Group (“CRQO”), independently review valoati models’ theoretical soundness, the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology aditbragion techniques developed by the business
units using observable inputs. Where inputs areoheérvable, VRG reviews the appropriateness of the
proposed valuation methodology to ensure it is ist&st with how a market participant would arrite a
the unobservable input. The valuation methodologiésed in the absence of observable inputs may
include extrapolation techniques and the use ofparable observable inputs. As part of the review,
VRG develops a methodology to independently vetliy fair value generated by the business unit’s
valuation models. Before trades are executed usgmgvaluation models, those models are required to
be independently reviewed. All of the Group’s vaioa models are subject to an independent annual
VRG review.

* Independent Price VerificatioriThe business units are responsible for determitie fair value of
financial instruments using approved valuation ni@dad valuation methodologies. Generally on a
monthly basis, VRG independently validates the Yaiues of financial instruments determined using
valuation models by determining the appropriatersdsthe inputs used by the business units and by
testing compliance with the documented valuatiothodologies approved in the model review process
described above.

VRG uses recently executed transactions, othemadisie market data such as exchange data, broker/
dealer quotes, third-party pricing vendors and egation services for validating the fair values of
financial instruments generated using valuation eldVRG assesses the external sources and their
valuation methodologies to determine if the extepmaviders meet the minimum standards expected of
a third-party pricing source. Pricing data providgdapproved external sources are evaluated using a
number of approaches; for example, by corrobordtiegexternal sources’ prices to executed trades, b
analysing themethodology and assumptions used by the extermatasdo generate a price and/ or by
evaluating how active the third-party pricing saui@r originating sources used by the third-party
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d. Fair value (continued)
Valuation process (continued)

pricing source) is in the market. Based on thisly@i® VRG generates a ranking of the observable
market data to ensure that the highest-ranked rmédeta source is used to validate the businessunit
fair value of financial instruments.

For financial instruments where the fair value &sdéd on unobservable inputs, VRG reviews the
business unit’s valuation techniques to ensurecthes consistent with market participant assumption

The results of this independent price verificatiord any adjustments made by VRG to the fair value
generated by the business units are presented nagement of the Morgan Stanley Group’s three

business segments (i.e. Institutional Securitiesalili Management and Investment Management), the
CFO and the CRO on a regular basis.

* Review of Transactions where the valuation is basednobservable input¥RG reviews the models
and valuation methodology used to price all newemal Level 3 transactions and both FCG and
Market Risk Department management must approvefairevalue of the trade that is initially
recognised.

Gains and losses on inception

In the normal course of business, the fair valueadfnancial instrument on initial recognition iset
transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the cdesation given or received). In certain circumsemc
however, the fair value will be based on other okmsale current market transactions in the same
instrument, without modification or repackaging,aor a valuation technique whose variables includg o
data from observable markets. When such evidenistsethe Group recognises a gain or loss on ifmept
of the transaction.

When the use of unobservable market data has dfiségnt impact on determining fair value at the
inception of the transaction, the entire initiairgar loss indicated by the valuation techniqueatishe
transaction date is not recognised immediatelyhim ¢onsolidated income statement and is recognised
instead when the market data becomes observable.

e. Derecognition of financial assets and liabilitie

The Group derecognises a financial asset when dh&actual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset substantially all the risk and rewards of owngrsif the
asset.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities whiea Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelletthey
expire.

f. Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, an assessment is madevalsetiher there is any objective evidence of impainn
in the value of a financial asset classified asegifavailable-for-sale or loans and receivablespairment
losses are recognised if an event has occurrechwhiit have an adverse impact on the expected éutur
cash flows of an asset and the expected impadbeaaliably estimated.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financeseds are measured as the difference betweennedsif(
any principal repayment and amortisation) and timeenit fair value (see note 3(d) above). Wherestle
evidence that the available-for-sale financial assanpaired, the cumulative loss that had be@vipusly
recognised in other comprehensive income is rdfledsfrom the ‘Available-for-sale reserve’ and
recognised in the consolidated income statemeftiwiNet gains/ (losses) on available-for-sale ficial
assets’.
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f. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Impairment losses on loans and receivables areurezhss the difference between the carrying amofint
the loans and receivables and the present valestohated cash flows discounted at the asset’snatig
effective interest rate. Such impairment lossesracegnised in the consolidated income statemettirwi
‘Other expense’ and are recognised against thgingramount of the impaired asset on the consdaitiat
statement of financial position. Interest on thepained asset continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount based on the original effectiveri@st rate of the asset.

Subsequent increases in fair value of previouslpained equity available-for-sale financial assets a
reported as fair value gains in the ‘Available-fatde reserve’ through other comprehensive incordenah
separately identified as an impairment reversalr &l other financial assets, if in a subsequesarythe
amount of the estimated impairment loss decreasesuse of an event occurring after the impairmers w
recognised, the previously recognised impairmest Ie reversed as detailed by financial asset @ 3(t)
(iv). Any reversal is limited to the extent thattlalue of the asset may not exceed the originalrtsad
cost of the asset had no impairment occurred.

g. Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that are subject to amortisatire reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrgmgunt may not be recoverable. An impairment isss
recognised for the amount by which the asset'sysagramount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'sviaiwe less costs to sell and its value in use.tker
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are graiphe lowest levels for which there are sepbrate
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units)nNioancial assets, other than goodwill, that hswkered

an impairment are reviewed for possible reversahefimpairment at the end of each reporting period
Such impairment losses are recognised in the ciolaset! income statement within ‘Other expense’ and
are recognised against the carrying amount ofrtipaired asset on the consolidated statement aidiah
position.

h. Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions classified within ‘Other inebim the consolidated income statement include
account servicing fees, investment management $a¢ess commissions, placement fees, advisory fegs a
syndication fees. Fees and commissions classifighin ‘Other expense’ in the consolidated income
statement include transaction and service feeses@lamounts are recognised as the related searees
performed or received.

i. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cdsbfndepreciation and any provision for impairmémt
value, which are included within ‘Other expensethie consolidated income statement.

For premises held under operating leases, a r&ns¢amt provision is recognised for the estimatest tm
reinstate the premises at the end of the leaseceNVhen the reinstatement provision is estabdisied
included within ‘Provisions’ in the consolidatedatgment of financial position, an equivalent asset
recognised and included in the cost of leaseholdgranements at the initial present value of any
reinstatement obligations. The discount effectuded in the reinstatement provision is reversed tkee
using a constant effective yield method and inallidéthin ‘Interest expense’ in the consolidatedome
statement. The reinstatement asset is depreciadtioe useful economic life of the relevant leadeh
improvement asset and the depreciation chargecisidad within ‘Other expense’ in the consolidated
income statement.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant andipoent at rates calculated to write off the costhaf
assets on a straight line basis over their expacetll lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements including reinstatementtaisse shorter of remaining lease term and 25 years
Fixtures, fittings and equipment - 3to 8 years

36



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

3.

-

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINU ED)
Business combinations and disposals.
i)  Combination of businesses
Business combinations are accounted for usingdbeisition method of accounting.

Consideration for each acquisition is measureti@dfite at which a business combination occurs (the
“acquisition date”) at the fair value of the assemsferred, liabilities incurred (including anyset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideratianrangement) and equity instruments issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

Acquisition related costs are recognised in thesobdated income statement as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (imtthg contingent liabilities) assumed, which meet th
conditions for recognition under IFRS &e recognised initially at acquisition-date featues, with the
exception that:

« deferred tax assets and liabilities are recograsetimeasured in accordance with 1AS 12;

« assets related to employee benefit arrangementeeognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 19;

« liabilities or equity instruments related to the@leeement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
award are measured in accordance with IFR&a

e acquired non-current assets or disposal groupsatieatlassified as held for sale at the acquisition
date in accordance with IFRS Edn-current assets held for sale and discontinugerations’are
reported at their fair value less cost to sell.

A contingent liability assumed is recognised whirere is a present obligation that arises from past
events and its fair value can be measured reliabgardless of whether it is probable that an owtibf
resources will be required to settle the obligation

A non-controlling interest in the acquiree is reagisgd (in respect of any portion of the total as$ets
total liabilities of an acquired entity that is rawned by the Group) at fair value.

Any excess of the sum of the consideration andameunt of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiablseds acquired less liabilities assumed is recognase
goodwill. If the sum of the consideration and #meount of any non-controlling interest in the aceei

is less than the fair value of the identifiable edssacquired less liabilities assumed, the gain on
acquisition is recognised in the consolidated ine@tatement in the year of acquisition.

If the initial accounting for a business combinatie incomplete by the end of the reporting peiind
which the combination occurred, the Group reportsvigional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. The measurement peridich may not exceed one year) is the period from
the date of acquisition to the date the Group oBtaiomplete information about the facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisitida.d&rovisional amounts may be adjusted during the
measurement period, or additional assets or ltadslirecognised, to reflect any new information
obtained about the facts and circumstances thategkiat the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Subsequent changes to the fair value of any asdethdity resulting from a contingent considerati
arrangement during the measurement period aretadjagainst the cost of acquisition. Changesén th
fair value of contingent consideration classifisdeguity are not recognised.

Post-acquisition, income received and expensesrieatiby the entity or entities acquired are inctlide
in the consolidated income statement on a lineHig/basis in accordance with the accounting pdicie
set out herein.
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j Business combinations and disposals (continued)

i)  Combination of businesses (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When subsidiaries are sold or the Group ceasesrtinat an entity, the difference between the prdsee
(plus the fair value of any investment retainedid éhe total assets less total liabilities disposéd
cumulative translation differences and unamortigeddwill, is recognised in the consolidated income
statement within ‘Gain/ (loss) on disposal of sdiziy’. Where the disposal or loss of control oger
entity includes a foreign operation, all foreignckange differences accumulated in the ‘Currency
translation reserve’ attributable to the equitydeos of the parent are reclassified to the conataitl
income statement within ‘Gain/ (loss) on dispodadubsidiary’.

i)  Combination of businesses under common control

Business combinations involving entities under camntontrol, where all combining entities are
ultimately controlled by the same entity before afigr the business combination, are accounted for
using the predecessor values method of accourifinig. involves recognising assets and liabilities of
the acquired business at the predecessors’ book vaithout any change to reflect fair value ofstho
assets and liabilities. Any difference betweendbst of acquisition and the aggregate book valubef
assets and liabilities as of the date of the teansf the acquired entity is recorded as an adjestrto
equity within the ‘Capital contribution reserve’.oNadditional goodwill is created by the business
combination.

Post-acquisition, income received and expensesriediby the entity or entities acquired are inctide
in the consolidated income statement on a linekiybasis in accordance with the accounting pdicie
set out herein.

A non-controlling interest is recognised by the @ran respect of any portion of the total assess le
total liabilities of an acquired entity or entitiksat is not owned by the Group.

When subsidiaries are sold or transferred to amoéiméity under common control, any difference
between the consideration received and the aggrdmaik value of the assets and liabilities of the
disposed of business is recorded as an adjustrmesutity within the ‘Capital contribution reserve’.
Where the consideration for the transfer is reakivethe form of shares, these are recorded at the
aggregate book value of the assets and liabilitigsosed of.

k. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statemerasif ows, cash and cash equivalents comprisearath
demand deposits with banks, net of outstanding loaekdrafts, along with highly liquid investmentgth
original maturities of three months or less, theg eeadily convertible to known amounts of cash and
subject to insignificant risk of change in value.

l. Income tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the taxntlyrgayable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is calculated based ralie profit for the year. Taxable profit may diffeom
profit/ (loss) before income tax as reported in ¢basolidated income statement because it excliteies

of income or expense that are taxable or deductiblether years and it further excludes items tat
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liabifity current tax is calculated using tax rates tiaate been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reportiate.dCurrent tax is charged or credited in the
consolidated income statement, except when itagldad items charged or credited directly to other
comprehensive income or equity, in which case theeait tax is also recorded within other comprehens
income or equity respectively.
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l. Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payablecowerable on differences between the carrying absou

of assets and liabilities in the consolidated friahstatements and the corresponding tax basekintbe
computation of taxable profit, and is accountedusing the balance sheet liability method. Defetiad
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxalemporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable thaable profits will be available against which detihle
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxalemporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able tdrabthe reversal of the temporary difference anib i
probable that the temporary difference will noteese in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is veadeat each reporting date and limited to the extteat
it is probable that sufficient taxable profits wikk available to allow all or part of the assebéarecovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates thaeapected to apply in the period when the liabiitsettled
or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is chargectamited in the consolidated income statemerteptx
when it relates to items charged or credited diygotother comprehensive income or equity, in vahtase
the deferred tax is reflected within other compredive income or equity, respectively.

Current tax assets are offset against currentdbiities when there is a legally enforceable titghset off
current tax assets against current tax liabilites the Group intends to settle its current taxetasand
current tax liabilities on a net basis or to realise asset and settle the liability simultaneauddgferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when thera Isgally enforceable right to set off current &ssets
against current tax liabilities and when they eekatincome taxes levied by the same taxation aitytend
the Group intends to settle its current tax assedscurrent tax liabilities on a net basis.

m. Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are chergéther expense’ in the consolidated income stata
on a straight line basis over the lease term. Leasmntives are allocated on a straight line baser the
lease term as a reduction to rental expense.

Rentals receivable under operating leases aretededd ‘Other income’ in the consolidated income
statement on a straight line basis over the leasm.tInitial direct costs incurred in negotiatingda
arranging the lease are added to the carrying anuiuhe leased asset and recognised in the caoiaset
income statement on a straight line basis oveldhse term. Lease incentives are allocated onasglstr
line basis over the lease term.

n. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has @mredbligation as a result of a past event, whes it
probable that an outflow of resources embodyingientc benefits will be required to settle the obtign
and when a reliable estimate can be made of theiained the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the béistae of the consideration required to settlephesent
obligation at the year end date, taking into actdhe risks and uncertainties surrounding the atbilig.

Where a provision is measured using the cash flestisnated to settle the present obligation, itsyoag

amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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0. Employee compensation plans
i) Equity-settled share-based compensation plans

Morgan Stanley operates equity-based compensaléms pn behalf of the Group in relation to which,
the Group pays Morgan Stanley in considerationha&f procurement of the transfer of shares to
employees. The cost of equity-based transactiotts employees is measured based on the fair value
of the equity instruments at grant date. Fair @afistock unit awards is based on the market mfce
Morgan Stanley shares and fair value of stock optwards is estimated using the Black-Scholes
valuation model, which takes into account the apsicexercise price, its expected term, the risk fre
interest rate and the expected volatility of therketiprice of Morgan Stanley shares. Non-market
vesting conditions are not taken into account wimeiasuring fair value, but are reflected by adjgstin
over time the number of equity instruments incluitethe measurement of the transaction such that
the amount ultimately recognised reflects the nuntiet actually vest. The expense is recorded withi
‘Staff costs’ in ‘Other expense’ in the consolidht'mcome statement; the corresponding credit to
retained earnings is reduced to the extent thamnpays are due to Morgan Stanley in respect of these
awards.

i) Other deferred compensation plans

Morgan Stanley also maintains deferred compensatimms on behalf of the Group for the benefit of
certain employees that provide a return to theigpating employees based upon the performance of
various referenced investments. Liabilities faesh awards, which are included within ‘Accruals and
deferred income’ in the consolidated statementirtdrfcial position, are measured at fair value and
recognised over time in accordance with the awawesting conditions. The related expense is
recorded within ‘Staff costs’ in ‘Other expens@he Group economically hedges the exposure created
by these deferred compensation schemes by entetinglerivative transactions with other Morgan
Stanley Group undertakings. The derivatives ategrised within ‘Financial instruments classified a
held for trading’ in the consolidated statemenfimdincial position and the related gains and losses
recorded within ‘Net gains/ (losses) on financiastruments classified as held for trading’ in the
consolidated income statement.

p. Post-employment benefits
The Group operates defined contribution and defbekfit post-employment plans.

Contributions due in relation to the Group’s defim®ntribution post-employment plan are recognised
‘Other expense’ in the consolidated income statémwien payable.

For the Group’s defined benefit post-employmennpthe plan obligations are measured on an actuaria
basis in accordance with the advice of an indepeindealified actuary using the projected unit credi
method and discounted at a rate that reflects thesiat rate of return on a high quality corporasadb of
equivalent term and currency to the plan liab#iti®lan assets are measured at their fair valubeat
reporting date. A surplus or deficit of plan assmitsr liabilities is recognised in the consolidastatement

of financial position as an asset or a liabilitgpectively. If the fair value of the plan asssthigher than
the present value of the defined benefit obligattbe measurement of the resulting defined bensfiet is
limited to the present value of economic benefitgilable in the form of refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan. eTdurrent service cost and any past service cogesher
with the net interest on the net defined benefltgaltion/ asset is charged to ‘Staff costs’ with@ther
expense’ in the consolidated income statement. Rsumrements that arise in calculating the Group’s
obligation in respect of a plan are recognisedtireocomprehensive income, in the period in whiodyt
occur.

Details of the plans are given in note 36 to ttesesolidated financial statements.
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g. Offsetting of financial assets and financial libilities

Where there is a currently legally enforceable trighset off the recognised amounts and an intarttio
either settle on a net basis or to realise thetass# the liability simultaneously, financial asseind
financial liabilities are offset and the net amoimpresented on the consolidated statement ohdiah
position. In the absence of such conditions, fam@rassets and financial liabilities are presemed gross
basis.

4. NET GAINS ON AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Net fair value gains reclassified from the avaafir-sale
reserve on disposal of assets - 1

5. INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

‘Interest income’ represents total interest gemslafrom financial assets whilst ‘interest expense’
represents total interest generated from finarieibilities with the exception that:

(a) when interest is included as a component of theuneents fair value, interest is reflected in ‘net
gains/ (losses) on financial instruments classifiedheld for trading’; and

(b) interest expense generated from ‘financial liabk#itclassified as held for trading’ is reportedaas
reduction in ‘interest income’.

‘Interest income’ also includes fees paid on séi@srborrowed transactions and ‘interest expemsgudes
fees received on securities loaned balances andgrone brokerage customers for stock loan traiwast
incurred to cover customers’ short positions.

No other gains or losses have been recognisedpect of loans and receivables other than as disdlas
‘Interest income’, and foreign exchange differena@sl impairment losses and reversals of impairment
losses disclosed in ‘Other expense’ (note 7).

6. OTHER INCOME

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Fee and commission income:
Advisory fees 507 454
Underwriting fees 701 810
Trust and other fiduciary activities 53 29
Non-UK capital gains tax recoverable 18 (105)
Other 63 67
1,342 1,255

The non-UK capital gains tax recoverable amounttfa year ended 31 December 2014 represents a
reduction to the expected reimbursement from dienmt certain equity transactions. Contractually the
clients are legally bound to reimburse the Groupafoy tax, levy, duty, charge, assessment or fieegtty

or indirectly, in connection with or arising frorhese equity transactions. A reduction in tax expens
incurred by the Group in relation to these equiynsactions was reflected in ‘Income tax expenstiim

the consolidated income statement for the yearceBdeDecember 2014 (see note 8).
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7. OTHER EXPENSE

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Direct staff costs 158 220
Management charges from other Morgan Stanley Guowiertakings
relating to staff costs 1,616 2,194
Management charges from other Morgan Stanley Guowlertakings
relating to other services 392 670
Brokerage fees 548 527
Administration and corporate services 341 343
Professional services 371 379
UK Bank levy 78 65
Operating lease rentals 6 7
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 2 3
Impairment losses on loans and receivables (seed)ot 17 15
Reversal of impairment losses on loans and reckssatsee note 9) (20) (5)
Net foreign exchange losses 10 2
Auditor's remuneration:
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its &gssdor the
audit of the Company’s annual financial statements 5 5
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its @tesdor other
services to the Group 1 1
Other 206 132
3,741 4,558

@) Fees payable to the Company's auditor for othices in 2015 comprise of $274,000 for the autlthe Company’s subsidiaries
and $1,106,000 for other assurance services. (Z&D0,000).

Included within ‘Direct staff costs’ and ‘Managenteoharges from other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings relating to staff costs’ are amouatalling $203 million (2014: $205 million) in relah to
equity-settled share-based compensation planstegtdn employees of both the Group and the Morgan
Stanley Group. These costs reflect the amortisatib equity-based awards in relation to current and
previous years’' awards and are therefore not dyredigned with other staff costs in the currenaye
Similarly, included within ‘Direct staff costs’ ariflanagement charges from other Morgan Stanley @Grou
undertakings relating to staff costs’ is an amafri§111 million (2014: $373 million) in relation wurrent
and previous years’ awards of non-equity basedraefecompensation plans, granted to employeeseof th
Group.

On 1 December 2014, the Compensation, Managemeami@mment and Succession ((CMDS') Committee
of the Board of Directors of the Morgan Stanley Gr@pproved an approach for awards of discretionary
incentive compensation for the 2014 performance teae granted in 2015 that would reduce the aeera
deferral of such awards to an approximate baselir®%. Additionally, the CMDS Committee approved
the acceleration of vesting for certain outstandilederred cash-based incentive compensation awards.
The deferred cash-based incentive compensationdaveaubject to accelerated vesting will be distebut

on their regularly scheduled future distributiortedaand will continue to be subject to cancellatonl
clawback provisions. This approach resulted inrammease in both ‘Direct staff costs’ and ‘Managemen
charges from other Morgan Stanley Group undertakiredating to staff costs’ for the year ended 31
December 2014.
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Also included within ‘Direct staff costs’ and ‘Magement charges from other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings relating to staff costs’ are amountalling $60 million (2014: $76 million) in relatioto
pension plans (see note 36).

The average number of employees of the Group, dimefuthe Directors, is analysed below:

Number
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2015 2014

Company and institutional securities infrastructure 145 137
Business units and other 191 163
336 300
2015 2014

$millions $millions

Wages and salaries 140 185
Social security costs 14 28
Pension costs 4 7
158 220

The Group paid no remuneration to its Directordrduthe current or prior year but incurred manageme
recharges in respect of Directors’ qualifying seeg provided to the Group which are included within
‘Management charges from other Morgan Stanley Gumgertakings relating to staff costs’ within ‘Othe
expense’. The amount of remuneration received bgdiors in respect of their qualifying serviceshe
Group is disclosed in note 37.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Current tax expense
United Kingdom corporation tax charge
- current year 126 24
- adjustments in respect of prior years 44 (54)
Double taxation relief
- current year (93) -
- adjustments in respect of prior years (37) 29
Overseas tax
- current year 166 119
- adjustments in respect of prior years 114 (105)
320 13
Deferred tax (benefit)/ expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 37 (1)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (20) 23
Effect of changes in tax rates (28) 1
(112) 23
Income tax expense 309 36
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The main differences between the Group’s tax chargkthe tax charge that would have been calculated
from applying the average standard rate of corpmratax in the UK for the year of 20.25% (2014:
21.49%) are explained below:
2015 2014
$millions $millions

Profit/ (loss) before income tax 710 (677)
Income tax expense/ (credit) using the averagelatdrrate of corporation
tax in the UK of 20.25% (2014: 21.49%) 144 (145)

Impact on tax of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes:

UK bank levy 16 14
Other expenses 4 3
Carry forward of prior years' tax losses 2 1
Group relief surrendered for no cash consideration 8 115
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 58 10
Currency translation on tax - 2
Impact of change in deferred tax rate (28) -
Prior year impact of withholding tax reclaims 71 -
Other prior year adjustments 30 6
Reversal of tax reserves in respect of prior years (2) (13)
Other 6 43
Total income tax expense in the consolidated inconstgatement 309 36

The Group has a policy of surrendering tax-dedietibsses (‘group relief’) for no cash considematto
other members of the Morgan Stanley UK tax groupictv consists of entities within the Group and the
wider Morgan Stanley Group. Within the Group, a emof subsidiary companies generate tax-deductible
losses which are surrendered to Morgan Stanley aaiap outside the Group.

Finance Act 2013 enacted a reduction to the UK @@tion tax rate to 20% with effect from 1 April 2R
This reduction in the tax rate impacted the curtaxtcharge in 2015.

Finance (No. 2) Act 2015 enacted reductions intKecorporation tax rate to 19% with effect from pri\
2017 and 18% with effect from 1 April 2020. Thesductions in the tax rate will impact the curréat
charge in future periods. In addition Finance (RpAct 2015 introduced an 8% corporation tax sargk

on the profits of banking companies with effectnird January 2016 which will impact the current tax
charge of the Company in future periods.

The aggregate amount of current and deferred taxgel to other comprehensive income was $nil in
2015. In 2014 a $2 million tax expense was chargedther comprehensive income related to the
unwinding of deferred tax on net day one gains mamognised upon initial recognition of financial
instruments.
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9. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Loans and receivables 145,818 149,393
Less impairment losses (28) (46)

145,790 149,347

A reconciliation of impairment losses for loans aatyances is as follows:

At 1 January 46 45
Charge for the year (see note 7) 17 15
Reversal of impairment losses (see note 7) (20) (5)
Amounts written off (2) (8)
Foreign exchange revaluation - (1)
Reclassification of provision (23) -
At 31 December 28 46

During the year impairment losses of $23 milliotated to certain withholding tax reclaim balancese
reclassified from loans and receivables to cun@ntssets.

10. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Amounts held at exchanges 592 514
Amounts due from other Morgan Stanley Group undértss 1,209 2,702
Other amounts receivable 90 101
1,891 3,317

11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CLAS SIFIED AS HELD FOR

TRADING
2015 2014

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

$millions $millions $millions $millions

Government debt securities 11,365 10,747 10,881 8,923
Corporate and other debt 6,969 1,284 11,251 2,219
Corporate equities 40,828 23,424 37,993 15,431
Derivatives (see note 12) 187,111 181,051 235,273 231,255

246,273 216,506 295,398 257,828

There are no terms and conditions of any finarasskt or liability classified as held for tradimgt may
individually significantly affect the amount, tirgrand certainty of future cash flows for the Group.
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12.

DERIVATIVES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR TRADING

Derivative assets:

Interest rate contracts

Credit contracts

Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts

Commodity contracts

Derivative liabilities:

Interest rate contracts

Credit contracts

Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts

Commodity contracts

Derivative assets:

Interest rate contracts

Credit contracts

Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts

Commodity contracts

Derivative liabilities:

Interest rate contracts

Credit contracts

Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts

Commodity contracts

2015
Listed
Bilateral Cleared derivative
OTC oTC contracts Total
$millions $millions $millions $millions
77,298 2,761 1 80,060
10,154 4 - 10,158
62,171 295 - 62,466
24,665 - 5,253 29,918
4,438 - 71 4,509
178,726 3,060 5,325 187,111
71,645 2,854 2 74,501
10,391 7 - 10,398
61,021 238 - 61,259
26,458 - 5,241 31,699
2,811 - 383 3,194
172,326 3,099 5,626 181,051
2014
Listed
Bilateral Cleared derivative
oTC oTC contracts Total
$millions $millions $millions $millions
97,094 7,514 14 104,622
17,550 43 - 17,593
68,933 158 - 69,091
28,791 - 8,115 36,906
6,909 - 152 7,061
219,277 7,715 8,281 235,273
93,650 7,457 11 101,118
17,285 80 - 17,365
67,786 170 - 67,956
31,000 - 8,125 39,125
5,343 - 348 5,691
215,064 7,707 8,484 231,255
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13.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESI GNATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2015 2014

Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities

$millions $millions $millions $millions

Prepaid OTC contracts 491 1,060 323 1,698
Corporate loans 436 - 1,296 -
Issued structured notes - 1,371 - 1,449
Other financial assets and liabilities 709 2,434 1,741 1,984
1,636 4,865 3,360 5,131

Financial instruments designated at fair value ughoprofit or loss consist primarily of the followg
financial assets and financial liabilities:

Prepaid OTC contracts: The risk on these financial instruments, bothaficial assets and financial
liabilities, is primarily hedged using financialsinuments classified as held for trading includegity
securities and interest rate swaps. These prephf €@ntracts are designated at fair value throuwffitp
or loss as such contracts, as well as the finaimsaluments with which they are hedged, are riskaged
on a fair value basis as part of the Group’s trggiortfolio and the risk is reported to key managem
personnel on this basis.

Corporate loans:Certain loans to customers are designated at &irevthrough profit or loss because
either the risks of the loans have been matchel ettier financial instrument contracts accountedato
fair value and such a designation reduces an atiegumismatch; or as part of a documented risk
management strategy the risks of the loan are neshag a fair value basis as part of the Groupdiriga
portfolio and the risk is reported to key managenpersonnel on this basis; or because the loarraxint
itself contains an embedded derivative that mustretise be separated and measured at fair value.

Issued structured noteS:hese relate to financial liabilities which ariem selling structured products
generally in the form of notes or certificates. 3@estructured notes are designated at fair vahoigh
profit or loss as the risks to which the Group atractual party are risk managed on a fair vhkgs as
part of the Group’s trading portfolio and the riskeported to key management personnel on this.bas

Other financial assets and liabilitieF:hese include financial assets and liabilities sashihose that arise
upon the consolidation of certain special purpostities and those that arise as a result of coimtgu
recognition of certain financial assets and theusimmeous recognition of an associated financaddiliity.
These financial assets and liabilities are desaghatt fair value as the risks to which the Groumis
contractual party are risk managed on a fair vhls as part of the Group’s trading portfolio #mal risk
is reported to key management personnel on this.bas

The maximum exposure to credit risk of corporagnbas at 31 December 2015 is $436 million (2014:
$1,296 million). The cumulative change in fairu@lof loans attributable to changes in credit astounts

to $nil (2014: gain of $1 million) and the change the current year is a loss of $1 million (20g4din of

$5 million). This change is determined as the ambaf change in fair value that is not attributabde
changes in market conditions that give rise to marisk.

The change in fair value recognised through thesclisiated income statement attributable to ownitred
risk for financial liabilities designated at faialue during the year is a gain of $33 million (20g4in of
$31 million) and cumulatively is a loss of $4 nali (2014: loss of $37 million). This change is detaed
as the amount of change in fair value that is ttobatable to changes in market conditions thaegise to
market risk.

The carrying amount of financial liabilities des&jed at fair value was $14 million lower than the
contractual amount due at maturity (2014: $45 onlliower).
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14. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets that are classified as availablsdle consist of corporate equities, of which $lioml
are listed investments (2014: $2 million).

Movement in available-for-sale financial assets

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Fair value
At 1 January 42 60
Additions 1 -
Changes in fair value recognised in the availabteshle reserve 3) 4)
Disposals and other settlements (1) (14)
At 31 December 39 42

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Composition of the Group

The Group consists of a parent company, Morganl&tasa Co. International plc (“MSIP”) and a number
of subsidiaries, held directly and indirectly by NS

Details of all subsidiary undertakings are providedhe Appendix to the financial statements, idahg
changes in holdings of subsidiaries (see pages¢d381). During 2015, 14 subsidiaries were closed a
two subsidiaries were sold, see details below (2@i# subsidiaries closed and two subsidiaried)sol

In 2015, the Group disposed of two wholly ownedsidiaries, Rolympus (UK) Commodities Group Ltd
and Norwegian Energy Limited as part of the sal¢hefglobal oil merchanting unit of the commodities
division to Castleton Commaodities International LLThe subsidiaries were sold for consideration etgua
their net book value which equalled $0.02 milliéws noted in the strategic report the Group recaghis
$42 million charge relating to the cost to sell ghebal oil merchanting business. This cost is gaéged in
the consolidated income statement within ‘otheremge’.

In 2014, the Group disposed of two wholly ownedsidilaries, Morgan Stanley Cadzand Il and Morgan
Stanley Bramley Investments Limited to another Mor&tanley Group undertaking. The subsidiaries were
sold for consideration equal to their net book ealboth of which were $0.1 million, resulting in gain

or loss being recognised in the consolidated incstatement as a result of these sales.

All subsidiaries are included in the Group’s cordatied financial statements.
Information regarding interests in structured égifs included in note 16.

The Group has not committed to provided financigdport to, or otherwise agreed to be responsihie fo
supporting any subsidiary of the Group financially.
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16. INTERESTS IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES

The Group is involved with various special purpesdties (“SPE”) in the normal course of business.
most cases, these entities are deemed to be stdantities.

A structured entity is an entity that has beenglesil such that voting or similar rights are notdbeninant
factor in deciding who controls the entity. Theatpahat consolidates the structured entity isithestor
that controls the structured entity. An investonttols a structured entity when it is exposedhas the
rights, to variable returns from its involvementiwthe structured entity and has the ability teeetffthose
returns through its power over the structured gnfithe Group consolidates structured entitiegiitiols.

The Group’s interests in structured entities inelucertain debt and equity interests, commitments,
guarantees, derivative instruments and certainde@sigements. The Group’s involvement with strexiu
entities arises primarily from:

* Loans made to and investments in structured emtitiat hold debt, equity, real estate or other
assets;

« Interests purchased in connection with market-n@laativities and retained interests held as a
result of securitisation activities;

e Structuring of asset-repackaged notes designeaét the investment objectives of clients; and

« Certain derivatives entered into with structuretities.

The Group determines whether it controls, and foeeeshould consolidate, a structured entity ugsn i
initial involvement with the structured entity arehssesses whether it should continue to consela@aan
ongoing basis as long as it has any continuinglimroent with the structured entity. This determioatis
based upon an analysis of the design of the stedtentity, including the structured entity’s sture and
activities; assessment of the significance of tbevgrs to make economic decisions which are helthby
Group and its related parties and whether such mowey be used to affect its investor returns; and
consideration of the significance of direct anditiact interests in the structured entity which hedd by

the Group and its related parties.

The power to make the most significant economidsii@es may take a number of different forms. The
Group considers servicing or collateral managerdenisions as generally representing the power teema
the most significant economic decisions in tranieast such as securitisations or collateralised debt
obligations (“CDOs"). As a result, the Group doest consolidate securitisations or CDOs for which i
does not act as the servicer or collateral managiess it holds certain other rights to replacesthevicer

or collateral manager or to require the liquidatadrthe entity. In fund structures, the power teaipt or
direct the fund manager is generally the most fianit power.

For certain structured entities, such as entitielwvissued Credit Linked Notes (“CLNs”) and otlasset-
repackaged notes, there are no significant econdetisions made on an ongoing basis. In these ,dhses
Group focuses its analysis on decision making pswelating to liquidation of the entity or unwinditor
termination of the transaction structure. Basednujaators, which include an analysis of the natfréhe
assets, including whether the assets were issuadramsaction sponsored by the Group and the teafen
the information available to the Group and to inees the number, nature and involvement of inwasto
other rights held by the Group and investors, thadardisation of the legal documentation and ¢kellof
the continuing involvement by the Group, includihg amount and type of interests owned by the Group
and by other investors, the Group concluded in sofrthese transactions that decisions made pritingo
initial closing were shared between the Group dre ihitial investors. The Group focused its control
decision on any right held by the Group or investrlated to the termination of the structuredtgnti
Many CLNs and other asset repackaged notes hasaaotermination rights.

The assets owned by many consolidated structurgtiesrcannot be removed unilaterally by the Group
and are not generally available to the Group. Btated liabilities issued by many consolidatedcitrred
entities are non-recourse to the Group. In cemdier consolidated structured entities, the Groap the
unilateral right to remove assets or provide adddl recourse through derivatives such as totairmet
swaps, guarantees or other forms of involvement.
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16. INTERESTS IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

The Group accounts for the assets held by strudteméties primarily in ‘Financial assets classifis held
for trading — corporate and other debt’ and thieilitées of the structured entities as ‘Financiabilities
designated at fair value’ in the consolidated statet of financial position.

The usage of structured entities is described helow

Securitisation Activitiesln a securitisation transaction, the Group trarssissets (generally commercial or
residential mortgage loans) to a structured engigjls to investors most of the beneficial intesgstich as
notes or certificates, issued by the structuredtyerdind in many cases, retains other beneficiadrasts.
The purchase of the transferred assets by thetsteakcentity is financed through the sale of theserests.

In many securitisations, particularly those invalyiresidential mortgage loans, the Group also erit¢o
derivative transactions, primarily interest rateapw or interest rate caps with a senior paymewripyj
with the structured entity.

Credit Protection Purchased through CLNs.a CLN transaction, the Group transfers refezeassets
(generally high-quality securities or money markefestments) to a structured entity, enters into a
derivative transaction in which the structured tgntirites protection on an unrelated reference tasse
group of assets, through a credit default swapgtal return swap or similar instrument, and sedls t
investors the securities issued by the structurgitlye In some transactions, the Group may alserento
interest rate or currency swaps with the structwestity. The purchase of the transferred assetthby
structured entity is financed through the salehefgecurities issued. Upon the occurrence ofditaegent
related to the reference asset, the structuretlyenifl deliver collateral securities as the payrém the
Group. The Group is generally exposed to price gharon the collateral securities in the event ofealit
event and subsequent sale. These transactionsesigndd to provide investors with exposure to aerta
credit risk on the reference asset. The structéitbeotransaction determines the accounting treatnia
some transactions, the assets and liabilities ef gtructured entity are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. In other tratisas, the transfer of the collateral securitieadgsounted
for as a sale of assets, and the structured estitypt consolidated. CLNs are included in ‘Other’the
tables below.

Collateralised Loan and Debt Obligation# collateralised loan obligation (“CLO") or a CD® a
structured entity that purchases a pool of assstssisting of corporate loans, corporate bondsstass
backed securities or synthetic exposures on siragaets through derivatives, and issues multiplectres
of debt and equity securities to investors. Theclpase of the assets by the structured entitynentied
through the issuance of the tranches of securitielse Group underwrites the securities issued i©CL
transactions on behalf of unaffiliated sponsors nides advisory services to these unaffiliajgonsors.
The Group sells corporate loans to many of thesectsired entities, in some cases representing a
significant portion of the total assets purchaskdhecessary, the Group may retain unsold seesrifsued
in these transactions. Although not obligated,@neup generally makes a market in the securifesed
by structured entities in these transactions. @Hasneficial interests are included in Financiaets
classified as held for trading.

Equity-Linked Notedn an equity-linked note transaction the Groupdgfly transfers to a structured entity
either a note issued by the Group, the paymentshoch are linked to the performance of a specifjaity
security, equity index or other index, or debt siims issued by other companies and a derivatbrdract,
the terms of which will relate to the performandeaspecific equity security, equity index or otledex.
These transactions are designed to provide invgestih exposure to certain risks related to theciioe
equity security, equity index or other index. Theqghase of the transferred note or debt secutityethe
structured entity is financed through the sale gfiity interests to investors. Equity-linked noteg a
included in ‘Other’ in the tables below.

Fund Investmentsln a fund investment structure the Group providéients with indirect access to
specified underlying investments through total metswaps. The investments are purchased and kedd b
structured entity in which the Group holds an ies¢r The structured entity is financed throughshie of
notes to investors.
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16. INTERESTS IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidated structured entities
As at 31 December 2015 the Group did not have aogtsired entities that it consolidated (2014:.nil)

Unconsolidated structured entities

The Group has interests in structured entities that Group does not control and are therefore not
consolidated.

The Group’s transactions with unconsolidated stmaxt entities primarily include securitisationsedit
protection purchased through CLNs, other structufiméncings and collateralised loan and debt
obligations. The Group’s interests in structuretlties that it does not consolidate can include enship

of retained interests in Group-sponsored transastimterests purchased in the secondary markét oo
Group-sponsored transactions and transactions gpahdy third parties), and certain derivativeshwit
securitisation structured entities. The risks aisged with derivatives entered into with structuesdities
are essentially the same as similar derivativel man-structured entity counterparties and are gechas
part of the Group’s overall exposure.

The table below shows certain non-consolidatedsirad entities in which the Group had an intea¢ 1
December 2015 and at 31 December 2014. The taidksle all structured entities in which the Gro@s h
determined that its maximum exposure to loss istgrethan specific thresholds or meets certainrothe
criteria. Most of the structured entities includedhe tables below are sponsored by unrelatetiepathe
Group’s involvement generally is the result of Gup’s secondary market-making activities.

Mortgage and  Collateralised

asset-backed debt Fund
securitisations obligations investments Other Total
$millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions
31 December 2015
Structured entity assets that the Group
does not consolidate (unpaid principal
balance) 10,351 4,637 2,791 74 17,853
Maximum exposure to loss:
Debt and equity interests 488 116 - 28 632
Derivative and other contracts - - 2,791 39 2,830
Total maximum exposure to loss 488 116 2,791 67 3,462
Carrying value of exposure to loss -
assets?:
Debt and equity interests 488 116 - 28 632
Derivative and other contracts - - 8 5 13
Total carrying value of exposure to loss
- assets 488 116 8 33 645
Carrying value of exposure to loss -
liabilities
Derivative and other contracts - - 12 - 12

Total carrying value of exposure to loss
- liabilities - - 12 - 12

@ Amounts are recognised in the consolidated stateofdinancial position in financial assets olbiiities classified as held for
trading — derivatives or financial assets or lidie# classified as held for trading — corporatd ather debt.
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16. INTERESTS IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Unconsolidated structured entities (continued)

Mortgage and  Collateralised

asset-backed debt Fund
securitisations obligations investments Other Total
$millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions
31 December 2014
Structured entity assets that the Group
does not consolidate (unpaid principal
balance) 18,375 4,106 2,576 95 25,152
Maximum exposure to loss:
Debt and equity interests 922 124 - 16 1,062
Derivative and other contracts - - 2,576 35 2,611
Total maximum exposure to loss 922 124 2,576 51 3,673
Carrying value of exposure to loss -
assets?:
Debt and equity interests 922 124 - 16 1,062
Total carrying value of exposure to loss
- assets 922 124 - 16 1,062
Carrying value of exposure to loss -
liabilities @
Derivative and other contracts - - 13 2 15

Total carrying value of exposure to loss
- liabilities - - 13 2 15

@ Amounts are recognised in the consolidated statemiefinancial position in financial assets orbiiities classified as held for
trading — derivatives or financial assets or lidie# classified as held for trading — corporatd ather debt.

The Group’s maximum exposure to loss often diffeosn the carrying value of the interests held by th
Group. The maximum exposure to loss is dependett® nature of the Group’s interest in the strariu
entities and is limited to the notional amountseitain liquidity facilities, other credit suppotttal return
swaps, written put options, and the fair value eftain other derivatives and investments the Grioap
made in the structured entities. Liabilities issumdstructured entities generally are non-recotiosthe
Group. Where notional amounts are utilised in gifing maximum exposure related to derivatives,hsuc
amounts do not reflect fair value write downs aleeecorded by the Group.

The Group’s maximum exposure to loss does not diecthe offsetting benefit of any financial instrurte
that the Group may utilise to hedge these riskedated with the Group’s interests. In additione th
Group’s maximum exposure to loss is not reducethbyamount of collateral held as part of a transact
with the structured entity or any party to the stowed entity directly against a specific expogorss.

52



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

16. INTERESTS IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

Unconsolidated structured entities (continued)

Securitisation transactions generally involve dticed entities. Primarily as a result of its seamd
market-making activities, the Group owned additi@eturities issued by securitisation structuretitiea

for which the maximum exposure to loss is less tecific thresholds. These additional securitibsciv
were retained in connection with transfers of assgtthe Group totalled $527 million at 31 December
2015 (2014: $513 million). Details of the type etarities retained are shown in the table below.

2015 2014
$millions  $millions
Securities backed by:

Residential mortgage loans 275 262
Commercial mortgage loans 41 86
CDOs or other CLOs 142 100
Other consumer loans 69 65

527 513

The Group’s primary risk exposure is to the semsitssued by the structured entity owned by theu@r
with the risk highest on the most subordinate clafsbeneficial interests. These securities generaie
included in Financial assets classified as heldrfading — corporate and other debt. The Groufs ot
provide additional support in these transactiomsubh contractual facilities, such as liquidity iféies,
guarantees or similar derivatives. The Group’s maxn exposure to loss generally equals the fairevafu
the securities owned.

The Group has not provided financial support topthierwise agreed to be responsible for suppogamg
unconsolidated structured entity financially

Sponsored unconsolidated structured entities

The Group considers itself the sponsor of certaam-consolidated structured entities where it was
primarily involved in the establishment of a stureid entity and additionally where the Group hasnbe
involved in the transfer of assets; servicer of dkeets; ability to access the assets; marketiagaging
activities; purchasing protection or providing egpl guarantees; when Morgan Stanley’'s name is
associated with the structured entity or where miaplarticipants may generally expect Morgan Statdey
be associated with the structured entity.

In some sponsored entities, the Group has beetvedavith the structured entity through establighihe
structured entity, marketing of products associatgtth the structured entity in its own name, and/ o
through involvement in the design of the structuesdity, however the Group has no interest in these
entities as at 31 December 2015 (2014: none).

The gain related to sponsored entities issuingtgdjunked notes during 2015 was $2 million (201dsd of
$0.7 million). Gains/ (losses) are reported uritlet gains on financial instruments classified atdhfor
trading’ in the consolidated income statement. Nsets were transferred to sponsored structuretlesnti
during 2015 (2014: $nil).
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2015 Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings and

improvements equipment Total
$millions $millions $millions
Cost
At 1 January 2015 21 21 42
Additions - 1 1
Foreign exchange revaluation Q) (2) 3)
Disposals - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2015 20 19 39
Depreciation
At 1 January 2015 20 18 38
Charge for the year 1 1 2
Foreign exchange revaluation (2) 3) (5)
Disposals - 1 1
At 31 December 2015 19 17 36
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 1 2 3
2014 Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings and
improvements equipment Total
$millions $millions $millions

Cost
At 1 January 2014 25 23 48
Additions 1 1 2
Foreign exchange revaluation (2 (2) (4)
Disposals (3) (1) (4)
At 31 December 2014 21 21 42
Depreciation
At 1 January 2014 23 20 43
Charge for the year 2 1 3
Foreign exchange revaluation (2) (2) (4)
Disposals (3) (1) (4)
At 31 December 2014 20 18 38
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2014 1 3 4
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18. SUBORDINATED LOANS

Counterparty Repayment Date Interest Rate 2015 2014
$millions $millions

LIBOR® plus
Morgan Stanley UK Financing | LP31 October 2025 1.475% 7,906 7,906

(1) London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR")

The amount outstanding under the subordinated émgaement is repayable at any time at the Group’s
option, subject to appropriate notice to the leratat at least three months’ notice to the PRA.

The Group has not defaulted on principal, interestmade any other breaches with respect to its
subordinated loan during the year.

19. OTHER PAYABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Amounts due to other Morgan Stanley Group undeantgki 11,397 13,870

Other amounts payable 191 264
11,588 14,134

20. PROVISIONS

Property Litigation Other Total
$millions $millions  $millions $millions

At 1 January 2015 5 1 37 43
Additional provisions - 6 8 14
Provisions utilised (D) (5) (28) (34)
Unused provisions reversed - (1) - (1)
Foreign exchange revaluation - - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2015 4 1 16 21

Property

Property provisions represent the net present valwexpected future costs of excess office spaee ¢h
sublease income) and the net present value of ®gdéature costs of reinstating leasehold improvasme
at the end of the lease term. Lease reinstatepnenisions are released when the reinstatemengatimins
have been fulfilled. The related asset for leasi@statement provisions is included in ‘Leasehold
improvements’ within ‘Property, plant and equipménbte 17).

Litigation matters

In addition to the matters described below, inlbemal course of business, the Group has been named
from time to time, as a defendant in various leglons, including arbitrations, class actions atiter
litigation, arising in connection with its active§ as a global diversified financial services tostn.
Certain of the actual or threatened legal actionkite claims for substantial compensatory andéoiitive
damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of dasidn some cases, the entities that would otlserwi
be the primary defendants in such cases are bandrip financial distress.
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20. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
Litigation matters (continued)

The Group is also involved, from time to time, ither reviews, investigations and proceedings (both
formal and informal) by governmental and self-regoity agencies regarding the Group’s business, and
involving, among other matters, sales and tradiatvities, financial products or offerings sponghre
underwritten or sold by the Group, and accounting aperational matters, certain of which may result
adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penaltipgdtions or other relief.

The Group contests liability and/or the amount aimdges as appropriate in each pending matter. Where
available information indicates that it is probaldeliability had been incurred at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the Groupreasonably estimate the amount of that loss, tloets
accrues the estimated loss by a charge to incoime.Group’s future legal expenses may fluctuate from
period to period, given the current environmentarding government investigations and private liiga
affecting global financial services firms, includithe Group.

In many proceedings and investigations, howevas, iitherently difficult to determine whether amg$ is
probable or even possible, or to estimate the atmfuemy loss. The Group cannot predict with caittaif,

how or when such proceedings or investigations baéllresolved or what the eventual settlement, fine,
penalty or other relief, if any, may be, partichjafor proceedings and investigations where thdufalc
record is being developed or contested or wheratgfa or government entities seek substantial or
indeterminate damages, restitution, disgorgememteoalties. Numerous issues may need to be resolved
including through potentially lengthy discovery armtktermination of important factual matters,
determination of issues related to class certificatind the calculation of damages or other retief] by
addressing novel or unsettled legal questions aeleto the proceedings or investigations in quastio
before a loss or additional loss or range of lossadditional loss can be reasonably estimated for a
proceeding or investigation. Subject to the foragpithe Group believes, based on current knowleahge
after consultation with counsel, that the outcomeuwrh proceedings and investigations will not have
material adverse effect on the consolidated firdrmdndition of the Group, although the outcomewdh
proceedings or investigations could be materiatht® Group’s operating results and cash flows for a
particular period depending on, among other thitigss,level of the Group’s revenues or income farhsu
period.

Over the last several years, the level of litigateamd investigatory activity (both formal and infwl) by
government and self-regulatory agencies has ineceasaterially in the financial services industrys A
result, the Group expects that it may become thgestiof increased claims for damages and othésfrel
and, while the Group has identified below certaincgeedings that the Group believes to be material,
individually or collectively, there can be no asswe that additional material losses will not beumed
from claims that have not yet been asserted on@irget determined to be material.

On 15 July 2010, China Development Industrial B&ikDIB") filed a complaint against the Group and
another Morgan Stanley Group undertaking, stylétha Development Industrial Bank v. Morgan Stanley
& Co. Incorporated et aJ.which is pending in the Supreme Court of the &StftNew York, New York
County. The complaint relates to a $275 milliondirelefault swap referencing the super senior portf

the STACK 2006-1 CDO. The complaint asserts cldmnsommon law fraud, fraudulent inducement and
fraudulent concealment and alleges that the Grongh @nother Morgan Stanley Group undertaking
misrepresented the risks of the STACK 2006-1 CDCCRIB, and that the Group and another Morgan
Stanley Group undertaking knew that the assetsihgtke CDO were of poor quality when it enteretdin
the credit default swap with CDIB. The complaintels® compensatory damages related to the
approximately $228 million that CDIB alleges it halseady lost under the credit default swap, resmis

of CDIB’s obligation to pay an additional $12 mulfi, punitive damages, equitable relief, fees argisco
On 28 February 2011, the court denied the Groupts another Morgan Stanley Group undertaking’'s
motion to dismiss the complaint.
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20. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
Litigation matters (continued)

On 1 July 2013, the European Commission (“EC”) ésba Statement of Objections (“SO”) addressed to
twelve financial firms (including the Group), thetérnational Swaps and Derivatives Association, amol
Markit Group Limited and various other Morgan SegniGroup undertakings alleging that, between 2006
and 2009, the recipients breached European Uniompettion law by taking and refusing to take certai
actions in an effort to prevent the developmergxathange traded credit default swap products. Tioei;
other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings and theratbcipients of the SO filed a response to theo80O
21 January 2014, and attended oral hearings béfiereEC during the period 12-19 May 2014. On 4
December 2015, the EC announced that it had clidseghtitrust investigation into the twelve finaaici
firms, including the Group and the other Morgam&ig Group undertakings.

In May 2014, the California Attorney General’'s @#i (“CAAG"), which is one of the members of the
Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities (“RMBS”) Wiog Group, indicated that it has made certain
preliminary conclusions that the Morgan Stanley pranade knowing and material misrepresentations
regarding RMBS and that it knowingly caused matemgsrepresentations to be made regarding the
Cheyne SV, which issued securities marketed taQhikfornia Public Employees Retirement System. The
CAAG has further indicated that it believes the §am Stanley Group’s conduct violated California law
and that it may seek treble damages, penaltiesrundctive relief. The Morgan Stanley Group does$ no
agree with these conclusions and has presentedasf¢éo them to the CAAG.

The Group is also responding to a number of regofednd governmental inquiries in the UK, the U8 an
elsewhere related to its foreign exchange business.

Beginning in December 2013, several foreign exchaeglers (including certain Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings) were named as defendants in mulgiptported antitrust class actions most of whichehav
now been consolidated into a single proceedinénlinited States District Court for the Southeratiiit

of New York styledin Re Foreign Exchange Benchmark Rates Antitrusgjdtion. On 16 July 2015,
plaintiffs filed an amended complaint (which inchedthe Group as a named defendant) generally afjegi
that defendants engaged in a conspiracy to fixntaai or make artificial prices for key benchmaaltes,

to manipulate bid/ask spreads, and, by their belavn the OTC market, to thereby cause correspandi
manipulation in the foreign exchange futures markdaintiffs seek declaratory relief as well asbtee
damages in an unspecified amount. Defendants &ledotion to dismiss the amended complaint on 30
November 2015.

Other provisions

Provisions have been raised in relation to centzatters that the Group may be required to settlbedralf
of clients or in relation to its own account. Threaunt of these provisions reflect the most likedyiraate
within an identified range of possible outcomes.
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporargdifices under the liability method. The movement in
the deferred tax account is as follows:

2015 2014
Deferred Deferred  Deferred Deferred
tax tax tax tax
asset liability asset liability
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
At 1 January 86 Q) 115 3)
Amount recognised in the consolidated income
statement 10 (22) (24) 1
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income (1) - (2) 1
Impact of changes in tax rates recognised in the
consolidated income statement 28 - (1) -
Impact of changes in tax rates recognised in other
comprehensive income - - - -
Foreign exchange adjustment (3) - (2) -
At 31 December 120 (23) 86 (1)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidatatement of financial position, certain defertad
assets and liabilities have been offset. The dedetax included in the consolidated statementrafricial
position and changes recorded in ‘Income tax exg@eare as follows:

Deferred Deferred Consolidated Deferred Deferred Consolidated

tax tax income tax tax income
asset liability statement asset liability statement
2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
Accelerated capital 4 - 1 5 - -
allowances
Deferred compensation 15 - 1 17 - 4
Tax losses carried forward - - 9 6 - 11
Forecast currency hedges - (1) - - (1) (1)
Amounts not recognised 2 - - 3 - -
due to unobservable
market data
Deferred interest 95 - (42) 54 - 5
Unrealised gains/ (losses) - (22) 22
Other temporary differences 4 - 3) 1 - 4
120 (23) (112) 86 (1) 23

Finance (No. 2) Act 2015 enacted reductions inltKecorporation tax rate to 19% with effect from pri\
2017 and 18% with effect from 1 April 2020 and aistvoduced an 8% corporation tax surcharge on the
profits of banking companies with effect from 1 dary 2016. These changes to corporation tax rates
impacted the deferred tax charge and closing defeex position for 2015.
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21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The deferred tax assets recognised are based cageraent assessment that it is probable that thepGro
will have taxable profits against which the tempymifferences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognisedpeatsf the following items (amounts shown aretaba
end of the reporting period):

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Unused tax losses 15 8

The aggregate amount of temporary differences @gsdcwith investments in subsidiaries and branches
for which deferred tax liabilities have not beeoagnised is $nil (2014: $nil).

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Group has entered into non-cancellable comuleleases on premises and equipment. These leases
have lives ranging from one to seven years. Thsde on the premises include renewal options and
escalation clauses in line with general rental miacknditions and rent adjustments based on pritieds.

The lease agreements do not contain contingentpagmhent clauses or purchase options and they o no
impose any restrictions on the Group’s ability &y plividends, engage in debt financing transactmms
enter into further lease agreements.

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Lease payments under non-cancellable operatingdeas
recognised as an expense in the year
- Minimum lease payments 6 7

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellapkrating leases at 31 December are dt
follows:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Within one year 7 7
In the second to fifth years inclusive 23 22
After five years 4 5
34 34

Contingent liability relating to tax

The tax position of a subsidiary undertaking of tBeoup is currently under review by the Dutch tax
authorities. The review has not progressed sufftgieo determine the timings of resolution or Hrmount

of any outflow. The current estimate of the maximamount payable, if any, arising from this review i
$135 million, plus potential interest of $36 milio
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)

Other commitments and contingent liabilities

At 31 December, the Group had the following outdtap commitments and contingent liabilities arising
from off-balance sheet financial instruments:

Contingent liabilities 2015 2014
$millions $millions
Guarantees 982 962
Letters of credit 1 1
983 963
Commitments 2015 2014
$millions $millions
Loan commitments 1,983 1,815
Underwriting commitments - 290
Forward starting reverse repurchase agreenfénts 18,391 24,797
Forward starting repurchase agreenténts 11,630 19,580
32,004 46,482

(1) Forward starting reverse repurchase agreementsseg the value of unsettled securities purchaseér agreements to rédse
which have a trade date at or prior to 31 Decerb&b and settle subsequent to period end.

(2) Forward starting repurchase agreements reprasentalue of unsettled securities under agreemergporchase, which hawe
trade date at or prior to 31 December 2015 antesmtbsequent to period end.

23. EQUITY
Class A
Ordi nary Ordinary ordinary
shares of $I shares of £  shares of $! Additional Total equity
each each each Tier 1 capital instruments
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2014 9,934 30 1,500 - 11,464
Issued in the year:
Additional Tier 1 capital - - - 1,300 1,300
At 31 December 2014 9,934 30 1,500 1,300 12,764
At 1 January 2015 9,934 30 1,500 1,300 12,764
Issued in the year:
Ordinary shares of $1 each issued 1 - - - 1
At 31 December 2015 9,935 30 1,500 1,300 12,765
Voting rights at 31 December 2015 99.7%" 0.3%% Non-voting Non-voting 100%

(1) Ordinary shares are pari passu with each oftgardless of currency and together car§0% of the voting right
(2014: 100%)
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23. EQUITY (CONTINUED)
Equity instruments

On 20 January 2015 1,000,000 ordinary shares &fa$h were issued at par, to the Company’s immediate
parent undertaking for cash consideration.

At 31 December 2015 the total equity instrumentssgue of the Company equated to $12,765 million
(2014: $12,764 million) comprising 9,935,105,14812: 9,934,105,148) ordinary shares of $1 each,
17,615,107 (2014: 17,615,107) ordinary shares ogéddh, 1,500,000,000 (2014: 1,500,000,000) Class A
Non-voting ordinary shares of $1 each and Additidrar 1 capital instruments of $1,300,000,000 01
$1,300,000,000). All equity instruments are fudbid.

Ordinary shares

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitletbéeive dividends as declared from time to time ared
entitled, on a show of hands, to one vote and, pallaone vote per share at meetings of the shddels
of the Company. All shares rank equally with regarthe Company’s residual net assets.

All ordinary shares are recorded at the rates ohamge ruling at the date the shares were paid up.
Additional Tier 1 capital

The Additional Tier 1 capital instruments (the ‘tinsnents”) include a trigger mechanism wherebyhé
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio of the Companjlsf below a pre-determined level, the Group will
write-down the outstanding principal amount of thetruments, together with any accrued interespoou

In this situation, Morgan Stanley UK Group, the ghaser of the Instruments, would have no furthghts
against the Group in respect of the Instrumentg Mistruments have no defined maturity, are cadlaibl
the Group’s discretion after five years from thed@te of issuance and are subordinated to seniditare
and subordinated loan creditors of the Group. Tisrlments are not entitled to any participatiorhie
residual net assets of the Group. Coupons on gteuments are non-cumulative and payable at a fiatl
of 9% per annum following an initial rate of intstef 8.75% per annum, applied up to and includtg
January 2015. Payment of the coupon is wholly edikcretion of the Group.

A payment of coupon interest was approved by ther@of Directors on 22 January 2015 (see note 24).

Reserves

Share premium

The ‘share premium account’ comprises the capéided in an issue of shares that exceeds the nbmina
value of the shares.

Currency translation reserve

The ‘currency translation reserve’ comprises aléign exchange differences arising from the traimsiaof
the total assets less total liabilities of foreigperations. The tax effect of these movementslse a
included in the ‘currency translation reserve’.

The Group hedges foreign exchange exposure affigingits investments in foreign branch operatiogs b
utilising forward foreign currency exchange contsaeffected through intercompany accounts with lagrot
Morgan Stanley Group undertaking.

Available-for-sale reserve

The ‘available-for-sale reserve’ includes the cuatiue net change in the fair value of availablesate
financial assets held at the reporting date. Theetfect of these movements is also included in the
‘available-for-sale reserve’.
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23.  EQUITY (CONTINUED)
Reserves (continued)
Capital contribution reserve

The ‘capital contribution reserve’ comprises cdnitions of capital from the Group’s parent compamy
subsidiaries of the Group.

Capital redemption reserve

The ‘capital redemption reserve’ represents transfe prior years from retained earnings in accocga
with relevant legislation.

Pension reserve

The ‘pension reserve’ comprises cumulative actugais or losses on scheme assets and obligaieins
of current tax and the impact of the asset surpdiling (see note 36).

24. DIVIDENDS

On 22 January 2015, the Directors approved a coppgment on the Additional Tier 1 capital instrurgen
of $14,850,694 out of reserves available for distibn at 31 December 2014. The coupon was paigOon
January 2015, and resulted in a tax benefit of &8849. The payment was reflected in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year éigsleDecember 2015 as it became due during 2015.

The Directors have not proposed the payment afia flividend out of reserves available at 31 Dea@mb
2015 (2014: $nil).

25. ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

a. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statementash dlows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following balances, which have less than three l®mnaturity from the date of acquisition:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Cash and short-term deposits 11,882 11,671
Bank loans and overdrafts - (15)
11,882 11,656

Included within ‘Cash and short term deposits’ 487 million (2014: $8,384 millionpf segregated
client money, held in accordance with the FCA’se@ti Money Rules, and an amount of $534 million
(2014: $747 million) which represents other cliemney, that is not available for use by the Groijhe
corresponding payable is recognised and includedliade payables’ within ‘Financial liabilities at
amortised cost'.
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25. ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

b. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating actiities
2015 2014
Note $millions $millions
Profit/(loss) for the year 401 (713)
Adjustments for:
Net gains on available-for-sale financial assets 4 - (1)
Net impairment movement on financial assets 7 7 10
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 17 2 3
Interest income (restatéd) (130) (368)
Interest expense (restated) 690 598
Income tax expense 8 309 36
Operating cash flows before changes in operatisgtagnd
liabilities 1,279 (435)
Changes in operating assets
Decrease in loans and receivables, excluding cagistaort term
deposits 3,531 6,956
Decrease in financial assets classified as helttdding 49,125 33,076
Decrease in financial assets designated at failevi@rough profit
or loss 1,724 4,313
54,380 44,345
Changes in operating liabilities
Decrease in financial liabilities at amortised ¢cestcluding bank
loans and overdrafts (13,154) (14,506)
Decrease in financial liabilities classified aschfdr trading (41,322) (22,786)
Decrease in financial liabilities designated at f@ilue through
profit or loss (266) (7,992)
(Decrease)/ increase in provisions (22) 13
(54,764) (45,271)
Interest received 203 720
Interest paid (555) (830)
Income taxes paid (120) (136)
Effect of foreign exchange movements a77) 29
Net cash flows from/ (used in) operating activities 246 (1,578)

(1) Details of the restatement are provided in 12ote
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26. EXPECTED MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets ahitlities analysed according to when they are exgubtd

be recovered, realised or settled.

At 31 December 2015

ASSETS

Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits
Cash collateral on securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets classified as held for trading

Financial assets designated at fair value througfitfor loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and accrued income

Property, plant and equipment

LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Cash collateral on securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Trade payables
Subordinated loans
Other payables

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin

Financial liabilities designated at fair value thgb profit or loss
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Accruals and deferred income

Post-employment benefit obligations

Less than
or equal More than
to twelve twelve
months months Total
$millions  $millions  $millions
11,882 - 11,882
22,433 - 22,433
,60%8 35 58,644
50,940 - 50,940
1,299 592 1,891
145,163 627 145,790
20 - 246,273
1,091 545 1,636
- 39 39
185 - 185
- 120 120
38 - 38
- 3 3
392,750 1,334 394,084
14,875 1,393 16,268
5584, 3,453 38,011
82,065 - 82,065
- 7,906 7,906
4,570 7,018 11,588
136,068 19,770 155,838
216,506 - 216,506
3,376 1,489 4,865
- 21 21
101 - 101
- 23 23
197 - 197
- 6 6
356,248 21,309 377,557
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At 31 December 2014

ASSETS

Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits
Cash collateral on securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets classified as held for trading

Financial assets designated at fair value througfitfor loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and accrued income

Property, plant and equipment

LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts
Cash collateral on securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Trade payables
Subordinated loans
Other payables

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin

Financial liabilities designated at fair value thgb profit or loss
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Accruals and deferred income

Post-employment benefit obligations

Less than
or equal More than
to twelve twelve
months months Total
$millions  $millions  $millions
11,671 - 11,671
20,691 - 20,691
, 7258 - 58,724
54,944 - 54,944
2,803 514 3,317
148,833 514 149,347
, 295 - 295,398
2,589 771 3,360
- 42 42
217 - 217
- 86 86
72 - 72
- 4 4
447,109 1,417 448,526
15 - 15
17,499 - 17,499
8442, 3,067 45911
83,561 - 83,561
- 7,906 7,906
10,968 3,166 14,134
154,887 14,139 169,026
257,828 - 257,828
3,269 1,862 5,131
- 43 43
105 - 105
- 1 1
199 - 199
- 5 5
416,288 16,050 432,338
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27. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information is presented in respect of Gneup’s business and geographical segments. The
business segments and geographical segments &g drashe Group’s management and internal reporting
structure. Transactions between business segmentsanormal commercial terms and conditions.

Business segment

Morgan Stanley structures its business segmentsapty based upon the nature of the financial pobsiu
and services provided to customers and Morgan Staninternal management structure. The Group’s own
business segments are consistent with those ofdndBganley.

Consistent with the year ended 2014, the Group dvas reportable business segment, Institutional
Securities, which includes provides financial adwsand capital raising services; corporate lendgades,
trading, financing and market-making activitieseiuity and fixed income securities and related pets]
including foreign exchange and commodities; anéatiment activities.

Geographical segments
The Group operates in three geographic regiongleEA, the Americas and Asia.

The following table presents selected consolidatetbme statement and consolidated statement of
financial position information of the Group’s optoas by geographic area. The external revenustsafin
interest expense) and total assets disclosed ifotlwaving table reflect the regional view of thedsp’s
operations, on a managed basis. The basis fabuditrg external revenues (net of interest expease)
total assets is determined by a combination ofitked trading desk location.

EMEA Americas Asia Total

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions  Smillions

External
revenues
net of interest 4,284 3,850 57 21 110 10 4,451 3,881

Profit / (loss)

before
income tax 633 (599) 42 (18) 35 (60) 710 (677)
Total assets 284,119306,460 59,102 89,042 50,863 53,024 394,084 448,526
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management procedures

Risk is an inherent part of the Group’s busineswiac The Group seeks to identify, assess, maoratad
manage each of the various types of risk involvedts business activities in accordance with define
policies and procedures. The Group has develogedwh risk management policy framework, which is
consistent with and leverages the risk managemalitigs and procedures of the Morgan Stanley Group
and which include escalation to the Group’s Boafdwectors and to appropriate senior management
personnel of the Group.

Significant risks faced by the Group resulting frigsntrading, financing and investment activities aet
out below.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising wherborrower, counterparty or issuer does not miset i
financial obligations to the Group.

Credit risk management policies and proceduresbkstiathe framework for ensuring transparency of
material credit risks, ensuring compliance withabshed limits and escalation of risk concentragido
appropriate senior management.

The Group primarily incurs credit risk exposurartstitutions primarily through its Institutional 84rities
segment. This risk may be incurred through a war@t activities, including, but not limited to, the
following:

* entering into derivative contracts under which deyparties have obligations to make payments
to the Group;

* extending credit to clients through lending comneitis;

* providing short or long-term funding that is seauby physical or financial collateral whose
value may at times be insufficient to fully covhe loan repayment amount;

* posting margin and/ or collateral to clearing haustearing agencies, exchanges, banks,
securities firms and other financial counterparties

¢ placing funds on deposit at other financial insititas to support the Group’s clearing and
settlement obligations; and

* investing or trading in securities and loan powlsereby the value of these assets may fluctuate
based on realised or expected defaults on the lyimgobligations or loans.

Monitoring and control

In order to help protect the Group from losses,@hedit Risk Management Department establishes- firm
wide practices to evaluate, monitor and controtlitnesk exposure at the transaction, obligor aodfplio
levels. The Credit Risk Management Department amwoextensions of credit, evaluates the
creditworthiness of the Group’s counterparties bodowers on a regular basis, and ensures thait cred
exposure is actively monitored and managed. Theuatian of counterparties and borrowers includes an
assessment of the probability that an obligor défault on its financial obligations and any suhsayg
losses that may occur when an obligor defaultsaaddition, credit risk exposure is actively managgd
credit professionals and committees within the @rRtsk Management Department and through various
risk committees, whose membership includes indaisifrom the Credit Risk Management Department.

A Credit Limits Framework is utilised to managediteisk levels across the Group. The Credit Lanit
Framework is calibrated within the Group’s risketi@nce and includes single-name limits and poatfoli
concentration limits by country, industry and prodtype. The Credit Risk Management Department
ensures transparency of material credit risks, dampe with established limits and escalation ekri
concentrations to appropriate senior management.
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Credit risk (continued)

The Credit Risk Management Department also worksety with the Market Risk Department and
applicable business units to monitor risk exposumed to perform stress tests to identify, analyseé a
control credit risk concentrations arising in theo®’s lending and trading activities. The stréssts
shock market factors (e.g. interest rates, commaqglices, credit spreads), risk parameters (e.fautte
probabilities and loss given default), recoveryesaand expected losses in order to assess thetimfpac
stresses on exposures, profit and loss, and thepGraapital position. Stress and scenario tems a
conducted in accordance with established Grougigsliand procedures.

Credit Evaluation

The evaluation of corporate and institutional cegparties includes assigning obligor credit ratingisich
reflect an assessment of an obligor's probabilitydefault and loss given default. Credit evaluagion
typically involve the assessment of financial staets, leverage, liquidity, capital strength, asset
composition and quality, market capitalisation, essxcto capital markets, the adequacy of collatéfral,
applicable, and in the case of certain loans, dksi projections and debt service requirements.e Th
Credit Risk Management Department also evaluatestegly, market position, industry dynamics,
management and other factors that could affectothigor’s risk profile. Additionally, the Credit Rk
Management Department evaluates the relative pasitf the Group’s exposure in the borrower’s cdpita
structure and relative recovery prospects, as waglladequacy of collateral (if applicable) and other
structural elements of the particular transaction.

In addition to assessing and monitoring its crediposure and risk at the individual obligor lewvibie
Group also reviews its credit exposure and rislgeographic regions. As at December 2015, credit
exposure was concentrated in North American, Asiath Western European countries. In addition, the
Group pays particular attention to smaller exposumeemerging markets given their unique risk peofi
Country ceiling ratings are derived using methodi@e generally consistent with those employed by
external rating agencies.

The Group also reviews its credit exposure andtasgertain types of customers. At 31 Decembei5201
the Group’s material credit exposure was to cerdi@dring counterparties, corporate entities, seiger
related entities and financial institutions.

Risk Mitigation

The Credit Risk Management Department may seekitigate credit risk from its lending and trading
activities in multiple ways, including collateralqvisions, guarantees and hedges. At the transaleti@|,

the Credit Risk Management Department seeks t@atéirisk through management of key risk elements
such as size, tenor, financial covenants, seniarity collateral. The Group actively hedges its ilegp@nd
derivatives exposure through various financial rimsients that may include single-name, portfolio and
structured credit derivatives. Additionally, theo@p may sell, assign or syndicate funded loans and
lending commitments in the primary and secondaay Imarket. In connection with its derivatives tregi
activities, the Group generally enters into mastetting agreements and collateral arrangements with
counterparties. These agreements provide the Gnatlpthe ability to demand collateral, as well as t
liquidate collateral and offset receivables andahdsgs covered under the same master agreemeng in th
event of a counterparty default.
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o Securities purchased under agreements to reselkandrities borrowed

The Group manages credit exposure arising fromrgexsu purchased under agreements to resell and
securities borrowed transactions by, in appropratumstances, entering into master netting agee¢sn
and collateral agreements with counterpartiesghatide the Group, in the event of a counterpaetiadit,

with the right to net a counterparty’s rights arigations under such agreement and liquidate ahdf§
collateral held by the Group against the net amawmtd by the counterparty. Under these securities
purchased under agreements to resell and secusi@ewed transactions, the Group receives colijter
including US government and agency securities, roogereign government obligations, corporate and
other debt and corporate equities. The Group m@snitors the fair value of the underlying secustas
compared with the related receivable or payableuding accrued interest, and, as necessary, resques
additional collateral to ensure such transactiogasadequately collateralised.

. Derivatives

The Group may seek to mitigate credit risk fromd&sivatives transactions in multiple ways, inchgli
documentation, collateral provisions, guaranteestatdges. At the transaction level, the Group séek
mitigate risk through management of key risk eletwesuch as size, tenor, financial covenants, signior
and collateral. The Group actively hedges its @dgnies exposure through various financial instrutsien
that may include single-name, portfolio and streetlucredit derivatives. The Group may enter intstea
netting agreements and collateral arrangements agitinterparties. These master netting agreemedts an
collateral arrangements may provide the Group thighability to demand collateral, as well as twidate
collateral and offset receivables and payables remveinder the same master netting agreement in the
event of counterparty default. The Group monitonge treditworthiness of counterparties to these
transactions on an ongoing basis and requests i@uditcollateral in accordance with collateral
arrangements when deemed necessary.

Exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk (“gross crediposure”) of the Group as at 31 December 2015 is
disclosed below, based on the carrying amountdeffihancial assets the Group believes are subject
credit risk. Exposure arising from financial instrents not recognised on the consolidated stateafent
financial position is measured as the maximum arnthat the Group could have to pay, which may be
significantly greater than the amount that wouldréeognised as a liability. Where the Group enieis
credit enhancements, including receiving cash &cdrity as collateral and master netting agreemémnts
manage the credit exposure on these financialum&nts the financial effect of the credit enhanaemes
also disclosed below. The net credit exposure sgmits the credit exposure remaining after the etiec
the credit enhancements. The “unrated” balancieriMaximum exposure to credit risk by credit rgtin
represents the pool of counterparties that eitbenat require a rating or are under review in agance
with the Group’s rating policies. These counteriparindividually generate no material credit expesu
and this pool is highly diversified, monitored asubject to limits.

Financial assets classified as held for tradinglughing derivatives, are subject to traded creddik r
through exposure to the issuer of the financiattaghe Group manages this issuer credit risk tinaits
market risk management infrastructure and thisslactedit risk is incorporated within the VaR bassi
measures included in the market risk disclosure.
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Exposure to credit risk by class:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

2015 2014
Gross Net Gross Net
credit Credit credit credit Credit credit
exposuré®  enhancements exposure® exposure™  enhancements exposure®
$millions $millions  $millions  $millions $millions  $millions
Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits 11,882 - 11,882 11,67 - 11,671
Cash collateral on securities
borrowed 22,433 (21,116) 1,317 20,691 (19,770) 921
Securities purchased under
agreements to resell 58,644 (57,951) 693 58,724 (57,640) 1,084
Trade receivables) 50,940 - 50,940 54,944 - 54,944
Other receivables 1,209 - 1,209 2,702 - 2,702
Financial assets classified as
held for trading:
Derivatives 187,111 (178,730) 8,381 235,273 (224,980) 10,293
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss 1,636 (958) 678 3,360 (1,760) 1,600
333,855 (258,755) 75,100 387,365 (304,150) 83,215
Unrecognised financial
instruments
Guarantees 982 - 982 962 - 962
Letters of credit 1 - 1 1 - 1
Loan commitments 1,983 - 1,983 1,815 - 1,815
Underwriting commitments - - - 290 - 290
Unsettled securities purchased
under agreements to regejl 18,391 - 18,391 24,797 - 24,797
355,212 (258,755) 96,457 415,230 (304,150) 111,080

(1) The carrying amount recognised in the consteidlestatement of financial position best represémsGroup's maximui

exposure to credit risk.

(2) Of the residual net credit exposure, intercomypeross product netting arrangements are in pideh would allow for a
additional $2,716 million (2014: $2,928 million) be offset in the event of default by certain Mar@tanley counterparties.

(3) Trade receivables primarily include cash celiak pledged against the payable on OTC derivgsitions. These de@ative
liabilities are included within financial liabilés classified as held for trading in the consodidatatement of financial position.

(4) For unsettled securities purchased under agneeta resell, collateral in the form of securitw be received at # point of
settlement. Since the value of collateral is debeed at a future date it is currently unquantitaénd not included in the table.

The impact of master netting arrangements and airagreements on the Group’s ability to offsetricial
assets and financial liabilities is further diseldsn note 31.
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Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk by credit ratiflg
Gross credit exposure

2015 2014
Credit rating: $millions $millions
AAA 12,013 14,895
AA 62,608 72,747
A 203,875 246,673
BBB 52,808 54,410
BB 13,923 15,736
B 5,164 3,849
CCcC 2,448 2,671
D 12 -
Unrated 2,361 4,249

355,212 415,230

(1) Internal credit rating derived using method@sggenerally consistent with those used by exteatimg agencies.
Financial assets past due but not impaired

At 31 December 2015, $1,180 million of financialsets included in loans and receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position weastpdue but not impaired (31 December 2014: $1,005
million). The balance at 31 December 2014 has beweised to reflect additional trading related bakm
which are generally not more than 30 days past due.

The main considerations for the impairment assessimelude whether there are any known difficulties
the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating dgrades, or infringement of the original terms loé t
contract. The Group determines the allowance apt@pfor each individually significant asset on an
individual basis. Items considered when determiniegallowance amount include the sustainabilitihef
counterparty’s business plan, the counterpartyibtyalto improve performance once a financial diffity
has arisen, the realisable value of collateral, thediming of expected cash flows. The impairmesses
are evaluated at least at each reporting date.

Financial assets individually impaired

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Loans and receivables:
Trade receivables 28 22
Other receivables - 24
28 46
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Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity and funding risk refers to the risk ththe Group will be unable to finance its operatidns to a
loss of access to the capital markets or difficuttyiquidating its assets. Liquidity and fundingk also
encompasses the Group’s ability to meet its firemabligations without experiencing significant lmess
disruption or reputational damage that may thre#tenGroup’s viability as a going concern. Market o
idiosyncratic stress events may negatively affaet Group’s liquidity and may impact its ability taise
new funding. Generally, the Group incurs liquickiyd funding risk as a result of its trading, irtiregsand
client facilitation activities.

The Morgan Stanley Group’s Liquidity Risk ManagemEramework is critical to helping ensure that the
Group maintains sufficient liquidity reserves andgable funding sources to meet its daily obligadiamd

to withstand unanticipated stress events. In 26 Morgan Stanley Group established the LiquiBityk
Department as a distinct area in Risk Management/#éssee and monitor liquidity and funding risk.eTh
Liquidity Risk Department is independent of the ihass units and reports to the Chief Risk OffiGére
Liquidity Risk Department ensures transparency afemal liquidity and funding risks, compliance kit
established risk limits and escalation of risk @ntcations to appropriate senior management. Toutge
these responsibilities, the Liquidity Risk Departie

e establishes limits in line with the Morgan Stan@&soup’s risk appetite;

« identifies and analyses emerging liquidity and fagdisks to ensure such risks are appropriately
mitigated;

e monitors and reports risk exposures against medridslimits, and,;

« reviews the methodologies and assumptions undengrthe Morgan Stanley Group’s Liquidity
Stress Tests to ensure sufficient liquidity anddfag under a range of adverse scenarios.

The liquidity and funding risks identified by thepeocesses are summarised in reports producedeby th
Liquidity Risk Department that are circulated todadiscussed with the EMEA Assets/ Liability
Management Committee (“ALCO"), EMEA Risk Committaled the MSI Risk Committee as appropriate.

The Treasury Department and applicable businests urave primary responsibility for evaluating,
monitoring and controlling the liquidity and fundirrisks arising from the Morgan Stanley Group’s
business activities, and maintain processes analai®io manage the key risks inherent in theipeetive
areas. The Liquidity Risk Department coordinatethwhe Treasury Department and the business wnits t
help ensure a consistent and comprehensive frankel@omanaging liquidity and funding risk acrosg th
Morgan Stanley Group.

The Group’s liquidity and funding risk managementiges and procedures are consistent with those of
the Morgan Stanley Group. The Board of Directorshef Group is ultimately responsible for estabhghi
the liquidity risk tolerance and ensuring the Grsumuidity risk is appropriately managed. In &th to

the internal liquidity risk management framewottke tGroup is locally subject to the liquidity regidas
prescribed by the PRA. The Group has daily momitprand reporting processes in place to ensure
compliance with its regulatory requirements.

The primary goal of the Group’s liquidity risk afidnding management framework is to ensure that the
Group has access to adequate funding across a rafdge of market conditions. The framework is
designed to enable the Group to fulfil its finahadligations and support the execution of its bhass
strategies.

The following principles guide the Group’s liquigiand funding risk management framework:

¢ Sufficient liquid assets should be maintained teecamaturing liabilities and other planned and
contingent outflows;

* Maturity profile of assets and liabilities shoulé lhligned, with limited reliance on short-term
funding;
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Liquidity and funding risk (continued)
* Source, counterparty, currency, region, and terfurding should be diversified; and

e Liquidity Stress Tests should anticipate, and antfar, periods of limited access to funding.

The core components of the Group’s liquidity anddimg risk management framework, are the Required
Liquidity Framework, Liquidity Stress Tests and thiquidity Reserve (as defined below), which sugpor
its target liquidity profile.

Required Liquidity Framework

The Required Liquidity Framework reflects the amoahliquidity the Group must hold in both normal
and stressed environments to ensure that its fialanondition and overall soundness is not advgrsel
affected by an inability (or perceived inability) mmeet its financial obligations in a timely mann€he
Required Liquidity Framework considers the most st@ining liquidity requirement to satisfy all
regulatory and internal limits at a Morgan StarBrpup and legal entity level.

Liquidity Stress Tests

The Group uses Liquidity Stress Tests to modelidity inflows and outflows across multiple scenario
over a range of time horizons. These scenariotgorarious combinations of idiosyncratic and eyst
stress events of different severity and duratidre ethodology, implementation, production and ysisl
of the Group’s Liquidity Stress Tests are importomponents of the Required Liquidity Framework.

The assumptions underpinning the Liquidity Stresst3 include, but are not limited to, the following
* no government support;
e no access to equity and unsecured debt markets;
« repayment of all unsecured debt maturing withingtness horizon;
< higher haircuts and significantly lower availalyildf secured funding;

« additional collateral that would be required bydirey counterparties, certain exchanges and clearing
organisations related to credit rating downgrades;

» additional collateral that would be required duectdlateral substitutions, collateral disputes and
uncalled collateral;

« discretionary unsecured debt buybacks;

e drawdowns on lending commitments provided to thadties;

« client cash withdrawals and reduction in custonhertspositions that fund long positions;
« limited access to the foreign exchange swap markats

« maturity roll-off of outstanding letters of credhvith no further issuance.

Liquidity Stress Tests are produced for the Grotap,capture specific cash requirements and cash
availability. The Liquidity Stress Tests assumat th legal entity will use its own liquidity firéd fund its
obligations before drawing liquidity from its ultate parent undertaking, Morgan Stanley. Morganl&ya
will support its subsidiaries and will not have @sg to subsidiaries’ liquidity reserves that arejestt to

any regulatory, legal or tax constraints. In additto the assumptions underpinning the LiquidityeSs
Tests, the Group takes into consideration theesedht risk related to intra-day settlement andririgeof
securities and financing activities.

At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the Gnaoaiptained sufficient liquidity to meet current
and contingent funding obligations as modelledsriLiquidity Stress Tests.
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Liquidity Reserve

The Group maintains sufficient liquidity reservésiquidity Reserve”) to cover daily funding needsdato
meet strategic liquidity targets sized by the RezfliLiquidity Framework and Liquidity Stress Tesfhe
size of the Liquidity Reserve is actively managgdhe Group. The following components are considere
in sizing the Liquidity Reserve: unsecured debtumigt profile, balance sheet size and composition,
funding needs in a stressed environment inclusivaontingent cash outflows and collateral requiretee

In addition, the Group’s Liquidity Reserve includesliscretionary surplus based on risk toleranckisin
subject to change dependent on market and firmifgpegents.

The Group holds its own Liquidity Reserve whicltaanposed of diversified cash and cash equivalerds a
unencumbered highly liquid securities. Eligibleennumbered highly liquid securities include highly
liquid non-US government securities in addition W& government securities and other highly liquid
investment grade securities.

Funding Management

The Group manages its funding in a manner thatcesithe risk of disruption to the Group’s operation
The Group pursues a strategy of diversificatiosefured and unsecured funding sources (by proluct,
investor and by region) and attempts to ensurethigatenor of the Group’s liabilities equals or exds the
expected holding period of the assets being findnce

The Group funds itself through diverse sourceseséhsources may include equity capital, long-teett,d
securities sold under agreements to repurchasaritses lending, deposits, commercial paper, lstiaf
credit and lines of credit. The Group has activeficing programmes for both standard and structured
products, targeting global investors and currencies

Balance sheet management

In managing both the Morgan Stanley Group’s and@Gheup’s funding risk the composition and size of
the entire statement of financial position, nott jfieancial liabilities, is monitored and evaluatedd
substantial portion of the Morgan Stanley Grouptalt assets consists of liquid marketable secsriied
short-term receivables arising principally from thmstitutional Securities business segment’'s sales
trading activities. The liquid nature of theseeasprovides the Morgan Stanley Group and the Gvatip
flexibility in managing the size of its statemefifiaancial position.

Maturity analysis

In the following maturity analysis of financial baities, derivative contracts and other finandiabilities
held as part of the Group’s trading activities presented at fair value, consistent with how tHaesecial
liabilities are managed, and disclosed as on demR2advatives not held as part of the Group’s tnadi
activities and financial liabilities designatedfair value through profit or loss are disclosedading to
their earliest contractual maturity; all such amsuare presented at their fair value, consistett Wwow
these financial liabilities are managed. All othenounts represent undiscounted cash flows payatiileeb
Group arising from its financial liabilities to di@st contractual maturities as at 31 December 201531
December 2014. Repayments of financial liabilitieat are subject to immediate notice are treateif as
notice were given immediately and are classifiedaslemand. This presentation is considered by the
Group to appropriately reflect the liquidity riskising from those financial liabilities, presenteda way
that is consistent with how the liquidity risk drese financial liabilities is managed by the Group.
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Liquidity and funding risk (continued)

Equalstc Equal to
ormore ormore Equal to
than 1 than3  or more
month months than1l Equalto
but less butless yearbut or more
On Less than than 3 than1l less than than 5
demand 1 month months year 5 years years Total
31 December 2015 $millions $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Cash collateral on securities
loaned 12,571 216 706 1,382 1,393 - 16,268
Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 20,642 5,739 2,614 5,581 3,474 - 0588,
Trade payables 82,065 - 1 31 - 82,105
Subordinated loans - - - 178 1,016 9,357 10,551
Other payables 4,426 14 29 244 4,976 2,760 92,44
Financial liabilities classified as held
for trading:
Derivatives 181,051 - - - - - 181,051
Other 35,455 - - - - - 35,455
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 2,571 148 86 571 561 928 4,865
Total financial liabilities 338,781 6,117 3,436 7,964 11,451 13,045 380,794
Unrecognised financial instruments
Guarantees 982 - - - 982
Letters of credit - - - - - 1 1
Loan commitments 1,983 - - - 1,983
Lease commitments - 1 2 23 4 34
Unsettled securities purchased under
agreements to resell 18,228 163 - - - - 18,391
Total unrecognised financial
instruments 21,193 164 2 4 23 5 21,391

(1) The Group enters into forward starting reverse rmepase agreements (agreements which have a traéelextdar prior to 31
December 2015 and settle subsequent to period eftgse agreements primarily settle within thresiless days and of the

total amount at 31 December 2015, $18,228 millettied within three business days.
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Equalto  Equal to
ormore  ormore Equalto

than 1 than 3 or more
month months thanl Equal to
but less butless year but or more
On Lessthan than 3 than1l less than than 5
demand 1 month months year 5 years years Total
31 December 2014 $millions $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts 15 - - - - - 15
Cash collateral on securities loaned 15,687 826 525 461 - - 17,499
Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase 21,210 10,692 4,551 6,430 3,092 - 45,975
Trade payables 83,561 - - - - - 83,561
Subordinated loans - - - 145 1,088 9,785 11,018
Other payables 4,277 6 13 6,483 306 3,722 14,807
Financial liabilities classified as held 1
trading:
Derivatives 231,255 - - - - - 231,255
Other 26,573 - - - - - 26,573
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 2,007 461 111 690 9,11 743 5,131
Total financial liabilities 384,585 11,985 5,200 14,209 5,605 14,250 435,834
Unrecognised financial instruments
Guarantees 962 - - - - - 962
Letters of credit - - - - - 1 1
Loan commitments 1,815 - - - - - 1,815
Underwriting commitments - - 290 - - - 290
Lease commitments - 1 1 5 22 5 34
Unsettled securities purchased under
agreements to reséfl 24,333 464 - - - - 24,797
Total unrecognised financial
instruments 27,110 465 201 5 22 6 27,899

(1) The Group enters into forward starting reverse mepase agreements (agreements which have a traeledar prior to 31
December 2014 and settle subsequent to period efltBse agreements primarily settle within thresiress days and of the
total amount at 31 December 2014, $24,333 millettied within three business days.

The Group does not expect that all of the cashdlassociated with financial guarantees, lettergedits
and loan commitments will be required.

Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of losses for a fiosior portfolio due to changes in rates, foreggehange,
equities, implied volatilities, correlations or ethmarket factors.

Sound market risk management is an integral pathefGroup’s culture. The Group is responsible for
ensuring that market risk exposures are well-mashagel monitored. The Group also ensures transparenc
of material market risks, monitors compliance westablished limits, and escalates risk concentratto
appropriate senior management.
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Market risk (continued)

To execute these responsibilities, the Group momitts market risk against limits on aggregate risk
exposures, performs a variety of risk analysegjnely reports risk summaries and maintains the \dag
scenario analysis methodologies. These limits asigded to control market risk. Market risk is also
monitored through various measures: using statigtitcluding VaR and related analytical measurkg);
measures of position sensitivity; and through meistress testing and scenario analyses. The alatekis
identified by these processes are summarised g@adtegl to senior management.

The market risk management policies and procedarale Group are consistent with those of the Morg
Stanley Group and include escalation to the Grolgward of Directors and appropriate management
personnel.

Primary market risk exposures and market risk mamagnt

During the year, the Group had exposures to a waage of market risk factors related to the global
markets in which it conducts its trading activiti@hese market risk factors include interest raie eredit
spread risk, equity prices, foreign exchange raed commodity prices and the associated implied
volatilities.

The Group is exposed to interest rate and cred@asprisk as a result of its market making actsitand
other trading in interest rate sensitive finanamstruments (e.g. risk arising from changes in lehel of
interest rates, the shape of the yield curve arditspreads)The activities from which those exposures
arise and the markets in which the Group is adtickide, but are not limited to, the following: porate
and government debt across both developed and emengarkets and asset-backed debt (including
mortgage-related securities).

The Group is exposed to equity price and impliethtdy risk as a result of making markets in egui
securities and derivatives and maintaining othesitipms (including positions in non-public entifjes
Positions in non-public entities may include, brg aot limited to, exposures to private equity, tuee
capital, private partnerships, real estate fundbs@her funds. Such positions are less liquid, Hanger
investment horizons and are more difficult to hettgm listed equities.

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange rate mptied volatility risk as a result of making markeén
foreign currencies and foreign currency derivatifeam maintaining foreign exchange positions arahf
holding non-US dollar-denominated financial instants.

The Group is exposed to commodity price and implieldtility risk as a result of market-making adiies
and maintaining commaodity positions (such as irderand refined oil products, natural gas, eletyrieind
precious and base metals). Commodity exposuresusject to periods of high price volatility as aut of
changes in supply and demand. These changes czaubed by weather conditions, physical production,
and transportation; or geopolitical and other ev¢hat affect the available supply and level of dethfor
these commaodities.

The Group manages its trading positions by emptpyanvariety of risk mitigation strategies. These
strategies include diversification of risk exposuesnd hedging. Hedging activities consist of thecpase

or sale of positions in related securities andrfaial instruments, including a variety of derivatiproducts
(e.g., futures, forwards, swaps and options). Heglgctivities may not always provide effective gatiion
against trading losses due to differences in thiedgspecific characteristics or other basis ritles may
exist between the hedge instrument and the risksaxe that is being hedged. The Group manages and
monitors its market risk exposures in such a watpasaintain a portfolio that the Group believesvill-
diversified in the aggregate with respect to marisit factors and that reflects the Group’s aggregesk
tolerance, as established by the Group’s Boardirefdibrs.
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Market risk (continued)

Aggregate market risk limits have been approvedherGroup. Additional market risk limits are asgd,

as appropriate, to trading desks, products andflegions. The trading division and the Market Risk
Department monitor market risk measures againstslim accordance with policies set by the Board of
directors and senior management.

VaR

The Group uses the statistical technique known @R ®s one of the tools used to measure, monitor and
review the market risk exposures of its tradingtfotios. The Market Risk Department calculates and
distributes daily VaR-based risk measures to varleuels of management.

VaR methodology, assumptions and limitations

The Group estimates VaR using a model based ortilitgladjusted historical simulation for general
market risk factors and Monte Carlo simulationriame-specific risk in corporate shares, bonds,sl@en
related derivatives. The model constructs a distidim of hypothetical daily changes in the valudratling
portfolios based on the following: historical obssion of daily changes in key market indices dreot
market risk factors; and information on the sewgitiof the portfolio values to these market rigictor
changes. The Group’s VaR model uses four yealtsstdrical data with a volatility adjustment to |t
current market conditions. A set of internal piss&s and controls ensure that all trading positimaked

by the Group are being included in VaR. Managenv@aR is computed at a 95% level of confidence over
a one day time horizon, which is a useful indicaibpossible trading losses resulting from advelaiéy
market moves. The 95%/one-day VaR correspondsetaiirealised loss in portfolio value that, based o
historically observed market risk factor movementsjld have been exceeded with a frequency of 5%, o
five times in every 100 trading days, if the polifavere held constant for one day.

The Group uses VaR as one of a range of risk mamaigietools. Among their benefits, VaR models permit
estimation of a portfolio’s aggregate market rigk@sure, incorporating a range of varied markédsrand
portfolio assets. One key element of the VaR maslehat it reflects risk reduction due to portfoli
diversification or hedging activities. However, VdRs various limitations, which include but are not
limited to: use of historical changes in markek figctors, which may not be accurate predictorfutifre
market conditions, and may not fully incorporate tlisk of extreme market events that are outsized
relative to observed historical market behaviouredtect the historical distribution of results loey the
95% confidence interval; and reporting of lossea Bingle day, which does not reflect the risk @$ipons

that cannot be liquidated or hedged in one daysnfall proportion of market risk generated by tradin
positions is not included in VaR. The modeling bé trisk characteristics of some positions relies on
approximations that, under certain circumstancesldcproduce significantly different results frohmose
produced using more precise measures. VaR is mpsbariate as a risk measure for trading positions
liquid financial markets and will understate thekriassociated with severe events, such as peribds o
extreme illiquidity. The Group is aware of these ather limitations and, therefore, uses VaR ag onk
component in its risk management oversight proc&bss process also incorporates stress testing and
scenario analyses and extensive risk monitoringlyais, and control at the trading desk, divisientity

and global levels.

The Group’s VaR model evolves over time in respdnsehanges in the composition of trading portfelio
and to improvements in modelling techniques andesys capabilities. The Group is committed to
continuous review and enhancement of VaR methodedoand assumptions in order to capture evolving
risks associated with changes in market structncedynamics. As part of regular process improvement
additional systematic and name-specific risk factmay be added to improve the VaR model's abibty t
more accurately estimate risks to specific asseisels or industry sectors.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Market risk (continued)

VaR (continued)

Since the reported VaR statistics are estimatescbas historical data, VaR should not be viewed as
predictive of the Group’s future revenues or firahperformance or of its ability to monitor and mage
risk. There can be no assurance that the Groupimlalosses on a particular day will not exceed\th®
amounts indicated below or that such losses willao@ur more than five times in 100 trading daysé&o
95%/one-day VaR. VaR does not predict the magnitofldosses that, should they occur, may be
significantly greater than the VaR amount.

Sensitivity analysis
VaR for the year ended 31 December 2015

The table below presents the Management VaR foGttweip’s Trading portfolio on a year-end, average
and annual high and low basis for 31 December 20531 December 2014.

The Credit Portfolio VaR is disclosed as a separategory from the Primary Risk Categories ancuides
loans that are carried at fair value and associdtedges as well as counterparty credit valuation
adjustments and related hedges.

95%/ one-day VaR for the year 95%/ one-day VaR for the year
ended 31 December 2015 ended 31 December 2014
Period end  Average High Low Periodend Average High Low

$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions

Market risk category:
Interest rate

and credit spread 10 14 20 10 12 12 16 9
Equity price 12 14 38 10 13 12 15 10
Foreign exchange
rate 2 6 12 2 4 3 6 2
Commodity price 2 2 3 - 1 1 4 -
Less diversification
benefitV® (8) (14) N/A N/A (12) (11) N/A N/A
Primary Risk
Categories 18 22 42 16 18 17 21 14
Credit Portfolid® 6 6 8 5 6 6 8 4

Less diversification
benefit?® (4) (5) N/A N/A (3) (4) N/A N/A

Total Management
VaR 20 23 43 17 21 19 24 15

(1) Diversification benefit equals the difference betweastalttrading VaR and the sum of the VaRs for the fisk categories
This benefit arises because the simulateddaelosses for each of the four primary market dategories occur on differe
days; similar diversification benefits also aregalnto account within each category.

(2) N/A - Not Applicable. The minimum and maximunaiR values for the total VaR and each of the compioaRsmight
have occurred on different days during the yearthatefore the diversification benefit is not aplagable measure.

(3) The Credit Portfolio VaR is disclosed as a safgacategory from the Primary Risk Categories iactides loans that are
carried at fair value and associated hedges asawelbunterparty credit valuation adjustments aftated hedges.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)
VaR (continued)

The Group’s average VaR for Primary Risk Categofas2015 was $22 million compared with $17
million for 2014. The increase in average VaR Roimary Risk Categories is primarily due to incexhs
exposure to interest rate along with equity prisk.r

The average Credit Portfolio VaR for 2015 was $Bion unchanged compared with 2014.
The average total VaR for 2015 was $23 million canag with $19 million for 2014.
Non-trading risks for the year ended 31 Decembdi520

The Group believes that sensitivity analysis isappropriate representation of the Group’s non-trgdi
risks. Reflected below is this analysis, which aev&ubstantially all of the non-trading risks ie tGroup’s
portfolio.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s VaR excludes certain funding liabiktignd money market transactions. The applicaticen of
parallel shift in interest rates of 50 basis pointsease or decrease to these positions, wouldt iesa net
gain or loss of approximately $1.8 million as atlB3dcember 2015, compared to a net loss or gai2af $
million as at 31 December 2014.

Counterparty exposure related to own spreads

The credit spread risk relating to the Group’s omark-to-market derivative counterparty exposure is
managed within the VaR from 2015. The credit spmésidsensitivity of this exposure correspondearo
increase in value of approximately $2.7 million &ach 1 basis point widening in the Group’s cregiead
level as at 31 December 2014.

Funding liabilities
The credit spread risk sensitivity of the Group’arkito-market funding liabilities corresponds to an

increase in value of approximately $0.3 million &1 million for each 1 basis point widening ire th
Group’s credit spread level at 31 December 20153ndecember 2014 respectively.

Equity investments price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk as alrefichanges in the fair value of its investmeint$isted
and private equities classified as available-fde-§mancial assets. These investments are preduoiin
equity positions with long investment horizons, thajority of which are for business facilitationrpases.
The market risk related to these investments issorea by estimating the potential reduction in net
revenues associated with a 10% decline in asse¢vas shown in the table below.

31 December 201531 December 2014
10% sensitivity 10% sensitivity
$millions $millions

Available-for-sale financial assets 4 4
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency exposure arisingnfforeign operations. The majority of this foreign
currency risk has been hedged by other membetsedfibrgan Stanley Group, primarily Morgan Stanley,
by utilising forward foreign currency exchange cants.

The Group also has foreign currency exposure arisom its trading activities in currencies othleat US
dollars. It actively manages this exposure by heglgiith other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings.

The analysis below details the foreign currencyosxpe for the Group, by foreign currency, relatinghe
retranslation of its non-US dollar denominated bhas and subsidiaries. The analysis calculates the
impact on total comprehensive income of a reasgnpbsésible parallel shift of the foreign currency i
relation to the US dollar, with all other variablesld constant. This analysis does not take intowaat the
effect of the foreign currency hedges held by othembers of the Morgan Stanley Group.

2015 2014
Sensitivity to applied Sensitivity to applied
percentage change in percentage change in
currency (+/-) currency (+/-)

Foreign Percentage Other Foreign Percentage Other
currency change comprehensive currency change comprehensive
exposure applied income exposure applied income
$millions % $millions $millions % $millions
Australian Dollar (35) 14% (5) (52) 14% @)
British Pound (85) 6% (5) (29) 6% (2)
Euro 248 12% 30 264 12% 32
Taiwan New Dollar 68 6% 4 67 8% 6
Polish Zloty 2 17% - 3 17% 1
South Korean Won 191 8% 15 205 8% 17
Swedish Krona 13 21% 3 14 21% 3
Swiss Franc 11 12% 1 9 12% 1
413 43 481 51

The reasonably possible percentage change in thency rate in relation to US dollars has beenuwated
based on the greatest annual percentage changetliwe®d year period from 1 January 2011 to
31 December 2015 (2014: 1 January 2010 to 31 Deeeg@i4). Thus, the percentage change applied may
not be the same percentage as the actual chanige aurrency rate for year ended 31 December 28x15,
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The Group also has foreign currency exposure arisom its trading activities and assets and liaed in
currencies other than US dollars, which it activelgnages by hedging with other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings.
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29. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS, INCLUDING PLEDGE S OF COLLATERAL
Transferred financial assets that are not derecogeed in their entirety

In the ordinary course of business, the Group seritéo various arrangements including selling sitiesr
under agreements to repurchase, purchasing sesuuitider agreements to resell, securities borr@amed
securities loaned to, amongst other things, acgsé@urities to cover short positions and settleeioth
securities obligations, to accommodate customexsta and to finance the Group’s inventory positions

The Group pledges certain financial instrumentsaitateralise repurchase agreements and otherisesur
financings. Pledged financial instruments that lsarsold or repledged by the secured party ardifdeh
as financial instruments classified as held foditig (pledged to various parties) in the consoédat
statement of financial position. The Group hasdrined that it retains substantially all the risked
rewards of these financial instruments includingdar risk, settlement risk, country risk and markisk,
and therefore has not derecognised them. In addliili recognises a financial liability in respexdtthe
consideration received.

Other financial assets transferred that continugetoecognised for accounting purposes includegalsaf

securities as collateral for derivative transaction otherwise, as well as certain sales of séesniith

related transactions, such as derivatives, thatlitrés the Group retaining substantially all theks and
rewards of the financial assets transferred. Ichstases the Group recognises a financial liabitity
respect of the consideration received.

These transactions are mostly conducted under atdradyreements used by financial market particgpant
and are undertaken with counterparties subjechéoGroup’s normal credit risk control processese Th
resulting credit exposures are controlled by dailgnitoring and collateralisation of the position$he
carrying amount of the associated financial lidiedi related to financial assets transferred tbaticue to

be recognised is $41,269 million (2014: $45,953iom).

The following table presents those financial assdtech have been sold or otherwise transferred, but
which for accounting purposes remain recognisedhen consolidated statement of financial position.
Positions presented below are shown prior to thEaghof offsetting assets and liabilities of thensaype,
whilst the consolidated statement of financial posiis presented after the impact of offsettingtsu
positions.

2015 2014
$millions $millions

Financial assets classified as held for trading
Government debt securities 13,088 14,568
Corporate and other debt 1,657 5,625
Corporate equities 32,044 30,548
46,789 50,741
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30. FINANCIAL ASSETS ACCEPTED AS COLLATERAL

The Group’s policy is generally to take possessibeecurities received as collateral, securitiesipased
under agreements to resell and securities borroWwee.Group monitors the fair value of the underyin
securities as compared with the related receivabfeayable, including accrued interest, and, agssary,
requests additional collateral to ensure such aeimns are adequately collateralised. Where ddeme
appropriate, the Group’s agreements with thirdiparspecify its rights to request additional celtat.
These transactions are mostly conducted under atdndocumentation used by financial market
participants.

The fair value of collateral accepted under thesangements as at 31 December 2015 was $182,810
million (2014: $188,375 million). Of this amount %1,318 million (2014: $139,243 million) has beeldso

or repledged to third parties in connection witlaficing activities, or to comply with commitmentsder
short sale transactions.

31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUB JECT TO OFFSETTING

In order to manage credit exposure arising fronbitsiness activities, the Group applies variouditresk
management policies and procedures, see note 28uifthrer details. Primarily in connection with
securities purchased under agreements to resellsandrities sold under agreements to repurchase,
securities borrowed and securities loaned trarmastand derivative transactions, the Group entdcs i
master netting arrangements and collateral arraagenwith its counterparties. These agreementsgaov
the Group with the right, in the ordinary coursebokiness and/ or in the event of a counterpartgulte
(such as bankruptcy or a counterparty’s failurep&y or perform), to net a counterparty’s rights and
obligations under such agreement and, in the eveobunterparty default, set off collateral helg the
Group against the net amount owed by the countgtpafowever, in certain circumstances, the Group
may not have such an agreement in place; the mdémaolvency regime (which is based on type of
counterparty entity and the jurisdiction of orgamisn of the counterparty) may not support the
enforceability of the agreement; or the Group mmot have sought legal advice to support the
enforceability of the agreement. In cases where @roup has not determined an agreement to be
enforceable, the related amounts are not offséiartabular disclosures. The Group’s policy isegalty

to take possession of securities purchased undeemgnts to resell and securities borrowed, and to
receive securities and cash posted as collateithh (ights of rehypothecation), although in certaases

the Group may agree for such collateral to be ploste third party custodian under a tri-party agement
that enables the Group to take control of suchaterél in the event of a counterparty default. The
enforceability of the master netting agreementalsen into account in the Group’s risk management
practices and application of counterparty creditits. The Group also monitors the fair value of th
underlying securities as compared with the rela¢egivable or payable, including accrued interast, as
necessary, requests additional collateral as peovidnder the applicable agreement to ensure such
transactions are adequately collateralised.

In the consolidated statement of financial positifimancial assets and financial liabilities ardyooffset
and presented on a net basis where there is antuegally enforceable right to set off the reccgai
amounts and an intention to either settle on a badis or to realise the asset and the liability
simultaneously. In the absence of such conditibnancial assets and financial liabilities aregeneted on

a gross basis.

The following tables present information about diftsetting of financial instruments and relatediaigral
amounts. The tables do not include informationualfmancial instruments that are subject only to a
collateral agreement. The effect of master netingngements, collateral agreements and otheit cred
enhancements, on the Group’s exposure to crelitsidisclosed in note 28.
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31. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUB JECT TO OFFSETTING

(CONTINUED)

Amounts

offsetinthe  Netamount:  Amounts not offset in the
consolidatec presented intht  consolidated statement of

statement o consolidatec financial position ® ®
financial statement o . .
Gross position financial Financial Cash Net
amounts® @O position  instruments  collateral  exposure®
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
31 December 2015
Asset:
Loans and receivables:
Cash collateral on securities

borrowed 37,141 (14,708) 22,433 (21,116) - 1,317
Securities purchased under

agreement to resell 78,218 (19,574) 58,644 (57,951) - 693
Financial assets classified as

held for trading:

Derivatives 232,096 (44,985) 187,111 (151,591) (27,139) 8,381
TOTAL 347,455 (79,267) 268,188 (230,658) (27,139) 10,391
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost:

Cash collateral on securities

loaned 30,976 (14,708) 16,268 (16,234) - 34
Securities sold under

agreement to repurchase 57,585 (19,574) 38,011 (35,808) - 2,203
Financial liabilities
classified

as held for trading:

Derivatives 223,016 (41,965) 181,051 (147,725) (23,139) 10,187
TOTAL 311,577 (76,247) 235,330 (199,767) (23,139) 12,424

(1) Amounts include $773 million of cash collateva securities borrowed, $450 million of secustjgurchased under agreements

@)

©)

4)

®)
(6)

to resell, $2,786 million of financial assets cifisd as held for trading - derivatives, $10 miliof cash collateral on securities
loaned, $2,038 million of securities sold undereagnents to repurchase and $2,908 million of fir@r@bilities classified as
held for trading — derivatives which are either salbject to master netting agreements or collatggaements or are subject to
such agreements but the Group has not determieeabtieements to be legally enforceable.

Amounts are reported on a net basis in the dioleded statements of financial position when ¢hisr a legally enforceable
master netting arrangement that provides for aeotimight of offset and there is an intention tinei settle on a net basis or to
realise the asset and liability simultaneously.

Amounts include $4,351 million of cash colladerelated to financial assets classified as hetdtifading — derivatives and
$1,258 million of cash collateral related to finadiabilities classified as held for trading —ril&tives, recognised in amounts
offset in the consolidated statement of financ@difions for assets and liabilities respectively.

Amounts relate to master netting arrangemants collateral arrangements which have been detedriby the Group to be
legally enforceable but do not meet all criterigiuieed for net presentation within the consolidastatement of financial
position.

The cash collateral not offset is recognisedhi@ consolidated statement of financial positiathiw trade receivables and
payables respectively.

Of the residual net exposure, intercompanyssmseduct legally enforceable netting arrangemeangsin place which would
allow for an additional $2,716 million to be offgetthe ordinary course of business and/ or inetvent of default.
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31.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUB JECT TO OFFSETTING
(CONTINUED)
Amounts offser

inthe  Netamounts  Amounts not offset in the
consolidatec presented inthe  gnsolidated statement of
statement o consolidatec  financial position® ® ©

financial statement o Fi ial Cash
Gross position financial inancia as Net
amounts® @6 position  instruments  collateral  exposure!”
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
31 December 2014
Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash collateral on securities

borrowed 39,701 (19,010) 20,691 (19,770) - 921
Securities purchased under

agreement to resell 86,595 (27,871) 58,724 (57,640) - 1,084
Financial assets classified as

held for trading:

Derivatives 296,542 (61,269) 235,273 (194,201) (30,717) 10,355
TOTAL 422,838 (108,150) 314,688 (271,611) (30,717) 12,360
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost:

Cash collateral on securities

loaned 36,509 (19,010) 17,499 (17,415) - 84
Securities sold under

agreement to repurchase 73,782 (27,871) 45911 (42,344) - 3,567
Financial liabilities
classified

as held for trading:

Derivatives 284,398 (53,143) 231,255 (195,083) (24,015) 12,157
TOTAL 394,689 (100,024) 294,665 (254,842) (24,015) 15,808

@

@

(©)

4)

®)

(6)

@)

Amounts include $697 million of cash collatemn securities borrowed, $1,080 million of sedast purchased under
agreements to resell, $4,602 million of financisdets classified as held for trading - derivati$&€) million of cash collateral
on securities loaned, $3,359 million of securigetd under agreements to repurchase and $3,920mmif financial liabilities
classified as held for trading — derivatives whigk either not subject to master netting agreenmntsllateral agreements or
are subject to such agreements but the Group hatetesmined the agreements to be legally enfoteeab

Amounts are reported on a net basis in thesaatated statements of financial position wherrghis a legally enforceable
master netting arrangement that provides for aeatimight of offset and there is an intention tihei settle on a net basis or to
realise the asset and liability simultaneously.

Amounts include $9,272 million of cash colfaferelated to financial assets classified as Hietdirading — derivatives and
$1,153 million of cash collateral related to finadiabilities classified as held for trading —ril&tives, recognised in amounts
offset in the consolidated statement of financ@difions for assets and liabilities respectively.

Amounts relate to master netting arrangements aollateral arrangements which have been detedniny the Group to be
legally enforceable but do not meet all criteriguieed for net presentation within the consolidastatement of financial
position.

The cash collateral not offset is recognisedhia consolidated statement of financial positigthiw trade receivables and
payables respectively.

Certain financial assets and financial lialgt designated at fair value through profit or lbase legally enforceable master
netting arrangements in place; however, these atreligible for netting within the consolidatedtstaent of financial position.
$2 million not presented net within the consolidatstatement of financial position have legally ecéable netting
arrangements in place and can be offset in th@arglicourse of business and/ or in the event afudef

Of the residual net exposure, intercompangsuroduct legally enforceable netting arrangemargsin place which would
allow for an additional $2,928 million to be offgetthe ordinary course of business and / or inetrent of default.

85



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised a&if value on a recurring basis

The following tables present the carrying valuetltd Group’s financial assets and financial lialeitit
recognised at fair value on a recurring basis stfiasl according to the fair value hierarchy.

2015 Valuation
Valuation techniques
Quoted techniques with
prices in using significant
active observable unobservable
market inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$millions $millions $millions  $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:

Government debt securities 7,282 4,079 4 11,365

Corporate and other debt - 6,393 576 6,969

Corporate equities 40,364 236 228 40,828

Derivatives:

Interest rate contracts - 79,813 247 80,060

Credit contracts - 9,890 268 10,158

Foreign exchange and gold contracts - 62,014 452 62,466

Equity contracts 566 27,450 1,902 29,918

Commodity contracts 8 4,495 6 4,509
Total financial assets classified as held for

trading 48,220 194,370 3,683 246,273
Financial assets designated at fair value through

profit or loss - 1,255 381 1,636
Available-for-sale financial assets:

Corporate equities 1 - 38 39
Total financial assets measured at fair value 48,221 195,625 4,102 247,948
Financial liabilities classified as held for

trading:

Government debt securities 8,451 2,296 - 10,747

Corporate and other debt - 1,279 5 1,284

Corporate equities 23,372 37 15 23,424

Derivatives:

Interest rate contracts - 73,572 929 74,501

Credit contracts - 10,119 279 10,398

Foreign exchange and gold contracts - 61,047 212 61,259

Equity contracts 183 29,061 2,455 31,699

Commodity contracts 14 3,174 6 3,194
Total financial liabilities classified as held for

trading 32,020 180,585 3,901 216,506
Financial liabilities designated at fair value

through profit or loss - 4,705 160 4,865
Total financial liabilities measured at fair

value 32,020 185,290 4,061 221,371
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32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E (CONTINUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aair value on a recurring basis (continued)

2014

Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivatives:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commaodity contracts

Total financial assets classified as held for
trading
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Corporate equities

Total financial assets measured at fair value

Financial liabilities classified as held for
trading:
Government debt securities
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivatives:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commodity contracts

Total financial liabilities classified as held for
trading

Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss

Total financial liabilities measured at fair
value

Valuation
Valuation techniques
Quoted techniques with
prices in using significant
active observable unobservable
market inputs inputs
(Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
$millions  $millions $millions  $millions
7,350 3,492 39 10,881
1 10,754 496 11,251
37,192 682 119 37,993
19 103,044 1,559 104,622
- 17,251 342 17,593
- 68,777 314 69,091
309 34,655 1,942 36,906
53 6,996 12 7,061
44,924 245,651 4,823 295,398
- 2,044 1,316 3,360
2 - 40 42
44,926 247,695 6,179 298,800
7,094 1,829 - 8,923
- 2,213 6 2,219
15,351 77 3 15,431
16 99,568 1,534 101,118
- 17,017 348 17,365
- 67,870 86 67,956
181 35,969 2,975 39,125
55 5,576 60 5,691
22,697 230,119 5,012 257,828
- 5,062 69 5,131
22,697 235,181 5,081 262,959
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32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E (CONTINUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aair value on a recurring basis (continued)

The Group’s valuation approach and fair value m@rma categorisation for certain significant classeés
financial instruments recognised at fair value ar@urring basis is as follows:

Financial assets and financial liabilities classiéid as held for trading and available-for-sale finanial assets

Asset/Liability

Valuation Technique

Valuation Hierarchy
Classification

Government debt securities

US Treasury Securities

Fair value is determined using quoted market prices
valuation adjustments are not applied.

* Generally Level 1

Non-US Sovereign Government
Obligations

Fair value is determined using quoted prices in
active markets when available.

* Generally Level 1

e Level 2 — if the market is less
active or prices are dispersed

* Level 3 — in instances where the
inputs are unobservable

Corporate and Other Debt

Residential Mortgage-Backed
Securities (‘RMBS”),
Commercial Mortgage-Backed
Securities (“*CMBS”) and other
Asset-Backed Securities
(“ABS”)

RMBS, CMBS and other ABS may be valued based
on price or spread data obtained from observed
transactions or independent external parties sach a
vendors or brokers.

When position-specific external price data are not
observable, the fair value determination may rejuir
benchmarking to similar instruments, and/or
analysing expected credit losses, default and
recovery rates, and/or applying discounted cash flo
techniques. In evaluating the fair value of each
security, the Group considers security collateral-
specific attributes, including payment priorityedit
enhancement levels, type of collateral, delinquency
rates and loss severity. In addition, for RMBS
borrowers, Fair Isaac Corporation (“FICO") scores
and the level of documentation for the loan are
considered.

* Generally Level 2

e Level 3-if external prices or
significant spread inputs are
unobservable or if the comparability
assessment involves  significant
subjectivity related to property type
differences, cash flows,
performance and other inputs

Corporate Bonds

Fair value is determined using:

recently executed transactions

market price quotations (where observable)

- bond spreads

credit default swap spreads

at the money volatility and/or volatility skew
obtained from independent external parties
such as vendors and brokers adjusted for any
basis difference between cash and derivative
instruments

The spread data used are for the same maturity as
the bond. If the spread data do not reference the
issuer, then data that reference a comparablerissue

are used. When position-specific external pricexdat
are not observable, fair value is determined based

either benchmarking to similar instruments or cash
flow models with yield curves, bond or single name

credit default swap spreads and recovery rates as

significant inputs.

* Generally Level 2

« Level 3 - if prices, spreads or any
of the other aforementioned key
inputs are unobservable
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E (CONTINUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aaif value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities classiéid as held for trading and available-for-sale finanial assets (continued)

Asset/Liability

Valuation Technique

Valuation Hierarchy
Classification

Corporate and Other Debt (continued)

Collateralised Debt Obligations
(“*CDO”) and Collateralised
Loan Obligations (“CLO”)

The Group holds cash CDOs/CLOs that typically
reference a tranche of an underlying synthetic
portfolio of single name credit default swap speead
collateralised by corporate bonds (“credit-linked
notes”) or cash portfolio of asset-backed
securities/loans (“asset-backed CDOs/CLOs”).

Credit correlation, a primary input used to detexeni
the fair value of credit-linked notes, is usually
unobservable and derived using a benchmarking
technique. The other credit-linked note model isput
such as credit spreads, including collateral sgread
and interest rates are typically observable.

Asset-backed CDOs/CLOs are valued based on an
evaluation of the market and model input parameters
sourced from similar positions as indicated by
primary and secondary market activity. Each asset-
backed CDO/CLO position is evaluated

independently taking into consideration available
comparable market levels, underlying collateral

performance and pricing, deal structures and
liquidity.

¢ Level 2 -when either the credit

correlation input is insignificant or

comparable market transactions are
observable

« Level 3 -when either the credit
correlation input is deemed to be
significant or comparable market
transactions are unobservable

Corporate loans and Lending
Commitments

Fair value of corporate loans is determined using:

- recently executed transactions

- market price quotations (where observable)

- implied yields from comparable debt

- market observable credit default swap
spread levels obtained from independent
external parties such as vendors and brokers
adjusted for any basis difference between
cash and derivative instruments, along with
proprietary valuation models and default
recovery analysis where such transactions
and quotations are unobservable

The fair value of contingent corporate lending
commitments is determined by using executed
transactions on comparable loans and the anticipate
market price based on pricing indications from
syndicate banks and customers. The valuation of
loans and lending commitments also takes into
account fee income that is considered an attribfite
the contract.

e Level 2-if value based on
observable market data for identical
or comparable instruments

« Level 3 - in instances where prices
or significant spread inputs are
unobservable
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VAL UE (CONTINUED)
a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aif value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities classiéid as held for trading and available-for-sale finanial assets (continued)

Asset/Liability

Valuation Technique

Valuation Hierarchy
Classification

Corporate Equities

Exchange-Traded Equity
Securities

Fair value is generally determined based on quoted
prices from the exchange. To the extent these
securities are actively traded, valuation adjustsien
are not applied.

« Level 1 - if actively traded

Unlisted Equity Securities

Fair value is determined based on an assessment of
each underlying security, considering rounds of
financing and third-party transactions, discounted
cash flow analyses and market-based information,
including comparable company transactions, trading
multiples and changes in market outlook, among
other factors.

« Level 2 or Level 3 - if not actively
traded

* Generally Level 3

Fund Units

Listed fund units are generally marked to the
exchange-traded price.

Listed fund units if not actively traded and urdit
fund units are generally marked to net asset value.

e Level 1 - listed fund units if
actively traded on an exchange

« Level 3 — if not actively traded

Available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial
assets

AFS financial assets are composed of Corporate
Equities.

For further information on the determination ofrfai
value, refer to the corresponding asset valuation
technique described above.

For further information on AFS financial asset® se
note 14.

* Generally Level 3

Derivatives and Other Contracts

Listed derivative contracts

Listed derivatives that are actively traded areiedl
based on quoted prices from the exchange.

Listed derivatives that are not actively traded are
valued using the same approaches as those applied
to OTC derivatives.

 Level 1 - listed derivatives that are
actively traded

« Level 2 - listed derivatives that are
not actively traded

OTC derivative contracts

OTC derivative contracts include forward, swap and
option contracts related to interest rates, foreign
currencies, credit standing of reference entities,
equity prices or commodity prices.

Depending on the product and the terms of the
transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative

products can be either observed or modelled using a
series of techniques and model inputs from

comparable benchmarks, including closed-form

analytic formulas, such as the Black-Scholes option

pricing model, and simulation models or a

combination thereof. Many pricing models do not

entail material  subjectivity because the

methodologies employed do not necessitate
significant judgement, and the pricing inputs are

observed from actively quoted markets, as is the
case for generic interest rate swaps, certain ptio

contracts and certain credit default swaps. In the
case of more established derivative products, the
pricing models used by the Group are widely

accepted by the financial services industry.

¢ Generally Level 2 - OTC
derivative products valued using
pricing models; basket credit default
swaps if the correlation input is not
deemed to be significant;
commodity derivatives

« Level 3 - OTC derivative products
with  significant  unobservable
inputs; basket credit default swaps
if the correlation input is deemed to
be significant; commodity
derivatives in instances where
significant inputs are unobservable
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32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI

NUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aif value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities classiéid as held for trading and available-for-sale finanial assets (continued)

Asset/Liability Valuation Technique

Valuation Hierarchy
Classification

Derivatives and Other Contracts (continued)

oTC derivatives contracts Other

derivative products, including complex
(continued) P 9 P

products that have become illiquid, require more
judgement in the implementation of the valuation
technique applied due to the complexity of the
valuation assumptions and the reduced observability
of inputs. This includes certain types of intenege
derivatives with both volatility and correlation
exposure and credit derivatives, including credit
default swaps on certain mortgage-backed or asset-
backed securities, basket credit default swapsavher
direct trading activity or quotes are unobservable.

Derivative interests in credit default swaps on
certain mortgage-backed or asset-backed securities,
for which observability of external price data is
limited, are valued based on an evaluation of the
market and model input parameters sourced from
similar positions as indicated by primary and
secondary market activity. Each position is
evaluated independently taking into consideration
available comparable market levels as well as h cas
synthetic basis or the underlying collateral
performance and pricing, behaviour of the tranche
under various cumulative loss and prepayment
scenarios, deal structurese.d, non-amortising
reference obligations, call features, etc.) and
liquidity. While these factors may be supported by
historical and actual external observations, the
determination of their value as it relates to sfeci
positions  nevertheless  requires  significant
judgement.

For basket credit default swaps the correlatiomtnp
between reference credits is unobservable for each
specific swap or position and is benchmarked to
standardised proxy baskets for which correlation
data are available. The other model inputs such as
credit spread, interest rates and recovery rates ar
observable.

The Group trades various derivative structures with
commodity underlyings. Depending on the type of
structure, the model inputs generally include ieser
rate yield curves, commodity underlier price curves
implied volatility of the underlying commodities
and, in some cases, the implied correlation between
these inputs. The fair value of these products is
determined using executed trades and broker and
consensus data to provide values for the
aforementioned inputs. Where these inputs are
unobservable, relationships to observable
commodities and data points, based on historic
and/or implied observations, are employed as a
technique to estimate the model input values. For
further information on the valuation techniques for
OTC derivative products, see note 3.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)
a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aaif value on a recurring basis (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities classiéid at fair value through profit and loss

Asset/Liability Valuation Technique Valuation Hierarchy
Classification

Prepaid OTC contracts and The Group issues structured notes and trades grepai * Generally Level 2
issued structured notes  OTC contracts that have coupon or repayment terms

designated at fair value through jinked to the performance of debt or equity

profit and loss securities, indices, currencies or commodities.

Fair value of structured notes and trades prepaid
OTC contracts is determined using valuation models
for the derivative and debt portions of the noted a
trades prepaid OTC contracts. These models
incorporate observable inputs referencing identical
or comparable securities, including:

- prices to which the notes are linked
- interest rate yield curves

- option volatility and currency

- commodity or equity prices

Independent, external and traded prices for thesnot
are considered as well. The impact of the Group’s
own credit spreads is also included based on
observed secondary bond market spreads.

Corporate loans Fair value of corporate loans is determined using: « Level 2-if value based on

- recently executed transactions observable market data for identical
- market price quotations (where observable) or comparable instruments
- implied yields from comparable debt

- market observable credit default swap spread < Level 3 -in instances where prices

levels obtained from independent external parties or significant spread inputs are

such as vendors and brokers adjusted for any basis unobservable

difference between cash and derivative instruments,

along with proprietary valuation models and default

recovery analysis where such transactions and

quotations are unobservable.

The fair value of contingent corporate lending

commitments is determined by using executed

transactions on comparable loans and the anticipate

market price based on pricing indications from

syndicate banks and customers. The valuation of

loans and lending commitments also takes into

account fee income that is considered an attribfite

the contract.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (C ONTINUED)

b. Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the favalue hierarchy for financial assets and
liabilities recognised at fair value on a recurringbasis

There were no material transfers between Level lleteel 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the yea
(2014: $nil).

c. Changes in Level 3 financial assets and liabilits recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis

The following tables present the changes in the falue of the Group’s Level 3 financial assets and
financial liabilities for the year ended 31 Deceml2915. Level 3 instruments may be hedged with
instruments classified in Level 1 and Level 2. Aseault, the realised and unrealised gains/ (IQsees
assets and liabilities within the Level 3 categprgsented in the tables below do not reflect thated
realised and unrealised gains/ (losses) on hedg#tiguments that have been classified by the Graithn

the Level 1 and/or Level 2 categories.

Additionally, both observable and unobservable fapnay be used to determine the fair value of joosit
that the Group has classified within the Level 8&gary. As a result, the unrealised gains/ (losdashg

the period for assets and liabilities within thevéke3 category presented in the tables below melydte

changes in fair value during the period that wetebaitable to both observable (e.g., changes inketa
interest rates) and unobservable (e.g., changesabservable long-dated volatilities) inputs.

The Morgan Stanley Group operates a number of-grbap policies to ensure that, where possible,
revenues and related costs are matched. Wherteattiag positions included in the below table dask r
managed using financial instruments held by otherddn Stanley Group undertakings, these policies
potentially result in the recognition of offsettiggins or losses in the Group.
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32.

C.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI

Change:in Level 3 financial asset and liabilities recognisecat fair value on arecurring basis (continued)

NUED)

Unrealised
. gains/ (losses
Total gains/ for Level 3
Total gains/ (losses assets
(losses’ recognised in = Net liabilities
recognised in  consolidated @ @ g transfersin Balance at gytstanding as
Balance at consolidated statement of e 2 g and/or (out) 31 at 31
1 January income comprehensive S 8 % £ of Level 3 December December
2015  statement income & Kt @ 3 (1) 2015 2015 (2
$millions $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as
held for trading:
Government debt
securities 39 2) - 1 (30) - - (5) 4 -
Corporate and other debt 496 16 - 376 X303 - 2) (7 576 5
Corporate equities 119 12 - 128 (193) - - 162 228 20
Total financial assets
classified as held for trading 654 27 - 505 (526) - 2) 150 808 25
Financial assets designatet
fair value through profit or
loss 1,316 14) - 93 (737) - (263) 14) 381 (14)
Available-for-sale
financial assets:
Corporate equities 40 - (3) 1 - - - - 38 -
Total financial assets
measured at fair value 2,010 13 (3) 599 (1,263) - (265) 136 1,227 11
Financial liabilities
classified as
held for trading:
Corporate and other debt 6 2 - ®) 7 - - - 5 -
Corporate equities 3 79 - (145) 103 - - 133 15 79
Net derivative contractd 834 250 - (2,534) - 2,667 (83) 372 1,006 101
Total financial liabilities
classified as held for trading 843 331 - (2,685) 110 2,667 (83) 505 1,026 180
Financial liabilities
designated at fair value
through profit or loss 69 2 - - - 141 (43) (5) 160 2
Total financial liabilities
measured at fair value 912 333 - (2,685 110 2,808 (126) 500 1,186 182

(1) For financial assets and financial liabilittesit were transferred into and out of Level 3 dyitine year, gains org$ses) are presented as if the asse
liabilities had been transferred into or out of €E8 as at the beginning of the year.

(2) Amounts represent unrealised gains or (loSfseshe year ended 31 December 2015 related tdsaasd liabilities stiloutstanding at 31 December 20
The unrealised gains or (losses) are recogniséldeirtonsolidated ineoe statement or consolidated statement of compsaleeincome as detailed in t
financial instruments accounting policy (note 3c).

(3) Net derivative contracts represent Financibilities classified as held for trading — derivaticontracts net dfinancial assets classified as held

trading — derivative contracts.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

c. Changes in Level 3 financial assets and liabilits recognised at fair value on a recurring basis@ntinued)
Unrealised
Total gains/ gains/ (losses
Total gains/ (losses for Level 3
(losses, recognised in = Net assets,
recognised in  consolidated @ ® $ transfers in Balance at liabilities
Balance at consolidated statement of = e g and/or (out) 31 outstanding as
1 January income comprehensive o k] s £ of Level 3 December at 31
2014  statement income & & 3 A @) 2014 December
$millions $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions ~ $millions  $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as
held for trading:
Government debt securities 8 1 - 37 ) - - - 39 -
Corporate and other debt 714 27 - 262 (315) - (209) 17 496 (2)
Corporate equities 68 19 - 65 (72) - - 39 119 (2)

Total financial assets

classified as held for trading 790 47 - 364 (394) - (209) 56 654 ?3)
Financial assets designated at

fair value through profit or

loss 1,598 12) - 935 - - (1,333) 128 1,316 (11)
Corporate equities 58 - (5) - (13) - - - 40 -

Total financial assets

measured at fair value 2,446 35 (5) 1,299 (407) - (1,542) 184 2,010 (14)

Financial liabilities classified
as held for trading:

Corporate and other debt 47 (112) - (23) 11 - - (40) 6 2)
Corporate equities 7 2 - (55) 51 - - 2 3 2

Net derivative contracts

@@ 530 (22) - (1,029) - 946 395 (30) 834 (4)

Total financial liabilities

classified as held for trading 584 (31) - (1,207) 62 946 395 (68) 843 4)
Financial liabilities

designated at fair value

through profit or loss 257 - - - - 70 (247) (11) 69 1
Total financial liabilities
measured at fair value 841 (31) - (1,107) 62 1,016 148 (79) 912 (3)

(1) For financial assets and financial liabilitibst were transferred into and out of Level 3 dyitine year, gains ordéses) are presented as if the asse
liabilities had been transferred into or out of €e8 as at the beginning of the year.

(2) Amounts represent unrealised gains or (lodeeshe year ended 31 December 2014 related tdsaasd liabilities stiloutstanding at 31 December 20
The unrealised gains or (losses) are recognise¢deirconslidated income statement or consolidated statemeobmprehensive income as detailed in
financial instruments accounting policy (note 3c).

(3) Net derivative contracts represent Financalilities classified as held for trading — derivatcontacts net of Financial assets classified as helttdding
— derivative contracts.

(4) During 2014, the Group incurred a charge fgragimately $273 million related to the implemerdatof FVA, which was &cognised within ‘'net gains
financial instruments classified as held for tradin the consolidated income statement.

There were no material transfers from Level 2 todle3 or from Level 3 to Level 2 of the fair valhéerarchy during
the year (2014: $nil).
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis

The disclosures below provide information on thes#tévity of fair value measurements to key inpatsd
assumptions.

i.  Quantitative information about and qualitative stwisy of significant unobservable inputs

The table below provides information on the valatiechniques, significant unobservable inputstaed
ranges and averages for each major category ofsaasé liabilities measured at fair value on a neéag
basis with a significant Level 3 balance.

The level of aggregation and breadth of productsedhe range of inputs to be wide and not eveislyilouted
across the inventory. Further, the range of unofagde inputs may differ across firms in the finmhservices
industry because of diversity in the types of peiduincluded in each firm’'s inventory. The followi
disclosures also include qualitative informationtba sensitivity of the fair value measurementshanges in
the significant unobservable inputs.

31 December 2015 Significant unobservable input(s) / sensitivit
Fair value of the fair value to changes in the
$millions  Valuation technique unobservable inputs Rangé’ Averages®
ASSETS
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
- Corporate equities 228 Comparable pricing Comparable equity prip&)/ 100% 100%
Market Approach EBITDA Multiple / (A) 9 times 9 times
- Corporate and other debt:
- Residential mortgage backed 76 Comparable pricing Comparable bond pric) / 4 to 85 points 32 points
securities
- Commercial mortgage backed 58 Comparable pricing Comparable bond pric) / 3 to 90 points 9 points
securities
- Asset backed securities 96 Comparable giicinComparable bond price / (A) 9 to 100 points 65 points
- Corporate bonds 176 Comparable pricing @amable bond price / (A) 3to 100 points 83 points
Option Model At the money volatility / (C) /(D) 6% to 38% 25%
Volatility skew / (C) /(D) 1% to 0% 0%
- Collateralised debt obligations 154 Compleabicing Comparable loan price / (A) 67 @RIpoints 87 points

Financial assets designated at fair value throughrpfit or loss:

- Prepaid OTC Contracts 93 Option Model At theney volatility / (C) /(D) 21% to 36% 29%
Volatility skew / (C) /(D) 0% 0%
- Customer Loans 288 Margin Loan Model Creditsag / (C) 499 bps 499 bps
Volatility skew / (C) 13% to 29% 20%
Option Model Volatility skew / (C) -1% -1%
Available-for-sale financial assets:
- Corporate equities 38 Comparable pricingcomparable equity price / (A) 100% 100%
LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg:

- Net derivatives contracts:(1)(4)

- Credit (11) Correlation Model Credit Cdation / (B) 39% to 87% 57%
Comparable pricing  Comparable bond price / (C) 310100 point: 37 points

- Equity (553) Option Model At the money aplity / (A) /(D) 18% to 65% 36%
Volatility skew / (A) /(D) 3% to 0% 0%

Equity correlation / (A) /(D) 40% to 99% 69%

Equity foreign exchange correlation / (C) /(D) -60% to 10% -39%
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)
31 December 2015 Significant unobservable input(s) / sensitivity
Fair value of the fair value to changes in the
$millions  Valuation technique unobservable inputs Range® Averages®

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg (continued):

- Net derivatives contracts (continued):(1)(4)

_ Interest rate (682) Option Model Inflation volatility / (C) /(P 58%  58%, 58%
Interest rate Curve / (A) /(D) 0% 0%, 0%
Interest rate - Foreign exchange correlation / 25% to 62%  43%, 43%
A) /(D
(In)te(regt rate - Inflation correlation / (A) /(D) -41% t0 39%  -41%,-41%
Interest rate curve correlation / (C) /(D) 24% to 95%  60%, 69%
Interest rate quanto correlation / (A) /(D) 8% to 36% 5%, -6%
Interest rate volatility skew / (A) /(D) 29% to 82%  43%, 40%
- Foreign exchange 240 Option Model Interest rate curve / (A) /(D) 0% 0%, 0%
Interest rate - Foreign exchange correlation / 25% to 62%  43%, 43%
A) /(D
(In)tef'egt rate volatility skew / (A) /(D) 29% to 82%  43%, 40%
Financial liabilities designated at fair value thraugh profit or loss
- Issued structured notes (147) Option Model At the money volatility / (QP) 26% to 38% 31%
Volatility skew / (C) /(D) 1% to 0% 0%
Equity correlation / (C) /(D) 42% to 97% 67%
Equity FX correlation / (A) /(D) -54% t®% -44%

(1) Net derivative contracts represent financial asslessified as held for trading — derivative coctsanet of financial liabilities classified as held
for trading — derivative contracts. In additionettl are other derivative contracts with a fair eadfi$nil (2014: $7 million) not included within
one of the major derivative categories.

(2) The ranges of significant unobservable inputs eprasented in points, percentages or basis polsnts are a percentage of par; for example, 100
points would be 100% of par. A basis point (bps)ads 1/108 of 1%; for example, 353 basis points would equaB%.

(3) Amounts represent weighted averages except wheygesaverages and the median of the inputs aredad\(see footnote 5 below). Weighted averages
are calculated by weighting each input by the faiue of the respective financial instruments exdéepderivative instruments where inputs are weagh
by risk.

(4) CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kxted from the valuation techniques and signifiaambbservable inputs in the table above. CVA is
deemed to be a Level 3 input when the underlyingtarparty credit curve is unobservable. FVA isrdeé to be a Level 3 input in its entirety given the
lack of observability of funding spreads in thengipal market.

(5) The data structure of the significant unobservaipets used in valuing Interest rate contracts @@vthin Equity contracts may be in a multi-dimensio
form, such as a curve or surface, with risk distiélol across the structure. Therefore, a simpleageeand median, together with the range of datatén
may be more appropriate measurements than a ginglieweighted average.

(6) Includes derivative contracts with multiple riske (hybrid products)

Sensitivity of the fair value to changes in the urtaservable inputs:

(A) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseeviplut in isolation would result in a significantligher/ (lower) fair value measurement.

(B) Significant changes in credit correlation may regula significantly higher or lower fair value nsaement. Increasing/ (decreasing) correlation
drives a redistribution of risk within the capigtucture such that junior tranches become lessfg)isky and senior tranches become more/ (less)
risky.

(C) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseevalplut in isolation would result in a significantbwer/ (higher) fair value measurement.

(D) There are no predictable relationships betweesigmgficant unobservable inputs.
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VA LUE (CONTINUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiiies recognised at fair value on a recurring

basis (continued)

31 December 2014
Fair value
$millions Valuation technique

Significant unobservable input(s) /
sensitivity of the fair value to changes in the
unobservable inputs

Range® Averages®

ASSETS

Financial assets classified as held for trading:

- Corporate equities 119 Comparable pricing
Market Approach

Comparable equity price)/ (A
EBITDA Multiple / (A)

100% 100%
7 to 9 times 8 times

- Government debt securities 39 Comparable pricing

Comparable bond price / (A)

19% to 122% 120%, 121%

- Corporate and other debt:

- Residential mortgage 100 Comparable pricing Comparable bond price / (A) 3 to 96 points 22 points
backed securities
- Commercial mortgage 44 Comparable pricing Comparable bprice / (A) 3 to 5 points 4 points
back securities
- Asset backed securities 78 Canaple pricing Comparable bond price / (A) 0to points 100 points
- Corporate bonds 140 Comparable pricing Compatadnd price / (A) 1 to 117 points 64 points
Option Model At the money volatility / (A) 15% 81% 26%
Volatility skew / (A) -3% to 0% -1%
- Collateralised debt 109 Comparable pricing Comparable loan price / (A) 71 to 100 points 91 points
obligations
Financial assets designated at fair value throughrpfit or loss:
- Customer loans 1,296 Margin Loan Model Cregitad / (C)(D) 353 to 451 bps 402bps
Volatility skew / (C)(D) 3% to 37% 25%
Comparable price / (A)(D) 80% to 120% 100%
Option Model Volatility skew / (C) -1% -1%
Available-for-sale financial
assets:
- Corporate equities 40 Comparable pricing  Contgaraquity price / (A) 100% 100%
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg:
- Net derivatives contracts:(1)(4)
- Credit (6) Correlation Model Credit corretati/ (B) 46% to 88% 61%
Comparable pricing Comparable bond price / (C)(D) 2 to 99 points 40 points
- Equity (1,033) Option Model At the money wility / (C)(D) 15% to 50% 29%
Volatility skew / (C)(D) -4% to 1% -1%
Equity correlation / (C)(D) 30% to 99% 70%
Equity Foreign exchange correlation / (C)(D) -4694.0% -16%
- Interest rate 25 Option Model Inflation valigg / (A)(D) 69%to 71%  70%, 71%
Interest rate curve / (A)(D) 0%to2% 1%, 1%

Interest rate - foreign exchange correlation /
(C)(D)

Interest rate - inflation correlation / (C)(D)
Interest rate curve correlation / (C)(D)

28% 10 62%  44%, 42%

4% to -40% -42%, -43%
44% t@87 73%, 80%

Interest rate quanto correlation / (C)(D) -9% 598 6%, -6%
Interest rate volatility skew / (A)(D) 38% tod%  86%, 60%
- Foreign exchange 228 Option Model Interetst carve / (A)(D) 0% to 2% 1%, 1%

Interest rate - foreign exchange correlation /
(C)(D)

Interest rate curve correlation / (C)(D)

28% 10 62%  44%, 42%

44% t&87 73%, 80%

- Commodity

Interest rate quanto correlation / (C)(D) -998590 6%, -6%
Interest rate volatility skew / (A)(D) 38% to4% 86%, 60%
(48) Option Model Cross commaodity correlation / ( C) 3894.00% 93%
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)
d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)
31 December 2014 Significant unobservable input(s) / sensitivity
Fair value of the fair value to changes in the
$millionsValuation technique unobservable inputs Range® Averages®

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value thraugh profit or loss

- Prepaid OTC contracts (52) Option Model At the money volatility / (C) (D) 6% 83% 19%

Cash synthetic basis / (C) (D) 15 points 15 points

@

@
(©)

4)

®)

(6)

Net derivative contracts represent financial asslesssified as held for trading — derivative cocisanet of financial liabilities classified as hédd trading

— derivative contracts. In addition, there are ottherivative contracts with a fair value of $7 naili not included within one of the major derivative
categories.

The ranges of significant unobservable inputs epeasented in points, percentages or basis pdidmts are a percentage of par; for example, b0@tp
would be 100% of par. A basis point (bps) equal®d? of 1%; for example, 353 basis points would equsB3b.

Amounts represent weighted averages except whenglesaverages and the median of the inputs ardded\(see footnote 5 below). Weighted averages
are calculated by weighting each input by the ¥alue of the respective financial instruments exdepderivative instruments where inputs are wegh
by risk.

CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kxted from the valuation techniques and significambbservable inputs in the table above. CVA is
deemed to be a Level 3 input when the underlyinhterparty credit curve is unobservable. FVA isrded to be a Level 3 input in its entirety given the
lack of observability of funding spreads in thengipal market.

The data structure of the significant unobservaipets used in valuing Interest rate contracts @rthin Equity contracts may be in a multi-dimensio
form, such as a curve or surface, with risk distielol across the structure. Therefore, a simpleageeand median, together with the range of datatén
may be more appropriate measurements than a gingieweighted average.

Includes derivative contracts with multiple riske (hybrid products)

Sensitivity of the fair value to changes in the urizservable inputs:

(A) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseeviplut in isolation would result in a significantligher/ (lower) fair value measurement.

(B) Significant changes in credit correlation may regula significantly higher or lower fair value nsmement. Increasing/ (decreasing) correlation
drives a redistribution of risk within the capigtucture such that junior tranches become lessfg)isky and senior tranches become more/ (less)
risky.

(C) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseevalplut in isolation would result in a significantbwer/ (higher) fair value measurement.

(D) There are no predictable relationships betweesigmgficant unobservable inputs.

The following provides a description of significaimobservable inputs included in the table aboveafio
major categories of assets and liabilities:

Comparable bond price- a pricing input used when prices for the ideiticestrument are not
available. Significant subjectivity may be involvevhen fair value is determined using pricing data
available for comparable instruments. Valuationngscomparable instruments can be done by
calculating an implied yield (or spread over a ilihjhenchmark) from the price of a comparable bond,
then adjusting that yield (or spread) to derivealug for the bond. The adjustment to yield (or agdje
should account for relevant differences in the sosgch as maturity or credit quality. Alternativedy
price-to-price basis can be assumed between thpamaitme instrument and bond being valued in order
to establish the value of the bond. Additionally tke probability of default increases for a gibemd
(i.e., as the bond becomes more distressed), thmtian of that bond will increasingly reflect its
expected recovery level assuming default. The dwetido use price-to-price or vyield/spread
comparisons largely reflects trading market coneanfor the financial instruments in question. Bric
to-price comparisons are primarily employed for C&JBCDOs and distressed corporate bonds.
Implied yield (or spread over a liquid benchmark) utilised predominately for non-distressed
corporate bonds, loans and credit contracts.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VAL UE (CONTINUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

« Comparable equity price-a price derived from equity raises, share buybarid external bid levels,
etc. A discount or premium may be included in thie ¥alue estimate.

» Correlation— a pricing input where the payoff is driven bymnthan one underlying risk. Correlation
is a measure of the relationship between the momendd two variablesi.g., how the change in one
variable influences a change in the other varialflegdit correlation, for example, is the factoatth
describes the relationship between the probahifitindividual entities to default on obligationsdan
the joint probability of multiple entities to defawn obligations. The correlation ranges may bdewi
since any two underlying inputs may be highly clated (either positively or negatively) or weakly
correlated.

* Credit spread -the difference in yield between different secusitiie to differences in credit quality.
The credit spread reflects the additional net yadnvestor can earn from a security with morelitre
risk relative to one with less credit risk. Theditespread of a particular security is often quoied
relation to the yield on a credit risk-free benchknaecurity or reference rate, typically either US
Treasury or LIBOR.

« EBITDA multiple—the ratio of the Enterprise Value to earnings beefaterest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA"), where the Enterprise Valisethe aggregate value of equity and debt minus
cash and cash equivalents. The EBITDA multipleectfl the value of the company in terms of its full-
year EBITDA and allows comparison between compafm@s an operational perspective as the effect
of capital structure, taxation and depreciation/diznation is excluded.

Interest rate curve-the term structure of interest rates (relationdd@fween interest rates and the time
to maturity) and a market’s measure of future egérates at the time of observation. An interatt r
curve is used to set interest rate and foreign @axgé derivative cash flows and is a pricing inmedi

in the discounting of any OT@erivative cash flow.

Volatility — the measure of the variability in possible resufor an instrument given how much that
instrument changes in value over time. Volatilgyai pricing input for options and, generally, thedr
the volatility, the less risky the option. The lewd volatility used in the valuation of a partiaunl
option depends on a number of factors, includirgrthture of the risk underlying that optiang, the
volatility of a particular underlying equity seciyrimay be significantly different from that of a
particular underlying commodity index), the tenadahe strike price of the option.

Volatility skew- the measure of the difference in implied voltifor options with identical underliers
and expiry dates but with different strikes. Thelied volatility for an option with a strike pridbat is
above or below the current price of an underlyirsged will typically deviate from the implied
volatility for an option with a strike price equal the current price of that same underlying asset.
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32.

d.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

Sensitivity of fair values to changing significagsumptions to reasonably possible alternatives

All financial instruments are valued in accordandgéh the techniques outlined in the fair value
hierarchy. Some of these techniques, includingehesed to value instruments categorised in Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy, are dependent orbesaovable parameters and the fair value for these
financial instruments has been determined usingarpaters appropriate for the valuation
methodology based on prevailing market evidentés recognised that the unobservable parameters
could have a range of reasonably possible altematlues.

In estimating the change in fair value, to providi®rmation about the variability of the fair value
measurement, the unobservable parameters werelaribe extremes of the ranges of reasonably
possible alternatives using statistical techniquassh as dispersion in comparable observable
external inputs for similar asset classes, histdeita or judgement if a statistical technique is no
appropriate. Where a financial instrument has ntioa@ one unobservable parameter, the sensitivity
analysis reflects the greatest reasonably possiblease or decrease to fair value by varying the
assumptions individually. It is unlikely that athobservable parameters would be concurrently at the
extreme range of possible alternative assumptindstaerefore the sensitivity shown below is likely
to be greater than the actual uncertainty relatrtte financial instruments.

The following tables present the sensitivity of ttair value of Level 3 financial assets and finahci
liabilities to reasonably possible alternative asgtions, providing quantitative information on the
potential variability of the fair value measurement
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

ii. Sensitivity of fair values to changing sign#iat assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives
(continued)

Effect of reasonably possible
alternative assumptions

2015 Increase in fair Decrease in fail
Fair value value value
$millions $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities 4 - -
Corporate and other debt 576 19 (35)
Corporate equities 228 2 (42)

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss:
Prepaid OTC contracts 93 3 3)
Customer loans 288 1 -
Available-for-sale financial
assets:
Corporate equities 38 9 (2)

Financial liabilities classified as held

trading:
Corporate and other debt 5 - -
Corporate equities 15 - -
Net derivatives contract§® 1,006 37 (52)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

through profit or loss:

Prepaid OTC contracts 13 - -
Issued structured notes 147 2 (2)

@ Net derivative contracts represent financial asskssified as held for trading derivative contracts net of financial liabiliti
classified as held for trading — derivative contsac

@ CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kexted from the effect of reasonably possible alitve assumptions in ¢h
table above. CVA is deemed to be a Level 3 inpugwtine underlyingaunterparty credit curve is unobservable. FVA isrded tc
be a Level 3 input in its entirety given the ladlobservability of funding spreads in the principadrket.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahiies recognised at fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

ii. Sensitivity of fair values to changing sign#iat assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives
(continued)

Effect of reasonably possible
alternative assumptions

2014 Increase in fair Decrease in fail
Fair value value value
$millions $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities 39 - -
Corporate and other debt 496 19 (16)
Corporate equities 119 2 (9)

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss:
Prepaid OTC contracts 20 - -
Customer loans 1,296 2 )
Available-for-sale financial
assets:
Corporate equities 40 9 (2)

Financial liabilities classified as held fc

trading:
Corporate and other debt 6 - -
Corporate equities 3 - -
Net derivatives contract8® 834 152 (163)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

through profit or loss:

Prepaid OTC contracts 52 2 Q)
Issued structured notes 17 - -

@ Net derivative contracts represent financial asskssified as held for trading derivative contracts net of financial liabiliti
classified as held for trading — derivative contisac

@ CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kexted from the effect of reasonably possible aliéwe assumptions in ¢h
table above. CVA is deemed to be a Level 3 inpugwttne underlying counterparty credit curve is wweotable. FVA is deemed
be a Level 3 input in its entirety given the ladlobservability of funding spreads in the principarket.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTI NUED)

e. Financial instruments valued using unobservablmarket data

The amounts not recognised in the consolidatednecstatement relating to the difference betweeridine
value at initial recognition (the transaction pjiead the amounts determined at initial recognitisimg
valuation techniques are as follows:

2015 2014
$millions $millions
At 1 January 234 351
New transactions 43 26
Amounts recognised in the consolidated income istaite
during the year (61) (143)
At 31 December 216 234

The consolidated statement of financial positionegaries ‘Financial assets and financial liabisitie
classified as held for trading’, ‘Financial assatgl financial liabilities designated at fair valirgough
profit or loss’, and ‘Available-for-sale financialssets’ include financial instruments whose falueds
based on valuation techniques using unobservabiketndata. The balance above predominantly retates
derivative contracts.

f. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oa non-recurring basis

Non-recurring fair value measurements of assetdiahilities are those which are required or peteditin
the consolidated statement of financial positionparticular circumstances. There were no assets or
liabilities measured at fair value on a non-reqgtbasis during the year or prior year.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E

The tables below present the carrying value, falu@ and fair value hierarchy category of certaaricial
assets and financial liabilities that are not mesgat fair value in the consolidated statemerftnaincial
position.

Financial assets and financial liabilities not mead at fair value for which the carrying value is
considered a reasonable approximation of fair vaheeexcluded from the tables below.

Fair value measurement using:

Valuation
Valuation techniques
Quoted techniques with
prices in using significant
active observable unobservable
Carrying Fair market inputs inputs
value value (Levell) (Level 2) (Level 3)
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
2015
Financial liabilities
Other payables 6,814 6,566 - 6,566 -
2014
Financial liabilities
Subordinated loans 7,906 8,064 - 8,064 -
Other payables 3,166 2,845 - 2,845 -

Also included in the consolidated statement ofririal position is $4,774 million (2014: $10,968 loih)

of other payables where the carrying value is aaerable approximation of fair value. The fair vabfe
other payables is determined based on currentestteates and credit spreads for debt instrumeitts w
similar terms and maturity.

As at 31 December 2015 the fair value of suborduhdbans was approximate to its carrying value. The
fair value of subordinated loans has been deterdnirzsed on the assumption that all subordinatetsloa
are held to the latest repayment date, althoughatheunts outstanding are repayable at any timbeat t
Group's option, subject to prior consent from tRAP

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group views capital as an important sourcenaicial strength. It actively manages and moniisrs
capital in line with established policies and paaes and in compliance with local regulatory
requirements.

The Group, in line with Morgan Stanley Group’s ¢apmanagement policies, manages its capital jpositi
based upon among other things, business oppodsiniisk appetite, capital availability and ratésedurn
together with internal capital policies, regulatoeguirements and rating agency guidelines andefiies,

in the future may expand or contract its capitadebto address the changing needs of its busineBises.
appropriate level of capital is determined at alemtity level to safeguard that entity’s abilitycontinue
as a going concern and ensure that it meets allatgy capital requirements. The key componenthef
capital management framework used by the Groupsateout in the Capital Management Policy and
include a point in time capital assessment, forvaoting capital projections and stress testing.

The MSI Group prepares an ICAAP document in ordemteet obligations under CRD IV and the
requirements of the PRA. The Group forms part efMSI Group.
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The ICAAP is one of the key tools used to inforra MSI Group’s capital adequacy assessment, planning
and management. The MSI Group ICAAP:

« Ensures the risks the MSI Group is exposed to ppeopriately capitalised and risk managed,
including those risks that are either not captuoedhot fully captured under Pillar 1;

e Uses stress testing to size a capital buffer aimtednsuring the MSI Group will continue to
operate above regulatory requirements under a rafnggvere but plausible stress scenarios; and

e Assesses capital adequacy under normal and stregsadting environments over the 3 year
capital planning horizon to ensure the MSI Groupnta@ns a capital position in line with internal
operating targets and above post stress minimueatdev

The key elements of the ICAAP are embedded in ti& @roup’s day-to-day management processes and
decision making culture.

The PRA reviews the ICAAP document through its Suisery Review Process and issues an Individual
Capital Guidance which sets the minimum level gfutetory capital for the MSI Group and the Company.
In addition, the PRA sets a capital planning buffdrich is available to support the MSI Group in a
stressed market environment.

The capital managed by the Group broadly includeses capital, Additional Tier 1 capital instruments
subordinated debt and reserves. In order to mainotaadjust its capital structure, the Group mdjust

the amount of dividends paid, return capital to stsareholder, issue new shares, issue or repay
subordinated debt or sell assets to reduce delet.Gdmpany’s capital as measured in accordance with
CRD 1V rules is shown within the strategic repantpage 12.

The Group manages the following items as capital:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Ordinary share capital 11,465 11,464
Additional Tier 1 capital 1,300 1,300
Subordinated debt 7,906 7,906
Reserves 3,697 3,353
24,368 24,023
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35. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION PLANS

Morgan Stanley maintains various deferred compé@rsagilans for the benefit of its employees. Two
principal forms of deferred compensation are grhntader equity-settled share-based compensation and
deferred cash based compensation plans.

Equity-settled share-based compensation plans
* Restricted stock units

Morgan Stanley has granted restricted stock undérdsv pursuant to several equity-based compensation
plans. The plans provide for the deferral of a iparbf certain employees’ incentive compensatiothwi
awards made in the form of restricted common stockn the right to receive unrestricted shares of
common stock in the future. Awards under thesegéar generally subject to vesting over time cait
upon continued employment and to restrictions de, deansfer or assignment until the end of a djmeti
period, generally one to three years from the dagrant. All or a portion of an award may be called if
employment is terminated before the end of theveaslerestriction period. All or a portion of a ted
award also may be cancelled in certain limitedagitins, including termination for cause during the
relevant restriction period. Recipients of stoelséd awards may have voting rights, at the Morgan
Stanley Group’s discretion, and generally receiveddnd equivalents.

During the year, Morgan Stanley granted 417,22842624,558) of restricted stock units to employales
the Group with a weighted average fair value pérr ain$34.59 (2014: $32.58), based on the markbteva
of Morgan Stanley shares at grant date.

Included within ‘Direct staff costs’ within the ‘Gér expense’ note is an amount of $17 million (20817
million) in relation to restricted stock units etjubased compensation plans, granted to employiet o
Group.

e Stock options

Morgan Stanley has also granted stock option awaudsuant to several equity-based compensatiorsplan
The plans provide for the deferral of a portionceftain key employees’ incentive compensation with
awards made in the form of stock options geneffadlying an exercise price not less than the fainevaif
Morgan Stanley’'s common stock on the date of graBuch stock option awards generally become
exercisable over a three year period and expire fiv ten years from the date of grant, subject to
accelerated expiration upon termination of employm8&tock option awards have vesting, restrictinod a
cancellation provisions that are generally simitathose in restricted stock units.

The following table shows activity relating to thtwrgan Stanley stock option awards for employeehef
Group:

2015 2014
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
options average options average
exercise price exercise price
'000s $ '000s $
Options outstanding at 1 January 61 65.73 118 56.81
Expired during the year (3) 43.15 (57) 47.19
Options outstanding and exercisable at
31 December 58 66.73 61 65.73
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35. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based compensation plans (contied)

e Stock options (continued)

2015 2014
Weighted Weighted
average  Weighted average  Weighted
Number of exercise average Number of exercise average
Range of options price  remaining options price  remaining
exercise prices '000s $ life in years '000s $ life in years
$40.00 - $49.99 - - - 3 43.15 -
$60.00 - $69.99 58 66.73 1.0 58 66.73 1.9
Total 58 66.73 1.0 61 65.73 1.9

Deferred cash-based compensation plans

The Group has granted non-equity based deferregpensation awards to certain of its key employees.
The plans provide for the deferral of a portiontted employees’ discretionary compensation with adear
that provide a return based upon the performancsabus referenced investments. Awards underethes
plans are generally subject to a sole vesting ¢immdof service over time, which normally rangesnfr six
months to three years from the date of grant. Ak @ortion of an award may be cancelled if emplegn

is terminated before the end of the relevant vggberiod. The awards are settled in cash at theoétite
relevant vesting period.

Awards with a value of $8 million (2014: $17 milfipwere granted to employees during the year and an
expense of $4 million (2014: $25 million) has beewognised within ‘Direct staff costs’ in ‘Other
expense’ in the consolidated income statement latioa to current and previous years’ awards. The
liability to employees at the end of the year, mga within ‘Accruals and deferred income’ in the
consolidated statement of financial position, i8 $dllion (2014: $26 million).

The Group economically hedges the exposure crdptedese deferred compensation schemes by entering
into derivative transactions with other Morgan $sirGroup undertakings. The derivative balancthat

end of the year recognised within ‘Financial lilgk classified as held for trading’ is $3 milli¢2014: $3
million). The related loss recorded within ‘Netiggon financial instruments classified as heldtfading’

for the year is $nil (2014: $nil).

Plans operated by fellow Morgan Stanley undertaking

As described in note 7, the Group utilises stafplyed by other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings a
incurs management charges in respect of these gegpkervices. These management charges include the

costs of equity-based compensation provided teeteesployees
36. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates several Morgan Stanley defioattibution plans, which require contributions t® b
made to funds held in trust, separate from theteiedehe Group.

The defined contribution plans are as follows:
e Morgan Stanley Flexible Company Pension Plan (Ardsi®);
* MSII Offshore Retirement Benefit Plan IV, Dubai 8en;
» Morgan Stanley Asia Limited Retirement Benefit P(@aiwan); and

e Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Seoul Bramgfined Contribution Plan.
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36. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
Defined contribution plans (continued)

The defined contribution pension charge in relatmthe above schemes recognised within ‘Staffstdst
‘Other expense’ in the consolidated income staténaers $3 million for the year (2014: $3 million) of
which $nil was accrued at 31 December 2015 (2044}. $

Defined benefit plans

The Group also operates several Morgan Stanleyetfbenefit plans, which provide post-employment
benefits that are based on length of service alaysa he Group’s policy is to fund at least thecamts
sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements a@ndpplicable employee benefit and tax regulations.

The defined benefits plans are as follows:
* Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Paris Bratie@ (Indemnites de Fin de Carriere);
« Morgan Stanley France (SAS) Leaving Indemnity Rlademnites de Fin de Carriere);
e Morgan Stanley Asia (Taiwan) Limited Retirement &tie;
e Morgan Stanley Asia (Taiwan) Limited Book ReserlanP

e Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Zurich Bran®ase and Top-up Plan (formerly
Personalvorsorgestiftung der Bank Morgan StanleyPA&). During the year the obligations and
assets of the Personalvorsorgestiftung der Banlghto6tanley AG Plan were fully transferred to
two new plans which provide substantially the sd@eefits as the former plan; and

¢ Morgan Stanley Dubai End of Service Gratuity.

The defined benefit pension charge in relationh® &above plans recognised in ‘Staff costs’ in ‘@the
expense’ in the consolidated income statement wasniflion for the year (2014: $2 million). The
cumulative amount of actuarial gains and lossesgrised in other comprehensive income is a $2 onilli
gain (2014: $3 million gain). A net liability of $&illion (2014: $5 million) is recognised in the @&p’s
consolidated statement of financial position irpexs of these plans.

Plans operated by fellow Morgan Stanley undertaking

In addition to the above, along with a number dieotMorgan Stanley Group companies, the Group écur
management charges from a fellow Morgan Stanleeraking, Morgan Stanley UK Limited (‘MSUK?),

in respect of MSUK’s employees’ services. These agament recharges include pension costs related to
the Morgan Stanley UK Group Pension Plan (‘the Blarhe Plan is a defined contribution scheme veith
closed defined benefit section.

Defined contribution scheme

The management recharge for the year in respetiieoflefined contribution scheme recognised within
‘Management charges from other Morgan Stanley Grongertakings relating to staff costs’ in ‘Other
expense’ was $54 million (2014: $58 million).

Defined benefit section

The defined benefit section of the Plan has beesed to new members since 1996. The Plan was
previously open to permanent employees employatarJK, and with the consent of the Trustees, other
Morgan Stanley employees located outside the UK ldmb previously been employed in the UK and who

at some point had been members of the Plan. Theiranad pension benefit that a member is entitled to

receive on retirement is dependent on years ofcgeand salary at the time of closure of the Phah996.

The Plan assets are held in a separate Trusteatatiméd fund to meet long-term pension liabiliti€ke
Trustees of the fund are required to act in the inésrests of the fund’s beneficiaries. The appoant of
Trustees to the Plan is determined by the Plan% slocumentation. MSUK has a policy that one third
Trustees should be nominated by members of the fund
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36. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
Plans operated by fellow Morgan Stanley undertaking (continued)

Defined benefit section (continued)

A full actuarial valuation of the defined benefécsion of the Plan is conducted at least everyethoefour
years. The most recent full actuarial valuatiothef Plan was carried out during 2013 with a vatuatiate
as at 31 December 2012.

The full actuarial valuation provides a funding isafor the Plan. The funding basis varies from the
valuation for accounting purposes as it is deteeghinsing assumptions reflective of the cost of segu
the benefits built up in the Plan with an insuranoepany. The position is reviewed each year asqgfar
the annual funding update.

There is no contractual arrangement for rechargfiegnet defined benefit cost of the Plan as a whole
measured in accordance with relevant accountingdatals. The Group recognises its contribution piayab
for the period as an expense. On this basis, theagement recharge for the year in respect of thiaatke
benefit plan recognised within ‘Management charffesn other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings
relating to staff costs’ in ‘Other expense’ wasrillion (2014: $11 million).

The full actuarial valuation at 31 December 201didgated a deficit on a funding basis of $22 millign
schedule of contributions was agreed by the Tresteel MSUK on 31 October 2013 on the basis of the
funding deficit. The final payment under the scHedf contributions was made in January 2015. A3lat
December 2015 no new schedule of contributionshess agreed. Future contributions may be agreed
following the next valuation during 2016.

The Group’s exposure to the Plan is limited to tfenagement recharges from MSUK in respect of the
contributions paid. These recharges are recog@iseth expense in the consolidated income statement.

On an accounting basis, the Plan has a surplussetsiover liabilities. The full actuarial valuatias at 31
December 2012, adjusted as appropriate for theirexgants of accounting standards, was updated by a
qualified actuary at 31 December 2015 to allow fivanges in market conditions and actuarial
assumptions. The liabilities of the Plan are meadiy discounting the best estimate of future ¢hsis

to be paid out by the Plan using the projected mngithod. Under this method, each participant’s fisne
under the Plan are attributed to years of sentaleing into consideration the Plan’s benefit altima
formula. For the defined benefit section of therPkccrual of future benefits ceased in 1996 anfliriber
benefit has been attributed to service during syleset reporting periods. The accumulated benefit
obligation is therefore an actuarial measure ofpitesent value of benefits for service already eeed and
includes no assumption for future salary increa8esassumption for revaluation in deferment is tinito

the valuation of the scheme. This revaluation pxesethe benefits accrued and prevents the benefit
diminishing over time through the effects of initat.

The following table provides a summary of the pmntsealue of the defined benefit obligation and fair
value of plan assets:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Present value of the funded defined benefit okibbgat (243) (264)
Fair value of plan assets 325 343
Surplus of the funded defined benefit plan 82 79
Impact of asset ceiling (82) (79)

Net asset - -

The asset ceiling restricts the surplus recognmedhe MSUK Statement of Financial Position to the
amount that is recoverable by MSUK.
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36. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Plans operated by fellow Morgan Stanley undertaking (continued)

Defined benefit section (continued)

Actuarial assumptions

The following table presents the principal actuaa@sumptions used in the valuation of the Plan;

2015 2014

% %

Pre retirement discount rate 3.6 3.3
Post retirement discount rate 2.9 2.9
Inflation 3.1 3.1
Revaluation in deferment 2.1 2.1

The mortality assumptions used give the followiifg €xpectations:

Life expectancy at age 65 for a.ife expectancy at age 65 for

male member currently: female member currently:
Aged 65 Aged 45 Aged 65 Aged 45
31 December 2015
UK 90.1 92.2 92.2 94.6
31 December 2014
UK 90.0 92.1 92.1 94.5

Plan assets

MSUK and the Trustees, in consultation with theidépendent investment consultants and actuaries,
determine the asset allocation targets based an dksessment of business and financial conditions,
demographic and actuarial data, funding charatiesigand related risk factors. Other relevant fegto
including industry practices and long-term histati@and prospective capital market returns, are also
considered. The overall investment objective iseexgd to minimise the volatility of the Plan’s slugpor
deficit.

Specific risks which are managed through the adketation targets include:

* Interest rate and inflation risk — Plan liabilitiedll change in response to changes in interestrat
and inflation. The policy is to hedge this riskfasas possible;

e Asset volatility — investment in asset classes aghquities gives rise to volatility in the vahfe
the assets. The policy is to invest in asset ckasdich closely match the Plan’s liabilities;

e Credit risk — any default or downgrade in instrutsesuch as corporate bonds and money market
instruments may result in losses. The policy ipaotially mitigate this risk by investment in a
range of different credit instruments via pooledds;;

e Liquidity risk — the liquidity of investments mayange over time which may have an impact on
the expected transaction costs. The Trustees antUKM8ave reviewed the likely cash
requirements of the Plan and are satisfied thatirntiestment arrangements provide sufficient
liquidity; and

« Longevity risk — the longevity experience may diffeom expectations and expectations may
change over time. The purchase of annuities fosipeers mitigates a substantial portion of this
risk.
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36. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

In line with the above investment objectives, thenFholds investments in a range of pooled investme
vehicles of varying maturities intended to broaddflect the expected liability profile of the Plafhe
major categories and fair values of scheme asséle @&nd of the reporting period are set out belalv
investments are quoted in an active market in etrs.

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Cash funds 88 53
Corporate bond index funds 51 56
Government bond index funds:
UK Gilt index funds 83 135
GBP fixed liability matching funds 91 87
Fixed Gilts 12 12
325 343

37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Parent and subsidiary relationships

The Group’s immediate parent undertaking is Mor§anley Investments (UK) which is registered in
England and Wales. Copies of its financial statdmean be obtained from the Registrar of Compdioies
England and Wales, Companies House, Crown Way,if€aid14 3UZ.

The ultimate parent undertaking and controllingitgnis Morgan Stanley. This is the largest group of
which the Group is a member and for which groupiitial statements are prepared. Morgan Stanley has
its registered office c/o The Corporation Trust @amy, The Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange
Street, Wilmington, DE 19801, United States of Alreerand is incorporated in the state of Delaware, i
the United States of America. Copies of its finahcistatements can be obtained from
www.morganstanley.com/investorrelations.

Key management compensation

Key management personnel are defined as thosensehswing authority and responsibility for planning
directing and controlling the activities of the @Gpo

The Morgan Stanley Group’s corporate governancedr@ork gives consideration to legal, geographical

and business lines through a combination of boafddirectors, and regional and global management
committees. Accordingly, in addition to the Direxs of the Company, key management personnel of the
Group is considered to include the boards of dimsciof certain parent companies, including that of

Morgan Stanley, certain members of key Morgan ®tatroup management committees, and certain
executive officers of Morgan Stanley.

The boards of the Group’s parent companies, theagement committees and the executive officers cover
the full range of the Morgan Stanley Group’s busiactivities. Only those members with responsybili
for the Institutional Securities business, being tinly reportable business segment of the Group, ar
considered to be key management personnel of tbepgGiThe aggregate compensation below represents
the proportion of compensation paid to these kepagament personnel, including the Directors of the
Company, in respect of their services to the Group.
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Key management compensation (continued)
Compensation paid by the Group to key managemeasbpeel in respect of their services rendered ¢o th
Group is:

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Short-term employee benefits 58 50
Post-employment benefits - 1
Share-based payments 25 31
Other long-term employee benefits 13 30
Termination benefits 1 -
97 112

The share-based payment costs disclosed abovetréfée amortisation of equity-based awards gratded
key management personnel over the last three yearsre therefore not directly aligned with othexffs
costs in the current year.

Directors' emoluments

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Total emoluments of all Directors:
Aggregate remuneration 14 16
Long term incentive schemes 6 6
20 22
Disclosures in respect of the highest paid Director
Aggregate remuneration 4 4
Long term incentive schemes 2 2
6 6

Key management personnel compensation is bornehbyGroup and other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings in both the current and prior years.

Directors’ remuneration has been calculated asuneof cash, bonuses and benefits in kind.

Directors who are employees of the Morgan Stanleyu are eligible for shares and share optionsef t
parent company, Morgan Stanley, awarded under thegdh Stanley Group’s equity-based long term
incentive schemes. In accordance with Schedularagpaph 1(3)(a) of The Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Régnga2008, the above disclosures include neither th
value of shares awarded, nor the gains made ortisgeof share options. During the year under these
incentive schemes, no Directors exercised shatierp(2014: none) and six Directors received deter
stock unit awards in respect of qualifying servjdasluding the highest paid Director (2014: seven)

The value of assets (other than shares) awardegt atiger long term incentive schemes has beendadlu
in the above disclosures when the awards vest,haikigenerally within three years from the datehef
award.

There are five Directors to whom retirement besefite accruing under a defined contribution scheme
(2014: six) operated by MSUK. Two Directors hawnéfits accruing under a Morgan Stanley non-UK
defined benefits scheme (2013: three). In addittme Director has benefits accruing under therAdtBve
Retirement Plan, a defined benefit scheme, opelatddSUK (2014: none).
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Transactions with related parties

The Morgan Stanley Group conducts business fontsliglobally through a combination of both functbn
and legal entity organisational structures. Acowly, the Group is closely integrated with the @i®ns

of the Morgan Stanley Group and enters into traiag with other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings
on an arm’s length basis for the purposes of imdisfinancing, trading and risk management, and
infrastructure services. The nature of theseioglahips along with information about the transatdi and
outstanding balances is given below. The Groumbasecognised any expense and has made no provisio
for impairment relating to the amount of outstagdiralances from related parties (2014: $nil).

Cash
The Group places cash with other Morgan Stanleyu@mndertakings. All such transactions are entered
into on an arm’s length basis.

2015 2014
Interest Balance Interest Balance
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions

Amounts due from other Morgan Stanley
Group undertakings - 34 - 19

Funding

The Group receives funding from and provides fugdmother Morgan Stanley Group undertakings in the
following forms:

e General funding

General funding is unsecured, floating rate lendirfgunding may be received or provided for specific
transaction related funding requirements, or fonegal operational purposes. The interest rates are
established by the Morgan Stanley Group Treasumgtfon for all entities within the Morgan Stanley
Group and approximate the market rate of intefest the Morgan Stanley Group incurs in funding its
business.

Details of the outstanding balances on these fundimangements and the related interest income or
expense recognised in the consolidated incomenstatieduring the year are shown in the table below:

2015 2014
Interest Balance Interest Balance
$millions $millions $millions $millions

Amounts due from the Group’s direct
and indirect parent undertakings 7 119 4 548

Amounts due from other Morégan Stanley

Group undertakings (restated) 31 1,090 38 2,154
38 1,209 42 2,702
Amounts due to the Group’s direct
and indirect parent undertakings 232 4,367 167 5,968
Amounts due to other Morgan Stanley
Group undertakings (restatétl) 152 6,929 346 7,902
384 11,296 513 13,870

(1) Details of the restatement are provided in 2ote
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Transactions with related parties (continued)

¢ Subordinated loans

The Group received a subordinated loan from andiengan Stanley Group undertaking. Details of the
terms of the loan, including the contractual maguaind the interest rate are shown in note 18. iftesest
rate is established by the Morgan Stanley Groumduey function based on available market infornmatio
at the time the loan is provided or subsequentlgradad.

Trading and risk management

In the course of funding its business, the Grougrsrinto collateralised financing transactionshvather
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings. All such tratisas are entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Details of the outstanding balances included i cadlateral on securities borrowed/ loaned andisées
purchased/ sold under agreements to resell/ repsectn the consolidated statement of financialtjposi

on such transactions and the related interest iBcomexpense recognised in the consolidated income
statement during the year are shown in the taliteabe

2015 2014
Interest Balance Interest Balance
$millions $millions $millions $millions
Amounts due from the Group’s direct and
indirect parent undertakings (2) - 1 -
Amounts due from other Morgan Stanley
Group undertakings (restatet]) (148) 26,759 (62) 36,082
(149) 26,759 (61) 36,082
Amounts due to the Group’s direct and
indirect parent undertakings 22 12,122 16 8,930
Amounts due to other Morgan Stanley Group
Undertakings (restate) 178 15,061 53 20,406
200 27,183 69 29,336

(1) Details of the restatement are provided in 12ote

The Group enters into purchases and sales of sesuand derivative transactions with other Morgan
Stanley Group undertakings to facilitate the priovisof financial services to clients on a globasikaand

to manage the market risks associated with suclindss The Group also enters into derivative
transactions with other Morgan Stanley Group urakéngs to manage the market risks associated with
certain of its compensation plans. All such tratieas are entered into on an arm’s length basis. fair
value of such derivatives contracts outstandingékided in financial assets/ liabilities clasdifias held

for trading in the consolidated statement of finahposition at the year end were as follows:
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Transactions with related parties (continued)

Trading and risk management (continued)

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Amounts due from the Group’s direct and indireaigpa undertakings on
securities and derivative transactions 2,158 4,918
Amounts due from other Morgan Stanley Group undértgs on
securities and derivative transactions 49,000 63,757
51,158 68,675
2015 2014
$millions $millions
Amounts due to the Group’s direct and indirect patmdertakings on
securities and derivative transactions 925 4,269
Amounts due to other Morgan Stanley Group undentgkion
securities and derivative transactions 48,115 58,805
49,040 63,074

The Group has received collateral from derivatiransactions of $1,764 million (2014: $nil) from the
Group’s direct and indirect parent undertaking &id883 million (2014: $1,978 million) from other
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings. The Group hedgad collateral of $20,021 million (2014: $21,272
million) to other Morgan Stanley Group undertakirtgsmitigate credit risk on exposures arising under
derivatives contracts between the Group and othenglth Stanley Group undertakings. The total amounts
receivable and payable from such transactionsrededed within trade receivables and trade payaibles
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In addition, the management and execution of bgsistrategies on a global basis results in manygdtor
Stanley transactions impacting a humber of MorgtmIBy Group entities. The Morgan Stanley Group
operates a number of intra-group policies to ensia¢, where possible, revenues and related costs a
matched. For the year ended 31 December 2015, &setof $1,798 million was transferred to other
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings relating to sestenue transfer pricing policies and recognisetthén
consolidated income statement arising from suclcigsl (2014: net loss of $1,134 million).
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37. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Transactions with related parties (continued)
Trading and risk management (continued)

For certain business strategies transacted by thepGwhere that business strategy has incurredsadn
another Morgan Stanley Group entity, policies arepliace such that losses are only transferred é¢o th
Group to the extent that the losses are offsetrbfitg arising on the same business strategy #ftetoss
was incurred. During 2014, this resulted in lodseimg incurred on other Morgan Stanley Group ettiti
that would otherwise be transferred to the GrousE losses were transferred to the Group duriti§.20

For policies for certain business strategies tretesbby other Morgan Stanley Group undertakingsresh
that business strategy has booked positions oGibap, any losses on these positions are nettesdsaeil
business strategies on each loss bearing entityaamdnly transferred to the relevant Morgan Stanle
Group undertakings to the extent that the lossestset by profits arising from the same populatad
business strategies within the other Morgan Sta@leyup undertakings. For the year ended 31 Decembe
2014 this resulted in losses being incurred byGheup that would otherwise have been transferrexther
Morgan Stanley Group undertakings. These losse® wmnsferred to other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings in 2015.

Infrastructure services

The Group receives and incurs management chargagitrom other Morgan Stanley Group undertakings
for infrastructure services, including the provisiof staff and office facilities. Management redes
received and incurred during the year are as falow

2015 2014

Other Other
Staff costs  services Staff costs  services
$millions  $millions  Smillions  $millions

Amounts recharged from the Group’s direct and axtir

parent undertakings 408 319 94 303

Amounts recharged from other Morgan Stanley Group
undertakings 1,208 73 2,100 367
1,616 392 2,194 670

Amounts outstanding at the reporting date relatednanagement charges to and from other Ma
Stanley Group undertakingsrfinfrastructure services are included within tlengral funding balanc
disclosed above.

Taxation

The Group has surrendered group relief to other loeesnof the Morgan Stanley UK tax group for no cash
consideration (see note 8).

Other related party transactions

The Group has received a guarantee from MSI, toagi@e the obligations under derivative contraéts o
certain fellow Morgan Stanley Group undertakingshi® Company. As at 31 December 2015, no call had
been made by the Group under these arrangements.
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MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2015

Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions
PROFIT/ (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 3 414 (616)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently tgrofit or loss:
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (1) 1
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to prifor loss:
Currency translation reserve:
Foreign currency translation differences arisingameign
operations (32) (44)
Available-for-sale reserve:
Net change in fair value of available-for-saleafigial assets 10 €)) 1
Unwinding of deferred tax on net day one gainsraobgnised
upon initial recognition of financial instruments - (2)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER INCOME
TAX FOR THE YEAR (36) (44)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS) FOR THE
YEAR 378 (660)

The notes on pages 121 to 158 form an integralgfdhe financial statements.
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Share Currency Available Capital Capital
Equity premium translation -for-sale contribution redemption Pension Retained Total
Note instruments  account reserve reserve reserve reserve  reserve earnings  equity

$millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions

Balance at
1 January 2014 11,464 513 (44) 5 3 1,400 - 2,136 15,477

Loss for the year - - - - - - - (616) (616)

Other comprehensive

income - - (44) 1 - - 1 (2) (44)
Total

comprehensive

income/ (loss) - - (44) 1 - - 1 (618) (660)
Transactions with

owners:

Issue of Additional

Tier 1 capital 1,300 - - - - - - - 1,300

Balance at
31 December 2014 12,764 513 (88) 6 3 1,400 1 1,518 16,117
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 414 414

Other comprehensive

income - - (32) 3) - - (1) - (36)
Total

comprehensive

income/ (loss) - - (32) 3 - - (1) 414 378

Transactions with
owners:

Issue of ordinary
share capital 18 1 - - - - - - - 1
Dividends 19 - - - - - - - (12) (12)

Balance at
31 December 2015 12,765 513 (120) 3 3 1,400 - 1,920 16,484

The notes on pages 121 to 158 form an integralgfdhe financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2015

ASSETS

Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits
Cash collateral on securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets classified as held for tradingywth $40,579 million

(2014: $43,572 million) were pledged to varioustiea)
Financial assets designated at fair value throudfit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and accrued income

Investments in subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts
Cash collateral on securities loaned
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Trade payables
Subordinated loans
Other payables

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin
Financial liabilities designated at fair value tigh profit or loss
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Accruals and deferred income

Post employment benefit obligations

TOTAL LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Equity instruments

Share premium account

Currency translation reserve
Available-for-sale reserve

Capital contribution reserve

Capital redemption reserve

Pension reserve

Retained earnings

TOTAL EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNER OF THE COMPA  NY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Note 2015 2014
$millions $millions
4 11,726 11,401
22,369 20,610
58,644 58,724
50,915 54,884
6 1,854 3,412
145,508 149,031
7 245,124 297,284
9 1,636 3,360
10 35 38
182 210
16 110 70
38 70
11 85 85
12 3 2
392,721 450,150
- 15
16,347 20,604
38,011 45,911
81,523 83,553
13 7,906 7,906
14 12,023 14,003
155,810 171,992
7 215,328 256,646
9 4,865 5,131
15 21 43
43 58
16 1 1
166 160
29 3 2
376,237 434,033
18 12,765 12,764
513 513
(120) (88)
3 6
3 3
1,400 1,400
- 1
1,920 1,518
16,484 16,117
392,721 450,150

These financial statements were approved by thedBarad authorised for issue on 21 April 2016.

Signed on behalf of the Board
R=t8

C Castello

Director

The notes on pages 121 to 158 form an integralgfdhte financial statements.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements contain information albloes Company as an individual company and do not
contain consolidated financial information as tlheegmt of a group.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared inrdacoe with FRS 101 and therefore the Company has
adopted the following standards issued by the FEia&rReporting Council, with effect from 1 January
2015:

- FRS 10QApplication of Financial Reporting Requireme(itsSRS 100")
- FRS 101 (as issued in August 2014)
- Amendments to FRS 10Réduced Disclosure Framewd2R14/15 cycle review) and other minor
amendments
Included within the amendments to FRS 101 aboveaarendments arising for consistency with company
law which have been early adopted with effect ftbdanuary 2015.

There were no material adjustments to any periedgnted on adoption of FRS 101. Certain items have
been reclassified in order to conform to the curyear presentation.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifyingitgrand is a Financial Institution as defined iR%
100. The Company has taken advantage of the fallgpwisclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

(1) The requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46-5EREI2Share Based Payment;
(2) The requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 1Bd@xtent that they apply to assets and
liabilities other than financial instruments;
(3) The requirement in paragraph 38 of IA®Rtesentation of Financial StatemerftiAS 1) to
present comparative information in respect of:
a. Paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1
b. Paragraph 73(e) of IAS Wroperty, Plant and Equipment
(4) The requirements of paragraph 10(d), 16, 38A, 3K, 38D and 111of IAS 1;
(5) The requirements of IAS Statement of Cash Flows;
(6) The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IA8&unting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors;
(7) The requirements of paragraphs 17 and 18BA\68f24 Related Party Disclosuré€$AS 24");

(8) The requirements in IAS 24 to disclose relatedyp@mainsactions entered into between two or
more members of a group, provided that any subsidiaich is a party to the transaction is
wholly owned by such a member; and

(9) The requirements of paragraph 6 and 21 of IFFE8st-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards;

Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have beeviged in the Group accounts in which the Company i
consolidated.

New standards and interpretations adopted during tle year

As noted in the Statement of compliance aboveCinapany has adopted FRS 101 for the first timéén t
current year. There were no material amendmenényoperiod presented on adoption of FRS 101, other
than the reclassification of certain items in ordeconform with the current year format in thetestaent of
financial position and related notes.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Company are prepargler the historical cost basis except for certai
financial instruments that have been measuredratdhue as explained in the accounting policielewe

Use of estimates and sources of uncertainty

The preparation of the Company’s financial statememquires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions regarding the valuafi@entain financial instruments, impairment of dsse
deferred tax, pension obligations, the outcomeitafation, and other matters that affect the finahc
statements and related disclosures. The Comparngvbeslthat the estimates utilised in preparing the
financial statements are reasonable, relevanteiable. Actual results could differ from thes¢imates.

For further details on the judgements used in ddteng fair value of certain assets and liabilifisse note
26.

The going concern assumption

The Company’s business activities, together wita factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position, are reflected in the Bass Review section of the Strategic report on page
14. In addition, the notes to the financial statetseinclude the Company’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital; its financiak rmanagement objectives; details of its financial
instruments; and its exposures to credit risk anddity risk.

As set out in the Strategic report, retaining sidfit liquidity and capital to withstand market gsares
remains central to the Morgan Stanley Group’s &edd@ompany’s strategy.

Taking all of these factors into consideration, thieectors believe it is reasonable to assume tiat
Company will have access to adequate resourcesriiinoe in operational existence for the forese=abl
future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the mgpiconcern basis in preparing the annual report and
financial statements.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the Company are the sasrghose of the Group which are set out in ndte 3
the consolidated financial statements, exceptpblty 3(j) on business combinations and disposatot
applicable to the Company and investments in sur#éd held by the company are carried at histbrica
cost, less provision for impairment in accordandd the policy below.

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Comparsydmmtrol. The Company controls an entity whers it i
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns fitaminvolvement with the entity and has the apilio
affect those returns through its power over théyent

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at coss, pegvision for any impairment (see note 2(b) bélow
Dividends, impairment losses and reversals of immpant losses are recognised in total profit or.loss
Dividends from investments which would be classifés financial liabilities by the investee are sifisd

as interest and recognised in total profit or loss.

(b) Impairment of subsidiaries

Impairment losses on investment in subsidiaries measured as the difference between cost and the
current estimated recoverable amount. When thevezable amount is less than the cost, an impairmmen
recognised within total profit or loss and is reflsd against the carrying amount of the impairesttasn

the statement of financial position. Investmentssisidiaries which have suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairmerthatend of each reporting period.
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3. PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies AQ6&0he Company has elected not to present its own
income statement for the period. The Company repaxtprofit after tax of $414 million for the yesrded
31 December 2015 (2014: $616 million loss afte}.tax

4. CASH AND SHORT TERM DEPOSITS

Included within cash and short term deposits iamount of $9,497 million (2014: $8,384 million) whi
represents segregated client money, held in acooedaith the FCA'’s Client Money Rules, and an antoun
of $494 million (2014: $718 million) which repredsmther client money.

5. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Loans and receivables 145,536 149,069
Less impairment losses (28) (38)

145,508 149,031

A reconciliation of impairment losses for loans aadeivables is as follows:

2015 2014
$millions $millions
At 1 January 38 36
Charge for the year 17 15
Reversal of impairment losses (20) (5)
Amounts written off (2 @)
Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances - (1)
Reclassification of other receivables (15) -
At 31 December 28 38

During 2015 impairment losses of $15 million rethte certain withholding tax reclaim balances v
reclassified from loans and receivables to cunt@ntssets.

6. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Amounts held at exchanges 592 514
Amounts due from other Morgan Stanley Group undértgs 1,188 2,805
Other amounts receivable 74 93
1,854 3,412
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7. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES CLASS

TRADING

Government debt securities
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivatives (see note 8)

IFIED AS HELD FOR

2015 2014
Assets  Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
$millions $millions $millions $millions
11,365 10,747 10,881 8,923
6,965 1,281 11,248 2,215
40,909 23,364 40,583 14,935
185,885 179,936 234,572 230,573
245,124 215,328 297,284 256,646

There are no terms and conditions of any finarasaket or liability classified as held for traditgtt may
individually significantly affect the amount, timgrand certainty of future cash flows for the Compan

8. DERIVATIVES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR TRADING

Derivative assets:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commodity contracts

Derivative liabilities:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commodity contracts

2015

Listed

Bilateral Cleared derivative
oTC OTC contracts Total
$millions $millions $millions $millions
76,802 2,761 1 79,564
10,154 4 - 10,158
61,489 295 - 61,784
24,617 - 5,253 29,870
4,438 - 71 4,509
177,500 3,060 5,325 185,885
71,253 2,854 2 74,109
10,391 7 10,398
60,304 238 - 60,542
26,452 - 5,241 31,693
2,811 - 383 3,194
171,211 3,099 5,626 179,936

124



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2015

8. DERIVATIVES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR TRADING (CONT INUED)

2014
Listed
Bilateral Cleared derivative
OoTC OTC contracts Total

$millions $millions $millions $millions
Derivative assets:

Interest rate contracts 96,638 7,514 14 104,166
Credit contracts 17,548 43 - 17,591
Foreign exchange and gold contracts 68,601 158 - 68,759
Equity contracts 28,881 - 8,115 36,996
Commodity contracts 6,908 - 152 7,060

218,576 7,715 8,281 234,572

Derivative liabilities:

Interest rate contracts 93,281 7,457 11 100,749
Credit contracts 17,283 80 - 17,363
Foreign exchange and gold contracts 67,407 170 - 67,577
Equity contracts 31,069 - 8,125 39,194
Commodity contracts 5,342 - 348 5,690

214,382 7,707 8,484 230,573

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIG NATED AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

A description of financial instruments designatéfaa value through profit and loss is providedhiote 13
of the consolidated financial statements and ctsisthe following:

2015 2014

Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities

$millions $millions $millions $millions

Prepaid OTC contracts 491 1,060 323 1,698
Corporate loans 436 - 1,296 -
Issued structured notes - 1,371 - 1,449
Other financial assets and liabilities 709 2,434 1,741 1,984
1,636 4,865 3,360 5,131

The maximum exposure to credit risk of corporambwhich are designated at fair value throughitpoof
loss as at 31 December 2015 is $436 million (214296 million). The cumulative change in fair weal
of loans attributable to changes in credit risk ame to $nil (2014: gain of $1 million) and the olya for
the current year is a loss of $1 million (2014:rgaf $5 million). This change is determined asah®unt
of change in fair value that is not attributablebanges in market conditions that give rise tokearisk.

The change in fair value recognised through therme statement attributable to own credit risk for
financial liabilities designated at fair value dhgithe year is a gain of $33 million (2014: gain$1
million) and cumulatively is a loss of $4 millio2@14: loss of $37 million). This change is detereiras
the amount of change in fair value that is notilaitable to changes in market conditions that gise to

market risk.

The carrying amount of financial liabilities desiged at fair value was $14 million lower than the
contractual amount due at maturity (2014: $45 olliower).
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10. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets that are classified as availailsdle consists of corporate equities, of whichditlion
are listed investments (2014: $2 million). All othavestments classified as available-for-sale rfaial
assets are unlisted.

Movement in available-for-sale financial assets:

2015 2014
$millions $millions
Fair value
At 1 January 38 56
Additions 1 -
Changes in fair value recognised in the availabteshle reserve 3) (4)
Disposals and other settlements (1) (14)
At 31 December 35 38
11. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiary
undertakings
$millions
Cost
At 1 January 2015 1,081
At 31 December 2015 1,081
Impairment provisions
At 1 January 2015 (996)
At 31 December 2015 (996)
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2014 85
At 31 December 2015 85

Details of all subsidiary undertakings (includingdirect subsidiaries) of the Company at 31 December
2015 and 31 December 2014 are provided in the Agigeto the financial statements (see pages 159 to
161).
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings and
improvement equipment Total
$millions $millions $millions
Cost
At 1 January 2015 14 12 26
Additions - 2 2
Foreign exchange revaluation 1) (1) (2)
Disposals - (1) (1)
At 31 December 2015 13 12 25
Depreciation
At 1 January 2015 13 11 24
Charge for the year 1 1 2
Foreign exchange revaluation (2) (2) (4)
At 31 December 2015 12 10 22
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 1 2 3
13. SUBORDINATED LOANS
Counterparty Repayment Date Interest Rate 2015 2014
$millions $millions
LIBOR® plus
Morgan Stanley UK Finance | LP 31 October 2025 1.475% 7,906 7,906

@ London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR")

The amount outstanding under the subordinated dgasement is repayable at any time at the Company’s
option, subject to appropriate notice to the leratat at least three months’ notice to the PRA.

The Company has not defaulted on principal, inteogsmade any other breaches with respect to its
subordinated loan during the year.

14. OTHER PAYABLES

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Amounts due to other Morgan Stanley Group undentgki 11,846 13,769
Other amounts payable 177 234
12,023 14,003
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15. PROVISIONS

Property Litigation Other Total

$millions $millions $millions $millions

At 1 January 2015 5 1 37 43

Additional provisions - 4 8 12

Provisions utilised 1) 3) (28) (32)

Unused provisions reversed - (1) - Q)

Foreign exchange revaluation - - (1) (1)

At 31 December 2015 4 1 16 21
Property

Property provisions represent the net present valwexpected future costs of excess office spaee ¢h
sublease income) and the net present value of eegpéature costs of reinstating leasehold improvaisme
at the end of the lease term. Lease reinstatepmewisions are released when the reinstatemergatigins
have been fulfilled. The related asset for leasi@statement provisions is included in ‘Leasehold
improvements’ within ‘Property, plant and equipménbte 12).

Litigation matters and other provisions

Litigation matters and other provisions relatedht® Company are the same as the Group. Refer ¢o2@ot
of the consolidated financial statements for a dpson of these matters and provisions.

16. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporaredifices under the liability method. The movemeiité
deferred tax account is as follows:

2015 2014

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred

tax tax tax tax

asset liability asset liability

$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions

At 1 January 70 (1) 78 (2)

Amount recognised in the income statement

- Current year timing differences (24) 1 - -

- Prior year timing differences 37 - (6) -

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income Q) - (2) -
Future tax charges on transitional accounting

adjustments - - - 1

Impact of change in tax rates 28 (1) - -

At 31 December 110 (1) 70 (1)
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16. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

2015 2014
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
tax asset tax tax asset tax
liability liability
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Accelerated capital allowances 4 - 5 -
Deferred compensation 6 - 8 R
Deferred interest 95 - 54 -
Other temporary differences 5 1) 3 1)
110 (1) 70 (1)

Finance (No. 2) Act 2015 enacted reductions intKecorporation tax rate to 19% with effect from pri\
2017 and 18% with effect from 1 April 2020 and aistvoduced an 8% corporation tax surcharge on the
profits of banking companies with effect from 1 Jary 2016. These changes to corporation tax rates
impacted the deferred tax charge and closing detfeex position for 2015.

The deferred tax assets recognised are based oageraent assessment that it is probable that the
Company will have taxable profits against which tvaporary differences can be utilised.

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancellable comatéeases on premises and equipment. These leases
have an average life of between one to seven yEhesleases on the premises include renewal opéinds
escalation clauses in line with general rental mecknditions and rent adjustments based on pritiegs.

The lease agreements do not contain contingentpament clauses or purchase options and they tlo no
impose any restrictions on the Company’s abilitp&y dividends, engage in debt financing transastir

enter into further lease agreements.

Future minimum lease payments under naneellable operating leases as at 31 Decembedusre:
shown below. Such amounts are stated net of fuhiménum sub-lease receivables%i3 million (2014
$16 million).

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Within one year 4 4
In the second to fifth years inclusive 13 14
After five years 4 2
21 20
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
Other commitments and contingent liabilities

At 31 December, the Company had the following @mding commitments and contingent liabilities
arising from off-balance sheet financial instrunsent

Contingent liabilities 2015 2014
$millions $millions

Guarantees 982 962
Letters of credit 1 1
983 963
Commitments 2015 2014
$millions $millions

Loan commitments 1,983 1,815
Underwriting commitments . 290
Forward starting reverse repurchase agreerfténts 18,391 24,797
Forward starting repurchase agreeméhts 11,630 19,580
32,004 46,482

(1) Forward starting reverse repurchase agreementsse the value of unsettled securities purchaseér agreements to rédse
which have a trade date at or prior to 31 Decerib&b and settle subsequent to period end.

(2) Forward starting repurchase agreements reprasentalue of unsettled securities under agreemergporchase, which hawe
trade date at or prior to 31 December 2015 antesmtbsequent to period end.

18. EQUITY
Class A
Ordinary  Ordinary ordinary  Additional Total
shares ol shares of  shares of Tier 1 equity
$1 each £1 each $1 eact capital instruments

$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
Issued and fully paid up:

At 1 January 2015 9,934 30 1,500 1,300 12,764
Issued in the year:

Ordinary shares of $1 each issued 1 - - - 1

At 31 December 2015 9,935 30 1,500 1,300 12,765
Voting rights as 31 December 2015 99.7%(1) 0.3% (1) Non-voting Non-voting 100%

(1) Ordinary shares are pari passu with each edgardless of currency and together carry 100%ef t
voting rights (2014: 100%).

Details of equity instruments and each reserve povided in note 23 of the consolidated financial
statements.

19. DIVIDENDS

On 22 January 2015, the Directors approved a coppgment on the Additional Tier 1 capital instrursen
of $14,850,694 out of reserves available for disttion at 31 December 2014. The coupon was paigOon
January 2015 and resulted in a tax benefit of $BEUD. The payment was reflected in the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 Dece@®#5 as it became due during 2015.

The Directors have not proposed the payment afia flividend out of reserves available at 31 De@mb
2015 (2014: $nil).
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20. EXPECTED MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The table below shows an analysis of assets abititiiss analysed according to when they are exgrbtd
be recovered, realised or settled.

At 31 December 2015 Less than
or equal to More than
twelve twelve
months months Total
$millions  $millions  $millions
ASSETS
Loans and receivables:
Cash and short-term deposits 11,726 - 11,726
Cash collateral on securities borrowed 22,369 - 22,369
Securities purchased under agreements to resell ,60%8 35 58,644
Trade receivables 50,915 - 50,915
Other receivables 1,262 592 1,854
144,881 627 145,508
Financial assets classified as held for trading , P25 - 245,124
Financial assets designated at fair value througfitfor loss 1,091 545 1,636
Available-for-sale financial assets - 35 35
Current tax assets 182 - 182
Deferred tax assets - 110 110
Prepayments and accrued income 38 - 38
Investments in subsidiaries - 85 85
Property, plant and equipment - 3 3
391,316 1,405 392,721
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Cash collateral on securities loaned 14,954 1,393 16,347
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 5584, 3,453 38,011
Trade payables 81,523 - 81,523
Subordinated loans - 7,906 7,906
Other payables 5,005 7,018 12,023
136,040 19,770 155,810
Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin 215,328 - 215,328
Financial liabilities designated at fair value thgh profit or loss 3,376 1,489 4,865
Provisions - 21 21
Current tax liabilities 43 - 43
Deferred tax liabilities - 1 1
Accruals and deferred income 166 - 166
Post-employment benefit obligations - 3 3

354,953 21,284 376,237
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20. EXPECTED MATURITY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CO NTINUED)

At 31 December 2014

ASSETS

Loans and receivables:
Cash and short term deposits
Cash collateral on securities borrowed
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Financial assets classified as held for trading

Financial assets designated at fair value througfitfor loss
Available-for-sale financial assets

Current tax assets

Deferred tax assets

Prepayments and accrued income
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts
Cash collateral on securities loaned

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase
Trade payables

Subordinated loans
Other payables

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin
Financial liabilities designated at fair value thgh profit or loss

Provisions
Current taxiabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Post-employment benefit obligations

Less than
or equal to More than
twelve twelve

months months Total
$millions  $millions  $millions
11,401 - 11,401
20,610 - 20,610

, 7258 - 58,724
54,884 - 54,884
2,898 514 3,412
148,517 514 149,031
, 20/ - 297,284
2,589 771 3,360

- 38 38

210 - 210

- 70 70

70 - 70

- 85 85

- 2 2
448,670 1,480 450,150
15 - 15
20,604 - 20,604
8442, 3,067 45,911
83,553 83,553

- 7,906 7,906
10,837 3,166 14,003
157,853 14,139 171,992
256,646 - 256,646
3,269 1,862 5,131

- 43 43

58 - 58

- 1 1

160 - 160

- 2 2
417,986 16,047 434,033
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21. SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information is presented in respect toGbmpany’s business and geographical segments. The
Company operates in the same business and geogsbphgments as the Group. Refer to note 27 of the
consolidated financial statements for details cfibeiss and geographical segments.

Business segments
In 2015 and 2014, the Company had one reportalsimdéss segment, Institutional Securities.

Geographical segments

The Company operates in three geographical redieimgy, EMEA, the Americas and Asia. The following
table presents total assets of the Company’s dpesaby geographic area.

EMEA Americas Asia Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Total assets 283,241 307,323 58,324 89,075 51,156 53,752 392,721 450,150
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management procedures

The Company’s risk management procedures are tensiwith those of the Group. This disclosure is
limited to quantitative data for each risk categamyd should be read in conjunction with the risk
management procedures detailed in note 28 of theatidated financial statements.

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk (“gross credjtosure”) of the Company as at 31 December 2015 is
disclosed below, based on the carrying amountlefihancial assets the Company believes are duiojec
credit risk.

Exposure to credit risk by class

2015 2014
Gross Net Gross Net
credit Credit credit credit Credit credit
exposure®  enhancements exposure®  exposure®  enhancements exposure®
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
Loans and receivables:
Cash and short-term deposits 11,726 - 11,726 11,40 - 11,401
Cash collateral on securities
borrowed 22,369 (21,052) 1,317 20,610 (19,668) 942
Securities purchased under
agreements to resell 58,644 (57,951) 693 58,724 (57,640) 1,084
Trade receivable? 50,915 - 50,915 54,884 - 54,884
Other receivables 1,188 - 1,188 2,805 - 2,805
Financial assets classified as held
for trading:
Derivatives 185,885 (177,314) 8,571 234,572 (224,355) 10,217
Financial assets designated at fair
value through profit or loss 1,636 (958) 678 3,360 (1,760) 1,600
332,363 (257,275) 75,088 386,356 (303,423) 82,933
Unrecognised financial
instruments
Guarantees 982 - 982 962 - 962
Letters of credit 1 - 1 1 - 1
Loan commitments 1,983 - 1,983 1,815 - 1,815
Underwriting commitments - - - 290 - 290
Unsettled securities purchased
under agreements to res@ll 18,391 - 18,391 24,797 - 24,797
353,720 (257,275) 96,445 414,221 (303,423) 110,798

(1) The carrying amount recognised in the statérakfinancial position best represents the Com{samaximum exposure taedit
risk.

(2) Of the residuahet credit exposure, intercompany cross produdtngetirrangements are in place which would allow dn
additional $2,645 million (2014: $2,756 million) be offset in the ordinary course of business arid/the event of default.

(3) Tradereceivables primarily include cash collateral plediggainst the payable on OTC derivative positiofi$iese derivativ
liabilities are included within financial liabilgs classified as held for trading in the stateméfihancial position.

(4) For contingent settlement provisions, colldté@mathe form of securities will be received at theint of settlement. Siecthe
value of collateral is determined at a future digie currently unquantifiable and not includediire table.
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk by credit ratihg

Credit rating 2015 2014
$millions $millions
AAA 12,004 14,958
AA 62,579 72,499
A 202,679 246,256
BBB 52,652 54,168
BB 13,912 15,756
B 5,214 3,846
CCC 2,447 2,668
D 12 -
Unrated 2,221 4,070
Total 353,720 414,221

(1) Internal credit rating derived using methodasgyenerally consistent with those used by extemencies

Financial assets past due but not impaired

At 31 December 2015, $1,180 million of financiabais included in trade receivables in the staterent
financial position were past due but not impair@tl December 2014: $1,005 million).

Financial assets individually impaired

2015 2014
$millions $millions

Loans and receivables:

Trade receivables 28 22
Other receivables - 16
28 38
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22.
Liquidity and funding risk

Maturity analysis

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Equalto  Equal to
ormore ormore Equal to
than 1 than 3 or more
month months than1l Equalto
but less butless yearbut or more
On Less than than 3 than1l lessthan than 5
demand 1 month months year 5 years years Total
31 December 2015 $millions $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Cash collateral on securities
loaned 12,650 216 706 1,382 1,393 - 16,347
Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 20,642 5,739 2,614 5,581 3,474 - 8,058
Trade payables 81,523 - 1 31 - 81,563
Subordinated loans - - 178 1,016 9,357 10,551
Other payables 4,888 14 29 244 4,976 2,760 12,911
Financial liabilities classified as held
for trading:
Derivatives 179,936 - - - - - 179,936
Other 35,390 - - - - - 35,390
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 2,571 148 86 571 156 928 4,865
Total financial liabilities 337,600 6,117 3,436 7,964 11,451 13,045 379,613
Unrecognised financial
instruments
Guarantees 982 - - - - - 982
Letters of credit - - - - - 1 1
Loan commitments 1,983 - - - - - 1,983
Lease commitments - - 1 3 13 4 21
Unsettled securities purchased under
agreements to reséil 18,228 163 } } R R 18,391
Total unrecognised financial
instruments 21,193 163 1 3 13 5 21,378

(1)The Company enters into forward starting reveegrirchase agreements (agreements which havel@dede at or prior to 31
December 2015 and settle subsequent to period &hdge agreements primarily settle within threerass days and of the total

amount at 31 December 2015, $18,228 million settlighin three business days.
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22.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity and funding risk (continued)
Maturity analysis (continued)

Equalto  Equal to
ormore  ormore Equalto

than 1 than 3 or more
month months thanl Equal to
but less butless year but or more
On Lessthan than 3 than1l less than than 5
demand 1 month months year 5 years years Total
31 December 2014 $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Bank loans and overdrafts 15 - - - - - 15
Cash collateral on securities
loaned 18,792 826 525 461 - - 20,604
Securities sold under agreements
to repurchase 21,210 10,692 4,551 6,430 3,092 - 5,978
Trade payables 83,553 - - - - - 83,553
Subordinated loans - - - 145 1,088 11,018 12,251
Other payables 4,026 6 13 6,635 306 3,722 14,708
Financial liabilities classified as held
for trading:
Derivatives 230,573 - - - - - 230,573
Other 26,073 - - - - - 26,073
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 2,007 461 111 690 ,119 743 5,131
Total financial liabilities 386,249 11,985 5,200 14,361 5,605 15,483 438,883
Unrecognised financial
instruments
Guarantees 962 - - - - - 962
Letters of credit - - - - - 1 1
Loan commitments 1,815 - - - - - 1,815
Underwriting commitments - - 290 - - - 290
Lease commitments - - 4 14 2 20
Unsettled securities purchased under
agreements to reséf| 24,333 464 - - - - 24,797
Total unrecognised financial
instruments 27,110 464 290 4 14 3 27,885

(1) The Company enters into forward starting reyeepurchase agreements (agreements which hasdeadate at or prior t8l
December 2014 and settle subsequent to pemna). These agreements primarily settle withinehresiness days and of the t
amount at 31 December 2014, $24,333 million settl¢in three business days.
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Market risk

Sensitivity analysis
VaR for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31rbleee?2014

95%/ oneday VaR for the year 95%/ oneday VaR for the year
ended 31 December 2015 ended 31 December 2014
2015 2014
Period end Average High Low Periodend Average High Low
Market risk category: $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions  $millions
Interest rate and credit
spread 10 14 20 10 12 12 16 9
Equity price 12 14 38 10 13 12 15 10
Foreign exchange rate 2 6 12 2 4 3 6 2
Commodity price 2 2 3 - 1 1 4 -
Less diversification
benefit'® (8) (14) N/A N/A (12) (11) N/A N/A
Primary Risk Categories VaR 18 22 42 16 18 17 21 14
Credit Portfolio Var® 6 6 8 5 6 6 8 4
Less diversification
benefitV® (4) (5) N/A N/A 3) (4) N/A N/A
Total Management VaR 20 23 43 17 21 19 24 15

(1) Diversification benefit equals the difference betwedaltManagement VaR and the sum of the VaRs fofdherisk categories
This benefit arises because the simulated oneatses$ for each of the four primary market risk gaties occur on different days
similar diversification benefits also are takeroiatcount within each category.

(2) N/A - Not Applicable. The minimum and maximum VaR valf@sthe total VaR and each of the component VaRghirinave
occurred on different days during the year andefioee the diversification benefit is not an appieameasure.

(3) The Credit Portfolio VaR is disclosed as aasate category from the Primary Risk Categoriesiadddes loans that are carried
at fair value and associated hedges as well agemamty credit valuation adjustments and relatedges.

The Company’s average VaR for Primary Risk Categofor 2015 was $22 million compared with $17
million for 2014. The increase in average VaR Roimary Risk Categories is primarily due to incexhs
exposure to interest rate and credit spread alatigeguity price risk.

The average Credit Portfolio VaR for 2015 was $Bioni, unchanged compared with 2014.
The average total VaR for 2015 was $23 million careg with $19 million for 2014.
Non trading risks for the year ended 31 Decembdi520

The Company believes that sensitivity analysisnsappropriate representation of the Company’s non-
trading risks. Reflected below is this analysisjolihcovers substantially all of the non-tradingris the
Company’s portfolio.
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22.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Company’s VaR excludes certain funding lialeitand money market transactions. The application
a parallel shift in market interest rates of 50ibasints increase or decrease to these positiontdwesult
in a net gain or loss of approximately $1.8 milli@ompared to a net gain or loss of $2.7 millioraa81
December 2014.

Counterparty exposure related to own spreads

The credit spread risk relating to the Company’s emark-to-market derivative counterparty exposwae h
been managed within VaR from 2015. The credit sprésk sensitivity of this exposure correspondsitio
increase in value of approximately $2.7 million #ach 1 basis point widening in the Company’s tredi
spread level as at 31 December 2014.

Funding liabilities

The credit spread risk sensitivity of the Companylark-to-market funding liabilities correspondsatio
increase in value of approximately $0.3 million &@l1 million for each 1 basis point widening ire th
Company’s credit spread level for both 31 Decen®fd5 and 31 December 2014.

Equity investments price risk

The Company is exposed to equity price risk assalr®f changes in the fair value of its investnseint
listed equity securities and private equities dfeest as available-for-sale financial assets. These
investments are predominantly equity positions wathg investment horizons, the majority of whiclke ar
for business facilitation purposes. The market ridlted to these investments is measured by dstigna
the potential reduction in net revenues associaidda 10% decline in asset values as shown irtghke
below.

31 December 201531 December 2014
10% sensitivity 10% sensitivity
$millions $millions
Available-for-sale financial assets 4 4

Currency risk

The analysis below details the foreign currencyosype for the Company, by foreign currency, retatim
the retranslation of its non-US dollar denominabednches. The analysis calculates the impact @i tot
comprehensive income of a reasonably possible Iphshlift of the foreign currency in relation toettyS
dollar, with all other variables held constant. Skinalysis does not take into account the effeadhef
foreign currency hedges held by other memberseoftbrgan Stanley Group.
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22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Currency risk (continued)

2015 2014
Foreign Other Foreign Other
currency Percentage comprehensive currency Percentage comprehensive
exposure change appliec income exposure change appliec income
$millions % $millions $millions % $millions
Euro 86 12% 10 103 12% 12
Polish Zloty 2 17% - 3 17% 1
South Korean Won 191 8% 15 205 8% 17
Swiss Franc 11 12% 1 9 12% 1
290 26 320 31

The reasonably possible percentage change in thency rate in relation to US dollars has beenuwated
based on the greatest annual percentage changéheveyear period from 1 January 2011 to 31 Deezmb
2015 (2014: from 1 January 2010 to 31 December R01us, the percentage change applied may not be
the same percentage as the actual change in ttencyrate for the year.

23. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIALS ASSETS, INCLUDING PLEDGES OF COLLATERAL

Transferred financial assets that are not derecogeed in their entirety

The following table presents those financial assdtech have been sold or otherwise transferred, but
which for accounting purposes remain recognisétienstatement of financial position. Positions presd
below are shown prior to the impact of offsettisgets and liabilities of the same type, whilstdtagement

of financial position is presented after the impafodffsetting such positions.

2015 2014
$millions $millions

Financial assets classified as held for trading
Government debt securities 13,088 14,568
Corporate and other debt 1,657 5,625
Corporate equities 32,905 34,369
47,650 54,562

The carrying amount of the associated financiabilitées related to financial assets transferredt th
continue to be recognised is $42,047 million (20845,953 million).

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS ACCEPTED AS COLLATERAL

The fair value of collateral accepted as at 31 Ddmr 2015 was $180,648 million (2014: $188,236
million). Of this amount $146,964 million (2014: 41,277 million) has been sold or repledged to third
parties in connection with financing activities, t@ comply with commitments under short sale
transactions.
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25.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUBJ ECT TO OFFSETTING

In the statement of financial position, financiabats and financial liabilities are only offset amdsented
on a net basis where there is a current legallpreafble right to set off the recognised amounts am
intention to either settle on a net basis or tdigedhe asset and the liability simultaneously.tHe absence
of such conditions, financial assets and finarl@ilities are presented on a gross basis.

The following tables present information about diffsetting of financial instruments and relatedlaigral
amounts. It does not include information abouéficial instruments that are subject only to a tedé&
agreement. The effect of master netting arrang&mecollateral agreements and other credit
enhancements, on the Company’s exposure to cisklisrdisclosed in note 22.

Amounts not offset in the

Amounts offse! Net amounts statement of financial
in the statemen presented in the position® ©
of financial statement o . .
Gross position financial Financial Cash Net
amounts® @6 position  instruments  collateral  exposure®
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
31 December 2015
Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash collateral on securities

borrowed 37,077 (14,708) 22,369 (21,052) - 1,317
Securities purchased under

agreement to resell 78,218 (19,574) 58,644 (57,951) - 693
Financial assets classified as

held for trading:

Derivatives 230,870 (44,985) 185,885 (150,675) (26,639) 8,571
TOTAL 346,165 (79,267) 266,898 (229,678) (26,639) 10,581
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost:

Cash collateral on securities

loaned 31,055 (14,708) 16,347 (16,313) - 34
Securities sold under

agreement to repurchase 57,585 (19,574) 38,011 (35,808) - 2,203
Financial liabilities classified
as held for trading:

Derivatives 221,901 (41,965) 179,936 (146,995) (22,909) 10,032
TOTAL 310,541 (76,247) 234,294 (199,116) (22,909) 12,269

(1) Amounts include $773 million of cash collateva securities borrowed, $450 million of secustjgurchased under agreements
to resell, $2,787 million of financial assets cifisd as held for trading - derivatives, $10 miliof cash collateral on securities
loaned, $2,038 million of securities sold undereagnents to repurchase and $2,922 million of fir@r@bilities classified as
held for trading — derivatives which are either sobject to master netting agreements or collateredements or are subject to
such agreements but the Company has not deteritisedjreements to be legally enforceable.

(2) Amounts are reported on a net basis in themsiants of financial position when there is a Iggatforceable master netting
arrangement that provides for a current right édeifand there is an intention to either settl@aret basis or to realise the asset
and liability simultaneously.

(3) Amounts include $4,351 million of cash collaterelated to financial assets classified as hetdtifading — derivatives and
$1,258 million cash collateral related to finandiabilities classified as held for trading — detiives, recognised in amounts
offset in the statement of financial positionsdssets and liabilities respectively.

(4) Amounts relate to master netting arrangemantscollateral arrangements which have been detedry the Company to be
legally enforceable but do not meet all criteriguieed for net presentation within the statemerfitrafncial position.

(5) The cash collateral is recognised in the statgrof financial position within trade receivablesd payables respectively.

(6) Of the residual net exposure, intercompanyszsduct legally enforceable netting arrangemeangsin place which would
allow for an additional $2,645 million to be offgetthe ordinary course of business and / or inetrent of default.
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25.  FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUBJ ECT TO OFFSETTING

(CONTINUED)

Amounts offset
in the statement

Net amounts
presented in

Amounts not offset in the
statement of financial
position® © ©

of financial the statemen . .
Gross position of financial Financial Cash Net
amounts® @O position instruments  collateral  exposure®”
$millions $millions $millions $millions $millions $millions
31 December 2014
Assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash collateral on securities

borrowed 39,620 (19,010) 20,610 (19,688) - 922
Securities purchased under

agreement to resell 86,595 (27,871) 58,724 (57,640) - 1,084
Financial assets classified as

held for trading:

Derivatives 295,841 (61,269) 234,572 (193,681) (30,674) 10,217
TOTAL 422,056 (108,150) 313,906 (271,009) (30,674) 12,223
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost:

Cash collateral on securities

loaned 39,614 (19,010) 20,604 (20,520) - 84
Securities sold under

agreement to repurchase 73,782 (27,871) 45911 (42,344) - 3,567
Financial liabilities
classified

as held for trading:

Derivatives 283,716 (53,143) 230,573 (194,322) (23,879) 12,372
TOTAL 397,112 (100,024) 297,088 (257,186) (23,879) 16,023
(1) Amounts include $697 million of cash collate@n securities borrowed, $1,080 million of sedest purchased under

@)

©)

4)
®)
(6)

@)

agreements to resell, $4,589 million of financiséets classified as held for trading - derivati$89 million of cash collateral
on securities loaned, $3,359 million of securise&d under agreements to repurchase and $3,942mif financial liabilities
classified as held for trading — derivatives whigk either not subject to master netting agreenmntsllateral agreements or
are subject to such agreements but the Companydbaetermined the agreements to be legally erdibtee

Amounts are reported on a net basis in thersent of financial position when there is a leg&hforceable master netting
arrangement that provides for a current right éetfand there is an intention to either settla ot basis or to realise the asset
and liability simultaneously.

Amounts include $9,613 million of cash collalerelated to financial assets classified as Hetdirading — derivatives and
$1,433 million of cash collateral related to finediabilities classified as held for trading —rtl&tives recognised in amounts
offset in the statement of financial positionsdssets and liabilities respectively.

Amounts relate to master netting arrangememtiscallateral arrangements which have been detedriry the Company to be
legally enforceable but do not meet all criteriquieed for net presentation within the statemerftrafncial position.

The cash collateral not offset is recognisedhim statement of financial position within tradeeivables and trade payables
respectively.

Certain financial assets and financial lialgt designated at fair value through profit or lbase legally enforceable master
netting arrangements in place; however, these atreligible for netting within the consolidatedtstment of financial position.
$2 million not presented net within the statemédrftr@ncial position have legally enforceable negtarrangements in place and
can be offset in the ordinary course of businesi$ anin the event of default.

Of the residual net exposure, intercompanyssmsduct legally enforceable netting arrangemeangsin place which would
allow for an additional $2,756 million to be offgetthe ordinary course of business and / or inetrent of default.
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a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised a&if value on a recurring basis

The following tables present the carrying valughef Company’s financial assets and financial liaed
recognised at fair value on a recurring basissdiasl according to the fair value hierarchy.

2015 Valuation Valuation
Quoted techniques  techniques
prices in using with
active observable significant
market inputs unobservable
inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3 Total
$millions  $millions $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:

Government debt securities 7,282 4,079 4 11,365

Corporate and other debt - 6,389 576 6,965

Corporate equities 40,445 236 228 40,909

Derivatives:

Interest rate contracts - 79,317 247 79,564
Credit contracts - 9,890 268 10,158
Foreign exchange and gold contracts - 61,332 452 61,784
Equity contracts 566 27,402 1,902 29,870
Commaodity contracts 8 4,495 6 4,509
Total financial assets classified as held for
trading 48,301 193,140 3,683 245,124
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss - 1,255 381 1,636
Available-for-sale financial assets:

Corporate equities 1 - 34 35
Total financial assets measured at fair value 48,302 194,395 4,098 246,795
Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin

Government debt securities 8,450 2,297 - 10,747

Corporate and other debt - 1,276 5 1,281

Corporate equities 23,312 37 15 23,364

Derivatives:

Interest rate contracts - 73,180 929 74,109
Credit contracts - 10,119 279 10,398
Foreign exchange and gold contracts - 60,330 212 60,542
Equity contracts 183 29,055 2,455 31,693
Commaodity contracts 14 3,174 6 3,194
Total financial liabilities classified as held for
trading 31,959 179,468 3,901 215,328
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss - 4,705 160 4,865
Total financial liabilities measured at fair value 31,959 184,173 4,061 220,193

143



MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL plc

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2015

26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aaif value on a recurring basis (continued)

2014 Valuation
Valuation techniques
Quoted techniques with
prices in using significant
active observable unobservable
market inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivatives:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commaodity contracts
Total financial assets classified as held
for trading
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Corporate equities

Total financial assets measured at fair value

Financial liabilities classified as held for tragin
Government debt securities
Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities
Derivatives:
Interest rate contracts
Credit contracts
Foreign exchange and gold contracts
Equity contracts
Commodity contracts
Total financial liabilities classified as held for
trading
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss
Total financial liabilities measured at fair value

$millions  $millions

$millions $millions

7,350 3,492 39 10,881
1 10,751 496 11,248
39,785 679 119 40,583
19 102,586 1,561 104,166

- 17,249 342 17,591

- 68,446 313 68,759

309 34,744 1,943 36,996
53 6,995 12 7,060
47517 244,942 4,825 297,284
- 2,044 1,316 3,360

2 - 36 38
47519 246,986 6,177 300,682
7,094 1,829 - 8,923

- 2,209 6 2215
14,855 77 3 14,935
16 99,197 1,536 100,749

- 17,015 348 17,363

- 67,492 85 67,577

181 36,037 2,976 39,194
55 5575 60 5,690
22,201 229,431 5,014 256,646
- 5,062 69 5131
22201 234,493 5083 261,777
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

a. Financial assets and liabilities recognised aaif value on a recurring basis (continued)

The Company’s valuation approach and fair valueanady categorisation for certain significant ckssf
financial instruments recognised at fair value ar@urring basis are consistent with those disddsethe
Group. Refer to note 32 of the consolidated fi@rstatements for details.

b. Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the faivalue hierarchy for financial assets and
liabilities recognised at fair value on a recurringbasis

There were no material transfers between Leveldllavel 2 of the fair value hierarchy during theaye
(2014: $nil).

c. Changes in Level 3 financial assets and liabilts recognised at fair value on a recurring basis

The following tables present the changes in thevaiue of the Company’s Level 3 financial assetd a
financial liabilities for the years ended 31 DecemB015 and 31 December 2014. Level 3 instrumeafs m
be hedged with instruments classified in Level d bavel 2. As a result, the realised and unrealggds/
(losses) for assets and liabilities within the Lle¥eategory presented in the tables below do eft¢at the
related realised and unrealised gains/ (losseshasiging instruments that have been classified Iy th
Company within the Level 1 and/ or Level 2 categeri

Additionally, both observable and unobservable fapnay be used to determine the fair value of jorst
that the Company has classified within the LevalaBegory. As a result, the unrealised gains/ (E)sse
during the period for assets and liabilities withie Level 3 category presented in the tables belay
include changes in fair value during the period thare attributable to both observable (e.g., ckarig
market interest rates) and unobservable (e.g.,gg%im unobservable long-dated volatilities) inputs

The Morgan Stanley Group operates a number of-gnoap policies to ensure that, where possible,
revenues and related costs are matched. Whereatling positions are included in the below tabke risk
managed using financial instruments held by otherddn Stanley Group undertakings, these policies
potentially result in the recognition of offsettiggins or losses in the Company.
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26.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E (CONTINUED)

c. Changes in Level 3 financial assets andbidities recognised at fair value on a recurring bais

(continued)

2015 Unrealised
gains/ (losses
Total gains/ for Level 3
(losses; assets,
Total gains/ recognised in = Net liabilities
(losses, the statement @ ® $ transfers in Balance at outstanding as
Balance at recognised in of e 2 g and/or (out) 31 at 31
1 January profit for the comprehensive S 8 g £ of Level 3 December December
2015 year income z 8 ﬁ 3 1) 2015 2015 (2)
$millions $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as
held for trading:
Government debt
securities 39 2) - 1 (30) - - (5) 4 -
Corporate and
other debt 496 16 - 376 (303) - 2) @) 576 5
Corporate equities 119 12 - 128 (193) - - 162 228 20
Total financial assets
classified as held for trading 654 27 - 505 (526) - 2) 150 808 25
Financial assets designatet
fair value through profit or
loss 1,316 (14) - 93 (737) - (263) (14) 381 (14)
Available-for-sale financial
assets:
Corporate equities 36 - (2 - - - - - 34 -
Total financial assets
measured at fair value 2,006 13 (2) 598 (1,263) - (265) 136 1,223 11
Financial liabilities classified
as held for trading:
Corporate and other debt 6 2 - 5) 6 - - - 5 -
Corporate equities 3 79 - (144) 102 - - 133 15 79
Net derivative contract® 834 250 - (2,534) - 2,667 (83) 372 1,006 101
Total financial liabilities
classified as held for trading 843 331 - (2,683) 108 2,667 (83) 505 1,026 180
Financial liabilities
designated at fair value
through profit or loss 69 2 - - - 141 (43) (5) 160 2
Total financial liabilities
measured at fair value 912 333 - (2,683) 108 2,808 (126) 500 1,186 182

(1) For financial assets and financial liabilitthat were transferred into and out of Level 3 dyitine year, gains ordéses) are presented as if the asse
liabilities had been transferred into or out of €e8 as at the beginning of the year.

(2) Amounts represent unrealised gains or (lodsedhe year ended 31 December 2015 related tdsaasd liabilities stiloutstanding at 31 December 20
The unrealised gains or (losses) are recognisebeirprofit for the year and statement of comprelvensicome as detailed in the financial instents
accounting policy (note 3c) of the consolidatedficial statements.

(3) Net derivative contracts represent Financiaktssclassified as held for tradinglerivative contracts net of Financial liabilitielssified as held fc

trading — derivative contracts.
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26.

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALU E (CONTINUED)

c. Changes in Level 3 financial assets andbidities recognised at fair value on a recurring bais

(continued)
2014

Financial assets classified as

held for trading:
Government debt
securities

Corporate and other debt
Corporate equities

Total financial assets
classified as held for trading
Financial assets designatet
fair value through profit or
loss

Available-for-sale financial
assets:

Corporate equities

Total financial assets
measured at fair value

Financial liabilities classified
as held for trading:

Corporate and other debt

Corporate equities
Net derivatives contract®
@

Total financial liabilities
classified as held for trading
Financial liabilities
designated at fair value
through profit or loss

Total financial liabilities
measured at fair value

Unrealised
gains/ (losses
Total gains/ for Level 3
(losses! assets
Total gains/ recognised in = Net liabilities
(losses, the statement @ ® $ transfers in Balance at outstanding as
Balance at recognised in of e 2 g and/or (out) 31 at 31
1 January loss for the comprehensive e 8 g £ of Level 3 December December
2014 year income z 8 ﬁ 3 1) 2014 2014 (2)
$millions $millions $millions  $millions $millions $millions $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
8 1 - 37 ()] - - - 39 -
714 27 - 262 (315) - (209) 17 496 1)
68 19 65 (72) - - 39 119 (2)
790 47 364 (394) - (209) 56 654 ?3)
1,598 (12) - 935 - - (1,333) 128 1,316 (11)
54 - (5) - (13) - - - 36 -
2,442 35 (5) 1,299 (407) - (1,542) 184 2,006 (14)
47 (12) - (23) 11 - - (40) 6 2)
7 2 (55) 51 - - 2 3 2
530 (22) - (1,029) - 946 395 (30) 834 (4)
584 (31) - (1,107) 62 946 395 (68) 843 4)
258 - - - 69 (247) (11) 69 1
842 (31) - (1,107) 62 1,015 148 (79) 912 (3)

(1) For financial assets and financial liabilittesit were transferred into and out of Level 3 dyitine year, gains org$ses) are presented as if the asse
liabilities had been transferred into or out of €E8 as at the beginning of the year.

(2) Amounts represent unrealised gains or (lodseshe year ended 31 December 2014 related tdsaasd liabilities stiloutstanding at 31 December 20
The unrealised gains or (losses) are recognisetieirioss fo the year and statement of comprehensive incomaetsled in the financial instrumet
accounting policy (note 3c) of the consolidatedficial statements.

(3) Net derivative contracts represent Financiakts classified as held for trading — detixa contracts net of Financial liabilities clagsif as held fo

trading — derivative contracts.

(4) During the year, the Company incurred a chafggpproximately $273 million related to the implemation of FVA, which was recognised within total

loss for the year.
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis

The disclosures below provide information on thesgi#vity of fair value measurements to key inpatsl
assumptions.

i.  Quantitative information about and qualitatiensitivity of significant unobservable inputs

The table below provides information on the valatiechniques, significant unobservable inputs and
their ranges and averages for each major catedaysets and liabilities measured at fair valueon
recurring basis with a significant Level 3 balance.

The level of aggregation and breadth of productssedhe range of inputs to be wide and not evenly
distributed across the inventory. Further, thegeaof unobservable inputs may differ across firms i
the financial services industry because of divergitthe types of products included in each firm’'s
inventory. The following disclosures also inclugiglitative information on the sensitivity of thesirf
value measurements to changes in the significasthservable inputs.

Significant unobservable

31 December 2015 input(s) / sensitivity of the fair

Fair value Valuation value to changes in the
$millions technique unobservable inputs Rangé” Averages®
ASSETS
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
- Corporate equities 228 Comparable pricingComparable equity price / (A) 100% 100%
Market Approach ~ EBITDA Multiple / (A) 9 times 9 times
- Corporate and other debt:
- Residential mortgage backed 76 Comparable pricingComparable bond price / (A) 4 to 85 points 32 points
securities
- Commercial Mortgage 58 Comparable pricingComparable bond price / (A) 3 to 90 points 9 points
backed securities
- Asset backed securities 96 Comparable gicibomparable bond price / (A) 9 to 100 points 65 points
- Corporate bonds 176 Comparable prici@pmparable bond price / (A) 3 to 100 points 83 points
Option Model At the money volatility / (C) /{D 6% to 38% 25%
Volatility skew / (C)/(D) 1% to 0% 0%
- Collateralised debt 154 Comparable pricingComparable loan price / (A) 67 to 102 points 87 points
obligations
Financial assets designated at fair value throughrpfit or loss:
- Prepaid OTC Contracts 93 Option Model At theney volatility / (C)/(D) 21% to 36% 29%
Volatility skew / (C) /(D) 0% 0%
- Customer Loans 288Margin Loan Mode Credit spread / (C) 499 bps 499 bps
Volatility skew / (C) 13% to 29% 20%
Option Model Volatility skew / (C) -1% -1%
Available-for-sale financial assets:
- Corporate equities 34 Comparable pricingomparable equity price / (A) 100% 100%
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg:
- Net derivatives contracts:(1)(4)
- Credit (11) Correlation Model  Credit Correlation / (B) 39% to 87% 57%
Comparable pricing Comparable bond price /(C) 310100 points 37 points
- Equity (553) Option Model At the money volatility / (A)/(D) 18% to 65% 36%

Volatility skew / (A)/(D)
Equity correlation / (A)/(D)

Equity Foreign exchange
correlation / (C)/(D)

3% to 0%
40% to 99%
-60% to 10%

0%
69%
-39%
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

i. Quantitative information about and qualitatiwnsitivity of significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

31 December 2015 Significant unobservable inputs
/ sensitivity of the fair value to
Fair value changes in the unobservable

$millions Valuation technique inputs Range® Averages®

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg (continued):

- Net derivatives contracts (continued):(1)(4)

- Interest rate (682)Option Model Inflation Volatility / (C)/(D) 58% 58%, 58%
Interest Rate Curve / (A)/(D) 0% 0%, 0%
Interest rate - Foreign exchange 25% to 62% 43%, 43%
correlation / (A)/(D)
Interest rate - Inflation -41% to 39% -41%, -41%
correlation / (A)/(D)
Interest Rate Curve Correlation / 24% to 95% 60%, 69%
(©)(D)
Interest rate quanto correlation / -8% to 36% 5%, -6%
(A)/(D)
Interest rate volatility skew / 29% to 82% 43%, 40%
(N)/(D)
- Foreign exchange 240 Option Model Interest Rate Curve / (A)/(D) 0% 0%, 0%
Interest rate - Foreign exchange 25% to 62% 43%, 43%
correlation / (A)/(D)
Interest rate volatility skew / 29% to 82% 43%, 40%
(M)I(D)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value thraugh profit or loss
- Issued structured notes (14™ption Model At the money volatility / (C)/(D) 269% to 38% 31%
Volatility skew / (C)/(D) 1% to 0% 0%
Equity correlation / (C)/(D) 42% to 97% 67%
Equity FX correlation / (A)/(D) -54% t&% -44%

(1) Net derivative contracts represent financial asslassified as held for trading — derivative coatsanet of financial liabilities classified as hétd trading — derivative
contracts. In addition, there are other derivativetracts with a fair value of $nil (2014: $7 i) not included within one of the major derivativategories.

(2) The ranges of significant unobservable inputs epeasented in points, percentages or basis pdiusits are a percentage of par; for example, b@ipwould be 100%
of par. A basis point (bps) equals 1/1ff 1%; for example, 353 basis points would equaB%.

(3) Amounts represent weighted averages except wheygesaverages and the median of the inputs arédedysee footnote 5 below). Weighted averagesaloeilated by
weighting each input by the fair value of the resje financial instruments except for derivatimstruments where inputs are weighted by risk.

(4) CVAand FVA are included in the fair value, but kexted from the valuation techniques and signifiaambservable inputs in the table above. CVA iswibto be a Level
3 input when the underlying counterparty creditveuis unobservable. FVA is deemed to be a Levep8tiin its entirety given the lack of observayilitf funding spreads
in the principal market.

(5) The data structure of the significant unobservaipets used in valuing Interest rate contractsaenthin Equity contracts may be in a multi-dimensidform, such as a
curve or surface, with risk distributed acrossgtracture. Therefore, a simple average and metbigether with the range of data inputs, may beenappropriate
measurements than a single point weighted average.

(6) Includes derivative contracts with multiple riske( hybrid products).

Sensitivity of the fair value to changes in the urizservable inputs:

(A) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseevailplut in isolation would result in a significantigher/ (lower) fair value measurement.

(B) Significant changes in credit correlation may resub significantly higher or lower fair value nemement. Increasing/ (decreasing)
correlation drives a redistribution of risk withime capital structure such that junior trancheobezless/ (more) risky and senior tranches
become more/ (less) risky.

(C) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseeviaiplut in isolation would result in a significantbwer/ (higher) fair value measurement.

(D) There are no predictable relationships betweesigmficant unobservable inputs.
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (  CONTINUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

i. Quantitative information about and qualitativensitivity of significant unobservable inputs

(continued)
31 December 2014 Significant unobservable inputs
/ sensitivity of the fair value to
Fair value Valuation changes in the unobservable
$millions technique inputs Range® Averages®®
ASSETS

Financial assets classified as held for trading:

- Corporate equities 119 Comparable pricing Canabple equity price / (A) 100% 100%
Market Approach ~ EBITDA Multiple / (A) 7 to 9 times 8 times
- Government debt securities 39 Comparable mgrici@omparable bond price / (A) 119% to 122% 120%, 121%

- Corporate and other debt:

- Residential mortgage 100 Comparable pricing Comparable bond price / (A) 3 to 96 points 22 points
backed securities
- Commercial mortgage 44 Comparable pricing Comparable bond price / (A) 3 to 5 points 4 points
back securities
- Asset backed securities T®mparable pricing Comparable bond price / (A) Q6 points 100 points
- Corporate bonds 140 Comparable pricing Coniparaond price / (A) 1 to 117 points 64 points
Option Model At the money volatility / (A) 15% 1% 26%
Option Model Volatility skew / (A) -3% to 0% -1%
- Collateralised debt 109 Comparable pricing Comparable loan price /(A) 71 to 100 points 91 points
obligations
Financial assets designated at fair value throughrpfit or loss:
- Customer loans 1,296 Margin Loan Modétedit spread / (C)(D) 353 to 451 bps 402bps
Margin Loan Model Volatility skew / (C)(D) 3% to 37% 25%
Margin Loan Model Comparable price / (A)(D) 80% to 120% 100%
Option Model Volatility skew / (C) -1% -1%
Available-for-sale financial
assets:
- Corporate equities 36 Comparable pricing Cawipla equity price / (A) 100% 100%
LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg:

- Net derivatives contracts:(1)(4)

- Credit (6) Correlation Model  Credit correlation / (B) 46% 1898 61%
Comparable pricin Comparable bond price / (C)( 2 to 99 point 40 point:
- Equity (1,033)Option Model At the money volatility / (C)(D) 15% 60% 29%
Volatility skew / (C)(D) -4% to 1% -1%
Equity correlation / (C)(D) 30% to 99% 70%
Equity Foreign exchange -40% to 10% -16%

correlation / (C)(D)
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

d.

Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)
Quantitative information about and qualitativensitivity of significant unobservable inputs
(continued)

31 December 2014

Significant unobservable inputs /
Fair value Valuation sensitivity of the fair value to change
$millions technique in the unobservable inputs Range? Averages®

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities classified as held for tradirg (continued):

- Net derivatives contracts (continued):(1)(4)

- Interest rate 25 Option Model Inflation valigg / (A)(D) 69% to 71% 70%, 71%
Interest rate curve / (A)(D) 0% to 2% 1%, 1%
Interest rate - foreign exchange 28% to 62% 44%, 42%
correlation / (C)(D)
Interest rate - inflation correlation / -44% to -40% -42%, -43%
(©)D)
Interest rate curve correlation / (C)(D) 44% t&87 73%, 80%
Interest rate quanto correlation / (C)(D) -9% to 35% 6%, -6%
Interest rate volatility skew / (A)(D) 38% to4% 86%, 60%
- Foreign exchange 228 Option Model Interets cairve / (A)(D) 0% to 2% 1%, 1%
Interest rate - foreign exchange 28% to 62% 44%, 42%
correlation / (C)(D)
Interest rate curve correlation / (C)(D) 44% 687 73%, 80%
Interest rate quanto correlation / (C)(D) -9% to 35% 6%, -6%
Interest rate volatility skew / (A)(D) 38% to4% 86%, 60%
- Commodity (48) Option Model Cross commodity edation / ( C) 33% to 100% 93%

Financial liabilities designated at fair value thraugh profit or loss

- Prepaid OTC contracts (59)ption Model At the money volatility / (C) (D) 6% 83% 19%
Cash synthetic basis / (C) (D) 15 points 15 points
(1) Net derivative contracts represent financial asslesssified as held for trading — derivative cocisanet of financial liabilities classified as hédat

@
®

4)

(®)

(6)

trading — derivative contracts. In addition, thare other derivative contracts with a fair values@fmillion not included within one of the major
derivative categories.

The ranges of significant unobservable inputs apeesented in points, percentages or basis pofsnts are a percentage of par; for example,
100 points would be 100% of par. A basis point Jgzaials 1/10D of 1%; for example, 353 basis points would equaB3b.

Amounts represent weighted averages except whemnglesiaverages and the median of the inputs areded\(see footnote 5 below). Weighted
averages are calculated by weighting each inpuhbyfair value of the respective financial instrumiseexcept for derivative instruments where
inputs are weighted by risk.

CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kxted from the valuation techniques and significambbservable inputs in the table above.
CVA is deemed to be a Level 3 input when the uryilegl counterparty credit curve is unobservable. FgAleemed to be a Level 3 input in its
entirety given the lack of observability of fundiegreads in the principal market.

The data structure of the significant unobservampeits used in valuing Interest rate contracts eertiain Equity contracts may be in a multi-
dimensional form, such as a curve or surface, visthdistributed across the structure. Therefarsimple average and median, together with the
range of data inputs, may be more appropriate meamnts than a single point weighted average.

Includes derivative contracts with mukéiplsks (i.e. hybrid products)

Sensitivity of the fair value to changes in the urteservable inputs:

(A) Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseevaplut in isolation would result in a significantiigher/ (lower) fair value measurement.

(B) Significant changes in credit correlation may resub significantly higher or lower fair value nsaement. Increasing/ (decreasing)
correlation drives a redistribution of risk withime capital structure such that junior trancheobegless/ (more) risky and senior tranches
become more/ (less) risky.

(C

(D

-~

Significant increase/ (decrease) in the unobseeviapiut in isolation would result in a significantbwer/ (higher) fair value measurement.

N

There are no predictable relationships betweesitmgficant unobservable inputs.
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

A description of significant unobservable inputsliuded in the table above for all major categooés
assets and liabilities is included within note 32he consolidated financial statements.

ii. Sensitivity of fair values to changing signiict assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives

All financial instruments are valued in accordamngéh the techniques outlined in the fair value
hierarchy. Some of these techniques, includingehes®d to value instruments categorised in Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy, are dependent orbaaovable parameters and the fair value for these
financial instruments has been determined usingarpeters appropriate for the valuation
methodology based on prevailing market evidencd. islrecognised that the unobservable
parameters could have a range of reasonably pessiernative values.

In estimating the change in fair value, to provid@®rmation about the variability of the fair value
measurement, the unobservable parameters werel ‘aribe extremes of the ranges of reasonably
possible alternatives using statistical techniquassh as dispersion in comparable observable
external inputs for similar asset classes, histddata or judgement if a statistical technique it no
appropriate. Where a financial instrument has ntiea@ one unobservable parameter, the sensitivity
analysis reflects the greatest reasonably possiblease or decrease to fair value by varying the
assumptions individually. It is unlikely that athobservable parameters would be concurrently at the
extreme range of possible alternative assumptiondgtzerefore the sensitivity shown below is likely
to be greater than the actual uncertainty relatnte financial instruments.

The following tables present the sensitivity of fhe value of Level 3 financial assets and finaihci
liabilities to reasonably possible alternative asgtions, providing quantitative information on the
potential variability of the fair value measurement
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

ii.  Sensitivity of fair values to changing signict assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives
(continued)

Effect of reasonably possible
alternative assumptions

2015 Increase in fair Decrease in fail
Fair value value value
$millions $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities 4 - -
Corporate and other debt 576 19 (35)
Corporate equities 228 2 (42)

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss:
Prepaid OTC contracts 93 3 3)
Customer loans 288 1 -
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Corporate equities 34 8 (2)

Financial liabilities classified as held for

trading:
Corporate and other debt 5 - -
Corporate equities 15 - -
Net derivatives contract8® 1,006 37 (52)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

through profit or loss:

Prepaid OTC contracts 13 - -
Issued structured notes 147 2 (2)

@ Net derivative contracts represent financial asskssified as held for trading derivative contracts net of financial liabiliti
classified as held for trading — derivative contisac

@ CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kexted from the effect of reasonably possible alitve assumptions in ¢h

table above. CVA is deemed to be a Level 3 inputrwiine underlying counterparty credit curve is weobable. FVA is deemdd
be a Level 3 input in its entirety given the ladlobservability of funding spreads in the principaarket.
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

d. Valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liahities recognised at fair value on a recurring basis
(continued)

ii.  Sensitivity of fair values to changing signict assumptions to reasonably possible alternatives
(continued)

Effect of reasonably possible
alternative assumptions

2014 Increase in fair Decrease in fail
Fair value value value
$millions $millions $millions
Financial assets classified as held for trading:
Government debt securities 39 - -
Corporate and other debt 496 19 (16)
Corporate equities 119 2 (9)

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss:
Prepaid OTC contracts 20 - -
Customer loans 1,296 2 3)

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Corporate equities 36 8 (2)

Financial liabilities classified as held for

trading:
Corporate and other debt 6 - -
Corporate equities 3 - -
Net derivatives contracts® 834 152 (163)

Financial liabilities designated at fair value

through profit or loss:

Prepaid OTC contracts 52 2 (1)
Other 17 - -

@ Net derivative contracts represent financial asskissified as held for tradingderivative contracts net of financial liabiliti
classified as held for trading — derivative contsac

@ CVA and FVA are included in the fair value, but kexted fromthe effect of reasonably possible alternative agsioms in the
table above. CVA is deemed to be a Level 3 inpigmthe underlying counterparty credit curve is weobable. FVA is deemed
to be a Level 3 input in its entirety given theldad observability of funding spreads in the priyadimarket.
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONT INUED)

e. Financial instruments valued using unobservablmarket data

The amounts not recognised in the income statemststing to the difference between the fair valtie a
initial recognition (the transaction price) and maounts determined at initial recognition usintuation
techniques are as follows:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

At 1 January 234 351
New transactions 43 26
Amounts recognised in the income statement dutieg/ear (61) (143)
At 31 December 216 234

The statement of financial position categories &ficial assets and financial liabilities classiféeesdheld for
trading’, ‘Financial assets and financial liabd#i designated at fair value through profit or loasd
‘Available-for-sale financial assets’ include fir@al instruments whose fair value is based onatan
techniques using unobservable market data. Thendmlabove predominately relates to derivative
contracts.

f. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oa non-recurring basis

Non-recurring fair value measurements of assetdiabilities are those which are required or petaqitin
the statement of financial position in particulacemstances. There were no assets or liabilitieasared
at fair value on a non-recurring basis during tharyor prior year.

27. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VAL UE

The tables below present the carrying value, falu@ and fair value hierarchy category of certaaricial
assets and financial liabilities that are not meagat fair value in the statement of financialipos.

Financial assets and financial liabilities not mead at fair value for which the carrying value is
considered a reasonable approximation of fair vaheeexcluded from the tables below.

Fair value measurements using:

Valuation
Valuation techniques
Quoted techniques with
prices in using significant
active observable unobservable
Carrying market inputs inputs
value Fair value (Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3)
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions $millions
2015
Financial liabilities
Other payables 6,814 6,566 - 6,566 -
2014
Financial liabilities
Subordinated loans 7,906 8,064 - 8,064 -
Other payables 3,166 2,845 - 2,845 -

Also included in the statement of financial positis $5,210 million of other payables where theyiag

value is a reasonable approximation of fair val@él@: $10,837 million). Refer to note 33 of the

consolidated financial statements for further infation related to the fair value of other payatdes

subordinated loans.
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28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company views capital as an important sourdaahcial strength. Capital management procedures
of the Company are consistent with those of theu@as detailed in note 34 of the consolidated firan
statements.

The capital managed by the Company broadly inclstiese capital, Additional Tier 1 capital instrurtgn
subordinated loans and reserves, as outlined below:

2015 2014

$millions $millions

Ordinary share capital 11,465 11,464
Additional Tier 1 capital 1,300 1,300
Subordinated debt 7,906 7,906
Reserves 3,719 3,353
24,390 24,023

29. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION PLANS

Morgan Stanley maintains various deferred comp@nsatans for the benefit of its employees. The two
principal forms of deferred compensation are grinteder equity-settled share-based compensation and
deferred cash based compensation plans.

Equity-settled share-based compensation plans

* Restricted stock units

Morgan Stanley has granted restricted stock undérdsv pursuant to several equity-based compensation
plans. The plans provide for the deferral of aiparbf certain employees’ incentive compensatiothwi
awards made in the form of restricted common stockn the right to receive unrestricted shares of
common stock in the future. Awards under thesesptae generally subject to vesting over time caeim
upon continued employment and to restrictions de, seansfer or assignment until the end of a $jmeti
period, generally one to three years from the dagrant. All or a portion of an award may be calerd if
employment is terminated before the end of theveaglerestriction period. All or a portion of a ted
award also may be cancelled in certain limitedagitins, including termination for cause during the
relevant restriction period. Recipients of stoelsédd awards may have voting rights, at the Morgan
Stanley Group’s discretion, and generally receiveddnd equivalents.

During the year, Morgan Stanley granted 224,563suf#014: 297,951 units) of restricted stock utits
employees of the Company with a weighted averaigevddue per unit of $34.60 (2014: $32.57), basad o
the market value of Morgan Stanley shares at gtate.

An expense of $8 million (2014: $9 million) was imeed through the Company'’s total profit for thewyen
relation to restricted stock units equity based pensation plans, granted to employees of the Compan

e Stock options

Morgan Stanley has also granted stock option awaudsuant to several equity-based compensatiorsplan
The plans provide for the deferral of a portionceftain key employees’ incentive compensation with
awards made in the form of stock options geneifadlying an exercise price not less than the fainevalf
Morgan Stanley’'s common stock on the date of graBuch stock option awards generally become
exercisable over a three year period and expire fiv ten years from the date of grant, subject to
accelerated expiration upon termination of emplaym8&tock option awards have vesting, restrictiod a
cancellation provisions that are generally simitathose in restricted stock units.

There we no stock options granted during the y2@t4: none) and no amount (2014: $nil) was incuimed
the Company’s profit for the year in relation tockt option equity based compensation plans, gratated
employees of the Company. There were no optionsesesl during the year (2014: none).
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29. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION PLANS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based compensation plans (cantied)
e Stock options (continued)

The following table shows activity relating to thtwrgan Stanley stock option awards for employeehef
Company:

2015 2014

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number of exercise Number of exercise

options price options price

‘000 $ ‘000 $

Options outstanding at 1 January 22 63.93 42 55.88

Expired during the year (3) 43.15 (20) 47.19
Options outstanding and exercisable at

31 December 19 66.73 22 63.93

The following table presents information relatinghe stock options outstanding:

2015 2014
Weighted Weighted
average  Weighted average  Weighted
Number of exercise average Number of exercise average
Range of options price  remaining options price  remaining
exercise prices '000s $ life in years '000s $ life in years
$40.00 - $49.99 - - - 3 43.15 -
$60.00 - $69.99 19 66.73 1.0 19 66.73 2.0
Total 19 66.73 1.0 22 63.93 1.7

Deferred cash-based compensation plans

The Company has granted non-equity based defeamgpensation awards to certain of its key employees.
The plans provide for the deferral of a portiontted employees’ discretionary compensation with adear
that provide a return based upon the performancsabus referenced investments. Awards underethes
plans are generally subject to a sole vesting ¢immdof service over time, which normally rangesnfr six
months to three years from the date of grant. oAk portion of an award may be cancelled if emplemt

is terminated before the end of the relevant vggtieriod. The awards are settled in cash at tHeoéthe
relevant vesting period.

Awards with a value of $4 million (2014: $10 milliphave been granted to employees during the yehr a
an expense of $2 million (2014: $14 million) hagbeecognised in total profit for the year in reatto
current and previous years’ awards. The liabilityetmployees at the end of the year, reported within
‘Accruals and deferred income’ in the statemerfir@ncial position, is $13 million (2014: $12 mdh).

The Company economically hedges the exposure crdatethese deferred compensation schemes by
entering into derivative transactions with otherrlyen Stanley Group undertakings. The derivativarzs

at the end of the year recognised within ‘Finaneidets classified as held for trading’ in relatiorthese
deferred compensation schemes is $nil (2014: &ni) recognised within ‘Financial liabilities clafgsil as
held for trading’ is $2 million (2014: $2 million)The related profit recorded within total profirrthe year

is $nil (2014: $nil).
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30. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Defined contribution plans

The Company operates three Morgan Stanley definattibution plans, which require contributions ® b
made to funds held separately from the assetseaCtimpany, under the control of a trustee.

The defined contribution plans are as follows:

« Morgan Stanley Flexible Company Pension Plan (Ardst@);
» MSII Offshore Retirement Benefit Plan 1V, Dubai 8en; and
* Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Seoul BrafEfined Contribution Plan.

The Company pays fixed contributions to the fundgh no legal or constructive obligation to payther
contributions.

The defined contribution pension charge recognisetbtal profit was $2 million for the year (20143
million) of which $nil was accrued at 31 Decemb@i.2 (2014: $nil).

Defined benefit plans

The Company also operates defined benefit planghwirovide pension benefits that are based ontieng
of service and salary. The Company’s policy isuodf at least the amounts sufficient to meet minimum
funding requirements under applicable employee fiteared tax regulations.

The defined benefit plans are as follows:

« Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Paris Bratie@ (Indemnites de Fin de Carriere);

¢ Morgan Stanley & Co International plc Zurich Brar8ase and Top-up Plan (formerly
Personalvorsorgestiftung der Bank Morgan StanleyP&h). During the year the obligations and
assets of the Personalvorsorgestiftung der BanlgbfoGStanley AG Plan were fully transferred to
two new plans which provide substantially the sd@eefits as the former plan; and

« Morgan Stanley Dubai End of Service Gratuity.

A net liability of $3 million (2014: $2 million) isecognised in the statement of financial positiorespect
of these plans.

31. PARENT UNDERTAKINGS

Refer to note 37 of the consolidated financialestants for information on the Company’s immediatd a
ultimate parent undertaking.

The parent undertaking of the smallest group ofmamres for which group financial statements arevdra
up and of which the Company is a member is Morgaml8y & Co. International plc, which is registered
in England and Wales. Copies of its financial steats can be obtained from the Registrar of Conggani
for England and Wales, Companies House, Crown \@aydiff CF14 3UZ.
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List of subsidiaries, including indirect subsides; as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014:

Proportion of shares

held by the Group®®

Name of Company Address of undertaking’s registeredffice ® 2015

Morgan Stanley (France) SAS 61 Rue De Monceau, &5Pris, France 100%

14th & 22nd Floors, Taipei Metro, 207 Tun Hwa SoRtted, Sec. 2

. . 1000
Morgan Stanley Taiwan Limited Taipei, 106, Taiwan 100%
Morgan Stanley Strategic o
Investments Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Turnberry Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Mallard o
Investments Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Montgomerie o
Investments Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Northcote o
Investments Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Silvermere Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Equity Trading Level 7, The Gate, Dubai International Financiah@e, Sheik Zayedlooo/
(DIFC) Limited Road, PO Box 506501, Dubai, United Arab Emirates °
Shavano Cooperatieve U.&. 100%
Morgan Stanley Humboldt
Investments Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Equity Finance Bech-Bruun Dragsted, Langelinie Alle 35, 2100 , Eobavn,
100%
(Denmark) ApS Denmark
Morgan Stanle;y Rlvellno 100%
Investments Limited
- Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, ddlalouse, o
Morgan Stanley Dolor Limited Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands 100%
o Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, ddlalouse, o
Morgan Stanley Tostao Limited Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands 100%
Morgan Stanley Equity Financing o
Senvices (Sweden) AB Hovslagargatan 5 A, 111 48 , Stockholm, Sweden 100%
Morgan Stanley Havel GmbH Junghofstrasse 13-15]1 80Brankfurt am Main, Germany 100%
l\/_Ior_gan Stanley Cooper Investme 100%
Limited
Morgan Stanley Montrose 100%
Investments Limited
Morgan Stanley Langtree o
Investments B.V. 100%
Morgan Stanley Equity Investmentslaples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, ddlelouse, 100%
(UK) Limited Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands
Clearcreek, S.L.U. Calle Aribau 171, 8036, Barcald®pain 100%
Cabot 38 Limited 100%
m%ri?:g Stanley Maple Investmentéaker Tilly, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD 100%
Morgan Stanley Millbrae o
Investments BV 100%
Morgan Stanley Derivative Productsina Arena, Herikerbergweg 238, 1101 CM, Amsterdam 100%
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands
Morgan Stanley Longcross Limited 100%
Morgan Stanley Derivative Producs, .. 55 28006, Madrid, Spain 100%

Spain S.L.

2014

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Nature of
Business

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services
Holding
company
Holding
company
Holding
company
Holding
company
Holding
company
Holding
company
Financial
Services
Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Holding
company

Holding
company

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Holding

company
Holding

company
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Financial
Services
Holding

company
Financial
Services
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Name of Company Address of undertaking’s registeredffice ®

Morgan Stanley Equity InvestmentSustom House, Plaza Block 6, , International Firgr®ervices
(Luxembourg) Centre, Dublin, DUBLIN 1, Ireland

Morgan Stanley Langton Limited

Morgan Stanley Bowline Limited  Baker Tilly, 25 Faxgdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD

Morgan Stanley Equity Finance SmartCity Malta, SCM 01 TMF Group (Malta) 401, Rioé, Kalkara

(Malta) Limited SCM 1001, Malta

Morgan Stanley Equity Derivative

Services (Luxembourg) S.a r.| 20, rue de la Poste, L-2346, Luxembourg

Morgan Stanley Equity Financing
Limited

Drake Il Investments Limited Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, ddlalouse,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

Morgan Stanley Grund S.a.r.L 46A, Avenue J.F. Kelyné-1855, Luxembourg

A Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, ddlalouse,
Morgan Stanley Kochi Limited Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands
Morgan Stanley Derivative Produc; ’ .

(Portugal), Unipessoal LDA Eua Duque de Palmela, No. 23, 1250-097 , LisbortuBal

Morgan Stanley Corporate Holding3ustom House, Plaza Block 6, International Findriggavices

(Luxembourg) Centre, Dublin, DUBLIN 1, Ireland
Morgan Stanley Heythorp Custom House, Plaza Block 6, International Findrigéavices
Investments Centre, Dublin, DUBLIN 1, Ireland

Morgan Stanley Equity Holding  Luna Arena, Herikerbergweg 238, 1101 CM, Amsterdam,
(Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands

Maples Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309,dddIHouse,

Morgan Stanley Waterloo Limited Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

Morstan Nominees Limited 25 Cabot Square, Canarpifyhondon, E14 4QA

gl\c;bal Equity High Yield Fund Weena 21®12, 3012NJ, Rotterdam, Netherlands

Morgan Stanley Client Securities

Nominees Limited 25 Cabot Square, Canary Wharf, London, E14 4QA

Morgan Stanley Raleigh : .
investments Limited Baker Tilly, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD
E/ilr%ri?:c? Stanley Dorset InvestmenE;aker Tilly, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD

Norwegian Energy Limited

Morgan Stanley Cumbria

Baker Tilly, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD
Investments

Morgan Stanley Durham

Investments Limited Baker Tilly, 25 Farringdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD

Morgan Stanley Penberthy Limited Baker Tilly, 25t#agdon Street, London, EC4A 4AD

Proportion of shares
held by the Group®®

2015

99%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

2014

99%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

100%

100%

99.5%

100%

100%

Nature of
Business

Holding
company

Holding
company
Holding
company

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Holding
company

Financial
Services

Holding
company

Holding
company

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Nominee
company

Financial
Services

Nominee
company

Holding
company

Financial
Services

Financial
Services
Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services
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Name of Company Address of undertaking's registeredffice @

Morgan Stanley Wiltz S.a.r.L 19 Rue De Bitbourgl273, Luxembourg

Wohler Investments LLP Baker Tilly, 25 Farringdotne®t, London, EC4A 4AD

Rolympus (UK) Commodities
Group Limited
Shenton Way, OUE Downtown 2, #32-00

Morgan Stanley Derivative Produc; ingapore, 068809

(Singapore) PTE. Limited
Morgan Stanley Hoxne 57/63 Line Wall Road, Gibraltar

Morgan Stanley Ostburg B.V

Morgan Stanley Weaver S AR.L  46A, Avenue J.F. Kahn L-1855, Luxembourg

Morgan Stanley Elz Gmbh Junghofstrasse 13-15, 60BkEhkfurt am Main, Germany

Morgan Stanley Propus 57/63 Line Wall Road, Gibraltar

Maples Corporate Services Limited

Morgan Stanley Hampstead Limitd@O Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Proportion of shares

held by the Group®®

2015

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

2014

100%

95%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Nature of
Business

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Holding
Company

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

Financial
Services

(1) The proportion of voting rights held by t@&oup is the same as the proportion of sharesthettie

Group unless otherwise stated

(2) All entities have a registered address of 2@kBatreet, Canary Wharf, London, E14 4AD, Un

Kingdom, unless otherwise stated.

(3) All shares held in each Company are ordinagyeshwith the exception of Shavano Cooperative
where€1l C membership shares are held and Morgan Stafildyae Investments B.V. where ordine

and preference shares are held.
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